
   

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 

 
Date: Wednesday, 27 November 2024 
 
Time:  1.30 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, Nottingham, 

NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 
 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Phil Wye     Direct Dial: 0115 8764637 
 

   
1  Membership  

To note that Vicky Murphy has been appointed as the Corporate 
Director for Adult Social Care and Health (incorporating the role of 
Director of Adult Social Services) at Nottingham City Council 
 

 

2  Apologies for Absence  
 

 

3  Declarations of Interests  
 

 

4  Minutes  
Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2024, for confirmation 
 

3 - 10 

5  Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 
2023/2024  
Report of the Safeguarding Adults Board Independent Chair 
 

11 - 102 

6  Occupational Therapy in Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 
Prevention Team  
Report of the Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service 
 

103 - 114 

7  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Strategy and Workplan 2024-
2025  
Report of the Director of Public Health, Nottingham City Council 

115 - 130 

Public Document Pack



 
8  Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment Profile: Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND)  
Joint report of the Director of Education Services and the Deputy 
Director of Public Health, Nottingham City Council 
 

131 - 138 

9  Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Profile  - Adult Mental Health  
Report of the Director for Public Health, Nottingham City Council 
 

139 - 178 

10  Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025  
Report of the Director of Public Health, Nottingham City Council 
 

179 - 186 

11  Joint Health Protection Board Update  
Update from the Joint Health Protection Board 
 

Verbal 
Report 

12  Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership Update  
Update from the Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership 
 

187 - 192 

13  Board Member Updates  
Updates from Board Members 
 

193 - 196 

14  Work Plan  
For noting 
 

197 - 198 

15  Future Meeting Dates  
Wednesday 26 February 2025 
 

 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an Interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting.  
 

Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded, including by members of the 
public. Any recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the 
Council’s policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to notify 
the Governance Officer shown above in advance.



1 

Nottingham City Council  
 
Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at Loxley House, Nottingham on 25 September 
2024 from 1.31 pm - 3.21 pm 
 

 Voting Members 

 Nottingham City Council’s Portfolio Holder with a remit 
covering Health 

Councillor Pavlos Kotsonis 
(Chair) 
Executive Member for 
Adults Social Care & Health 

 Nottingham City Council’s Portfolio Holder with a remit 
covering Children’s Services 

Councillor Cheryl Barnard 
Executive Member for 
Children, Young People & 
Education 

 Two further Nottingham City Councillors Councillor Sam Lux 

 
 

Councillor Saj Ahmad 

 
 

Two representatives of the NHS Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board 

Dr Dave Briggs 
Medical Director 

 
Lucy Dadge 
Director for Integration 

 
 

Two representatives of the Nottingham City Place-
Based Partnership 

Dr Husein Mawji (Vice 
Chair) 
Clinical Director 

 
 

Rich Brady 
Programme Director 

 Corporate Director for Children and Education 
Services, Nottingham City Council 

Ailsa Barr (substitute for Jill 
Colbert) 
Director of Children’s 
Integrated Services 

 Director for Adult Health and Social Care, Nottingham 
City Council 

Roz Howie 

 Director for Public Health, Nottingham City Council Lucy Hubber 
 

 
 

Representative of the Healthwatch Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Board 

Sarah Collis 
Chair 

 Non-Voting Members 

 
 

Representative of the Nottingham University Hospitals 
NHS Trust 

Tim Guyler 
Assistant Chief Executive 

 Representative of the Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Jan Sensier 
Executive Director of 
Partnerships and Strategy 

 Representative of the Nottingham CityCare Partnership Lou Bainbridge 
Chief Executive 

 
 

Representative of Housing Services, Nottingham City 
Council 

Geoff Wharton 
Director of Housing 

 Representative of Nottinghamshire Police Chief Inspector Karl 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

2 

Thomas (substitute for 
Superintendent Chris 
Pearson) 

 Representative of the Department for Work and 
Pensions 

Jean Sharpe 

 Representative of Nottingham Universities Sally Olohan 
Director of Student 
Experience 

 
 

Representative of Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue 
Service 

Amy Goulden (substitute for 
Damien West) 
Head of Community Safety 
and Engagement 



 
 
 

Up to two individuals representing the interests of the 
Third Sector  

Jules Sebelin 
Chief Executive, Nottingham 
Community and Voluntary 
Service 





Charlotte Thrussell, CEO, 
Disability Support 
Nottingham 

 
 

Chief Executive, Nottingham City Council Sajida Rose 

 
 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Karla Banfield - Interim Deputy Director of Commissioning & Partnerships, 

Nottingham City Council 
Amy Callaway - Assistant Director of Quality, Transformation and Head of 

Integrated Mental Health Commissioning, Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System 

Nancy Cordy - Head of Strategy and Service Improvement, Nottingham 
City Council 

David Johns - Consultant in Public Health, Nottingham City Council 
Phil Wye - Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council 
 
16  Membership 

 
Resolved to note that Jill Colbert has been appointed as the Corporate Director 
for Children and Education Services (incorporating the role of Director of 
Children’s Services) at Nottingham City Council, and that Sajeeda Rose has 
been appointed as the Chief Executive of Nottingham City Council. 
 
17  Apologies for Absence 

 
Lou Bainbridge 
Jill Colbert (sent substitute) 
Lucy Dadge 
Roz Howie 
Councillor Sam Lux 
Superintendent Chris Pearson (sent substitute) 

Page 4



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

3 

Jan Sensier 
Jean Sharpe 
Damien West (sent substitute) 
 
18  Declarations of Interests 

 
In the interests of transparency Councillor Saj Ahmad stated that she works for NHS 
England, and Councillor Pavlos Kotsonis declared that he is part of the Nottingham 
Financial Resilience Partnership and chairs the Age Friendly Nottingham Steering 
Group. 
 
19  Minutes 

 
Subject to changing the title of Councillors Barnard and Kotsonis from Portfolio 
Holder to Executive Member, the Board confirmed the minutes of the meeting held on 
29 May 2024 as a correct record and they were signed by the Chair.  
 
20  Age Friendly Nottingham Annual Report - September 2023 - September 

2024 
 

David Johns, Consultant in Public Health, presented the report recapping on the last 
year of participation and achievements and forming part of the local 2024 
International Day of Older People’s Day celebrations, which are held from 1st 
October each year, highlighting the following: 
 
(a) the refreshed Age Friendly Nottingham (AFN) Charter was relaunched on 3rd 

October reinforcing the commitment of older residents having fulfilled lives, feeling 
valued by all sections of society, living as independently as possible and being 
encouraged to contribute to their local communities; 
 

(b) following a citywide survey consultation on what was important to women about 
their health and wellbeing across the life course, two members of AFN 
participated in a discussion about the health, wellbeing and needs of women aged 
sixty-five plus; 
 

(c) AFN and Nottingham City Libraries joined forces to create a programme of events 
for anyone interested in finding out more about dementia, the support available 
locally and current research into dementia on the 14th May 2024; 
 

(d) AFN has recently relaunched Take a Seat, via ward Councillors, recruiting 
premises within their local area to offer a seat to an older or vulnerable person, 
without charge, and it is hoped Nottingham will once again see participation from 
supermarkets to hairdressers and public buildings to cafes. 

 
The following comments were made during the discussion which followed: 
 
(e) involvement and listening to the older population of the city when developing 

programmes and projects is important, with clear communication and accessibility 
being key; 
 

Page 5



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

4 

(f) AFN makes every effort to reach all cultural communities of the city and to be as 
representative as possible; 
 

(g) eligible citizens should be encouraged to claim their pension credit so that they 
can get winter fuel payments. There are drop-in clinics available; 
 

(h) solutions need to be investigated for older LGBTQ residents’ housing needs as 
there are often barriers. 

 
Resolved to 
 
(1) note the action and achievements of Age Friendly Nottingham between 

September 2023 and September 2024; 
 

(2) consider how Health and Wellbeing members can support and contribute to 
Age Friendly Nottingham achieving its charter pledges and future priorities; 

 
(3) receive future reports from the Age Friendly Nottingham on an annual basis. 
 
21  Nottingham & Nottinghamshire Integrated Mental Health Pathway 

Strategic Plan 2024/25-2026/27 
 

Amy Callaway, Head of Integrated Mental Health Commissioning, Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System, presented the Integrated Mental Health 
Pathway Strategic Plan which sets out the plan to achieve an integrated inpatient 
mental health pathway that delivers local, inclusive, safe, personalised, and 
therapeutic care to meet the needs of adults in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, 
highlighting the following: 
 
(a) the strategic plan aims to ensure the right care is being delivered, in the right 

place, at the right time, and in the least restrictive environment for local people. 
Under the strategy there will be a focus on supporting people to live well in their 
local communities with the building blocks of good mental health in place to 
maintain positive mental health and resilient communities; 
 

(b) should a patient need a stay in hospital, all partners who make up the Nottingham 
and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System, will work together to ensure they 
receive good quality care and return to the place they call home as soon as 
possible where appropriate support will be in place; 
 

(c) this strategic plan has been developed by working with all system partners across 
health, local authorities and the voluntary sector, as well as working with people 
with lived experience as equal partners, to develop a whole system approach. 

 
The following comments were made during the discussion that followed: 
 
(d) children and young people are not directly involved in this plan, as their element 

will follow next year. However, transition is important so the plans will be strongly 
linked; 
 

Page 6



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

5 

(e) the student population in the city will have a significant perspective to offer and 
the universities could provide an opportunity for discussion; 
 

(f) physical health is closely linked to mental health and will be picked up as part of 
the plan’s delivery with integrated in-patient care; 

 
(g) access to funding for partners will be through the governance of the Programme 

Board, via the ICB Committee. 
 

Resolved to 
 
(1) note the Nottingham & Nottinghamshire’s Integrated Mental Health Pathway 

Strategic Plan 2024/25-2026-27; 
 

(2) receive reports regarding progress of the strategic plan delivery on an 
annual basis 

 
22  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy Delivery Update 

 
Rich Brady, Programme Director, Nottingham City Place Based Partnership, 
presented the penultimate delivery update report prior to the final Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2022-25 report. The report provides an overview of 
delivery progress of the four JHWS programmes in the last reporting period, 
highlighting success, challenges and areas of focus for the final six months of the 
Strategy. Rich highlighted the following: 
 
a) activity undertaken as part of the Smoking and Tobacco Control, Eating and 

Moving for Good Health and Severe and Multiple Disadvantage programmes is 
generally progressing in line with agreed delivery plans and the programmes are 
currently reporting no significant risks associated with their delivery plans; 
 

b) as previously reported, the context that surrounds the Financial Wellbeing 
programme has made it extremely challenging to deliver this programme at the 
pace and scale that was originally anticipated – this programme is not expected to 
deliver on its original ambitions by the end of this Strategy; 
 

c) good progress has been made over the past two and a half years, and there are 
indications that the programmes are having a positive impact, however it is 
unlikely that we will see meaningful impact for some time, as set out in the 10-
year visions for some of these programmes. It is therefore important that a level of 
commitment is maintained for these programme areas beyond this Strategy. 

 
Resolved to note the update provided by the Nottingham City Place-Based 
Partnership Programme Oversight Group. 
 
23  Updating the Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Nottingham 

 
Nancy Cordy, Head of Strategy and Service Improvement, presented the report 
setting out an update on the proposed direction of travel in order to continue towards 
agreeing an updated Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JLHWS) for 
Nottingham in February 2025, highlighting the following: 

Page 7



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

6 

 
(a) the updated JHLWS will include four priorities, three of which have strong existing 

foundations and supporting structures. Consideration has also been given to 
whether there are additional areas or issues which should be included as priorities 
in the updated JLHWS. This has been weighed against the criteria for priorities 
previously agreed by the Board, following agreement that priorities should be 
focused and limited in order to both ensure that they could be resourced 
appropriately, but also to ensure that being identified attracted the required 
system recognition of its importance for collective attention and effort; 
 

(b) it is proposed that the financial wellbeing priority be refocused, with a specific 
focus on work and health, which could provide a better platform to make positive 
progress which would have an impact on the health and wellbeing of 
Nottingham’s communities. A local area’s employment rate correlates to how 
many years people can expect to live in good health, and in places with higher 
economic inactivity people are more likely to have a lower healthy life expectancy; 
 

(c) a refreshed review suggests the possible inclusion of alcohol-related harm in an 
updated JLHWS. Alcohol use is identified as the 6th highest risk factor leading to 
poor health and death in Nottingham. Nottingham has high and worsening rates of 
alcohol-related mortality (including under 75 mortality rate from alcohol liver 
disease) and the highest rates of hospital admission for alcohol specific/related 
conditions in the East Midlands region; 
 

(d) informal stakeholder engagement has identified two additional potential priority 
areas for further consideration and refinement which are: best start/early years, 
and housing and health. It is well established that what happens in pregnancy and 
early childhood impacts on an individual’s physical and mental health outcomes 
all the way through to adulthood, and it is also well understood that the condition 
and nature of homes, including factors such as stability, space, tenure and can 
have a big impact on people’s live, influencing their health and wellbeing; 
 

(e) in addition to the four JLHWS delivery programmes the Nottingham City Place-
based Partnership runs two cross-cutting programmes; mental health and race 
health inequalities. It is suggested that there is a clear expectation and framework 
for ensuring that these cross-cutting programmes are considered and inform the 
delivery plans of the priorities which are included in the final updated JLHWS. 

 
Resolved to  
 
(1) note and approve the direction of travel for the updated JLHWS for 

Nottingham (2025/26 onwards); 
 

(2) agree (in principle) to the continued inclusion of smoking and tobacco 
control, eating and moving for good health, and severe multiple 
disadvantage as priorities in the updated JLHWS for Nottingham (with 
updated delivery plans as required); 
 

(3) agree that stakeholder and community engagement can commence on the 
suggested reshaped/new priorities (work and health, housing and health 
alcohol related-harm, best start/early years) to inform a 

Page 8



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

7 

recommendation/decision as to their inclusion in the updated JLHWS for 
Nottingham; 
 

(4) note the intention to review the delivery mechanism for priority programmes 
to ensure it continues to be fit for purpose; 
 

(5) note the intention to give greater focus to both the existing cross-cutting 
programmes and the relationship between priorities in the updated JLHWS 
and associated delivery plans. 

 
24  Better Care Fund: Retrospective ratification of 23/24 End of Year 

Reporting, the 24/25 Delivery Plan and Q1 Reporting 
 

Karla Banfield, Interim Deputy Director of Commissioning & Partnerships, presented 
the report. Through pooling budgets, the Better Care Fund supports the 
commissioning of person-centred health and social care services which achieve 
improved patient and service user experiences and outcomes. 
 
Resolved to 
 
(1) retrospectively approve the 23/24 Nottingham City Better Care Fund Annual 

Return; 
 

(2) retrospectively approve the 24/25 Nottingham City Better Care Fund 
Delivery Plan; 
 

(3) retrospectively approve the Q1 Nottingham City Better Care Fund 
monitoring return 

 
25  Joint Health Protection Board Update 

 
Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health, provided a verbal update and highlighted the 
following: 
 
(a) the board had a deep dive into air pollution, including improvements on the 

relationship between wider council actions and health protection; 
 

(b) the Board received an update on planned delegation of immunisation screenings 
down to Integrated Care Boards. This is a complex area and will take another 
year, but will bring huge benefits with available data; 
 

(c) measles rates are significantly down and heading back towards normal levels. 
Extensive work has been done on improving MMR and general immunisation 
levels, so it is disappointing to see that rates are not improving despite this. This 
is a national trend; 
 

(d) no cases of M Pox have been reported yet in the UK but preparations are already 
being made, with the main priority to get the most vulnerable immunised. 

 
26  Board Member Updates 

 

Page 9



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board - 25.09.24 

8 

In addition to the written updates, the following information was provided by Board 
members: 
 
(a) following the departure of Mel Barrett, the new lead for the Place Based 

Partnership is Tim Guyler; 
 

(b) the City Council’s most recent Ofsted monitoring visit letter has been published on 
the council website; 
 

(c) Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS) has just had an inspection and 
was rated good. A new Prevention structure is in place and NFRS will be 
engaging with partners; 
 

(d) The Place Based Partnership has been nominated for a Health Journal award for 
its work on Severe Multiple Disadvantage.  

 
27  Work Plan 

 
The work plan was noted. 
 
28  Future Meeting Dates 

 
The future meeting dates were noted. 
 

Page 10



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27th November 2024  

 
 
Report Title: Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 

Report 2023/2024 
 

Lead Board Member(s): Cllr Kotsonis  
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

Lesley Hutchinson, Safeguarding Adults Board 
Independent Chair 
 
Emma Coleman, Safeguarding Adults Board 
Manager 
 
ncsafeguardingadultsboard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

 
Board members from agencies working across  
Nottingham City – listed on page 22 of the report 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
It is a statutory requirement (schedule 2 of the Care Act 2014) to send of copy of 
the Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report to the Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, however it is also good practice to have a conversation with 
H&WBB partners about the work of the Board. Safeguarding adults is everyone’s 
business and by sharing the report the SAB is raising awareness of the 
safeguarding activity taking place in Nottingham City and the areas of focus for 
2024/25. 
 
The Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report provides an 
overview of the activity of the Board over the financial year 2023/2024. This 
includes progress against the Strategic priorities set out in the 2022-2025 Strategic 
Plan, Safeguarding Adults Review activity, annual data provided by Adult Social 
Care and information from SAB member agencies on their safeguarding activity 
throughout the year. 
 
This is also an opportunity for the Safeguarding Board to provide a brief update on 
any work undertaken in line with comments and feedback received when the 
2022/2023 Annual Report was presented in November 2023.  
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 
• Note the Annual Report and Executive Summary. 
• Recommend any areas it would like NCSAB to focus on going forward. 
 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

mailto:ncsafeguardingadultsboard@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


 

Aims and Priorities How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

The work of the SAB helps achieve this  
aim but supporting people with care and  
support needs at risk of abuse and also  
by helping identify and preventing the 
risk of abuse. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The SAB partners are cognisant of the  
needs of those with severe multiple  
disadvantage and aim to work effectively  
together to help reduce this. 
Reducing the risk of financial abuse and  
addressing financial abuse concerns is a  
key element of the work of the Board. 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
 
Psychological abuse is one of the types of abuse identified in the Care Act 2014  
(and previously in No Secrets) alongside 10 others of which physical abuse is one.  
Page 12 of the report outlines the number of enquires for each type. A persons  
mental health can be impacted by any of the abuse types and colleagues across  
partner agencies pay particular attention to this when supporting people at risk of  
abuse. 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

Care Act 2014 
Care and Support Act Guidance section  
14 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

NCSAB 2022-2025 Strategic Plan 
 
NHS Digital Safeguarding Adults 
Collection Data 

 

Page 12



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 
April 2023 – March 2024 

Page 13



 

 
 

 2 

Contents 

Our vision………………………………………………………………………………………… 3 

Message from the Chair………………………………………………………………………... 4 

Case study………………………………………………………………………………………. 6 

Core duties of Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board ………………………………. 8 

We said, we did…………………………………………………………………………………. 9 

Our strategic priorities and what we achieved……………………………………………….. 11 

Case study……………………………………………………………………………………….. 14 

About Nottingham City…………………………………………………………………………. 15 

Safeguarding adults’ activity…………………………………………………………………… 16 

Who sits on the Board and how does it work?................................................................. 22 

Quality Assurance………………………………………………………………………………. 24 

Safeguarding Adult Reviews…………………………………………………………………... 26 

Training, Learning and Improvement…………………………………………………………. 28 

What difference have we made?....................................................................................... 30 

What next for 2024/25?..................................................................................................... 31 

Reporting abuse………………………………………………………………………………… 32 

Glossary of acronyms………………………………………………………………………….. 33 

Partner contributions…………………………………………………………………………… 35 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

For explanation of acronyms used throughout this document please see the glossary of 
terms on page 33. 

Page 14



 

 
 

 3 

  

 

 

  

Page 15



 

 
 

 4 

Message from the Chair 

Welcome to Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board’s Annual Report for 2023/2024. I 
am proud to present the report to you and share with you the work of the Board and 
Partners.  

You will see in the report there has been a significant amount of work undertaken and 
partners have focussed on delivering the commitments in the Annual Action Plan to 
achieve our Strategic Priorities to safeguard citizens of Nottingham City. You will also be 
acutely aware however that this has been a difficult year. In June 2023 there was the 
tragic deaths of three citizens and three attempted murders (leaving those with severe 
injuries). Whilst the court case concluded in January 2024 and the perpetrator was found 
guilty of manslaughter with diminished responsibility and attempted murder; the extent of 
his mental health needs was revealed, and serious questions are being asked of 
Nottingham Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust and Nottinghamshire Police. Investigations 
are taking place into both agencies, with the CQC report publishing their report relating to 
NHFT in August 2024. NHFT have an Improvement Plan in place which addresses the 
recommendations made by the CQC and the Board will ensure it monitors the work 
undertaken on recommendations made.  

In November 2023 Nottingham City Council declared it was unlikely to balance its budget 
and Commissioners have come to help oversee financial management. Significant savings 
plans and financial management measures have been put in place and the Board has 
sought assurance that this will not adversely impact on the Councils ability to keep people 
safe. Whilst assurance has been provided by the Elected Member Portfolio Holder and 
Corporate Director (Director of Adult Social Services) agencies and the Board are alert to 
impacts this may have. 

At the end of this reporting period, we also experienced a change in key Officers from 
each of the three statutory partners named in the Care Act 2014 and whilst we welcome 
our new colleagues, we are cognisant of the impact of these changes all at the same time 
and assurance has been provided that work will continue at pace in 2024/25. I take the 
opportunity to thank Catherine Underwood, Natasha Todd and Rhonda Christian for their 
commitment and leadership on the Board. 

Despite the above partners have remained focussed and committed to the work of the 
Board. The report articulates the achievements but there remains important work to 
progress. We held a productive Development Day during the year to ensure we are 
focussing our capacity on where it is needed, and you will see in the actions for 2024/25 
section where we are placing our efforts. We have continued to strengthen our work with 
the Community Safety Partnership (particularly around domestic abuse and asylum 
seekers and refugees) and are committed to developing that further as well as focussing 
on transitional arrangements with the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership. We have 
welcomed representation from our local advocacy service and carers organisation and 
strengthened our housing input. Following on from one of the recommendations from SAR 
Billy and Valentina we have worked closely with the National Independent Chairs Network 
and DWP and developed a joint working protocol which is being implemented with all 
SABs. Out of this we have also developed our relationship with the Nottingham Financial 
Resilience Partnership. 

The work of the Board will be shared widely as it was last year and in accordance with 
Care Act requirements. It is important to us to strengthen our communication methods and 
promote the importance of safeguarding. Please do look out for the programme we will be 
running in November 2024 for National Adult Safeguarding Awareness Week. 

Page 16



 

 
 

 5 

  

Thank you to all Board and sub-group members for all of your time and commitment and to 
the Business Unit who without their support our work would not progress at the pace it 
does. 

 

 

 

 

Lesley Hutchinson 

Nottingham City Independent Chair 

 

 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

 6 

 

 

  

Case study - work of Nottingham City Council 
Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance team 

Setting 

A residential care home with 17 residents.   

Scenario 

The Integrated Care Board (ICB), Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Nottingham 
City Council Adult Social Care (NCCASC) all had concerns about the care provider 
which were raised at the monthly multi agency Quality Information Sharing meeting. 
The Provider Investigation Procedure was followed, and work took place in partnership 
with the care provider to rectify issues and re-establish required standards of care.  
Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance Team led and coordinated the Procedure from 
May 2023 to January 2024, however despite ongoing monitoring and evidence 
gathering, the required remedial actions were not delivered by the care provider and 
NCCASC served a 90-day notice to terminate the contract, whereupon the Provider 
Failure Procedure was coordinated from January 2024. 

 

Citizens impacted 

Many of the residents had specific, complex needs. Successful alternate care was 
identified through careful exploration of available resources within the termination time 
frame. This was achieved through the newly Councils established Adult Social Care 
Brokerage Team 

 

Positives 

There was good collaboration both internally and across external agencies; this was 
enabled through continuous communication and frequent updates. 

Staff members went above and beyond and with no complaints, in what was an 
extremely unsettling time for both residents and their significant others. 

The Provider Failure Procedure is an established process and ASC staff are, familiar 
with the process and what is required of them. This allows ASC to proceed in such 
circumstances rapidly and with confidence. 

Five vacancies at one other residential care home in the city really helped, meaning that 
friendship groups were maintained.   

 

Page 18



 

 
 

 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case study - work of the City Council Adult 
Safeguarding Quality Assurance team 

Challenges 

Communication to residents differed at times between the care provider and NCCASC.  
Outward facing communication is always a focus for provider failure work but in this 
situation the care provider unfortunately stepped outside of what was agreed. 

One citizen with capacity to decide where they wanted to move to, did not accept the 
care offer leading to a situation of homelessness. All appropriate support was offered. A 
difficult experience for staff despite this being an expressed outcome for the citizen. 

The service user group needed specialised residential care.  A few residents required 
specific settings e.g. male only.  This made it difficult in some instances to identify 
suitable alternative accommodation. 

One resident required Court of Protection involvement for an anticipated ‘compelled’ 
move.  However, due to safe, good practice, and positive working on the day, this was 
not required, and the citizen left voluntarily. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

 8 

Core duties of Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults 
Board 

Each local authority must set up a Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB).  

The main objective of a SAB is to assure itself that local safeguarding arrangements and 
partners act to help and protect adults in its area who meet the criteria set out in the Care 
Act (2014).  

The SAB has a strategic role that is greater than the sum of the operational duties of its 
core partners. It oversees and leads adult safeguarding across its locality and is interested 
in a range of matters that contribute to the prevention of abuse and neglect.  

A SAB has three core duties: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Strategic Plan

• It must publish a Strategic Plan for each financial year that sets out how it 
will meet its main objective and what the members will do to achieve this

Annual Report

• It must publish an Annual Report which details what the SAB has done 
during the year to achieve its main objective and implement its strategic 
plan, and what each member has done to implement the strategy, as well as 
the findings of any Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs) and subsequent 
action.

Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs)

• It must conduct any SARs in accordance with Section 44 of the Care Act 2014

Page 20



 

 
 

 9 

We said, we did 

Within our last annual report, we set out the aims for the next financial year. Here’s an 
update on how we met those aims: 

 

We said…… We did…… 

Develop a Comms & Engagement 
Strategy  

We have developed a three year 
Communications and Engagement Strategy for 
2024-2027 to provide structure and detail to the 
Board’s public and professional awareness 
raising. By amplifying local, regional and 
national messages, the Board increases 
awareness of understanding of safeguarding 
issues and how to address them. We have also 
committed to developing our approach to co-
production. 

Develop a new Quality Assurance 
Framework 

We launched a new Quality Assurance 
Framework which is monitored by the Quality 
Assurance Sub-group. This Framework sets out 
the annual assurance activity of the Board which 
includes receipt of single agency reports, data, 
audits and the PAT return. 

Develop a new multi-agency data 
dashboard 

The Quality Assurance Sub-group launched the 
new Multi-agency Data Dashboard which sought 
to obtain a broader range of data from several 
organisations. In the past, only Adult Social 
Care data has been requested, and although 
this provides oversight of statutory safeguarding 
activity in the city, by reviewing data from other 
agencies the Board may be able to identify 
emerging themes and risks. The new dashboard 
has been trialled throughout 2023/2024 and will 
be reviewed and refined in the next financial 
year. 

Utilise census data to recognise 
‘communities of identity’  

The Quality Assurance Subgroup identified 
three key areas to review – Age, Ethnicity and 
Deprivation. Initial data has been collected and 
will be analysed in 2024/2025.  

Launch new ‘SAR Impact Tool’  We launched the SAR Impact Tool and received 
and analysed the multi-agency returns to ensure 
that the learning from SARs is shared internally 
within single agencies and embedded into 
practice within policies, procedures, training and 
staff culture. 

Page 21



 

 
 

 10 

Work more closely with Public Health 
and Housing colleagues and consider 
drug- and alcohol-related deaths and 
homelessness/rough sleeper deaths 

Our new data dashboard includes data on drug 
related deaths and homeless/rough sleeper 
deaths. Both Public Health and Housing 
colleagues have a direct route into the SARSG 
to refer cases they feel may meet SAR criteria. 
A collective working group looking at learning 
from reviews including SARs, DHRs, drug 
related deaths and homeless/rough sleeper 
deaths has been set up and will become more 
established in the next financial year.  

Start to review existing policies and 
procedures  

All current Terms of Reference for the 
subgroups and the SAB Constitution have been 
reviewed. We also formally published the new 
SAB Guidance on People in Positions of Trust 
(PiPoT) and the new SAB Information Sharing 
Agreement after launching them with partners 
earlier in 2023. We have started to review our 
shared documents with Nottinghamshire County 
SAB, with a Task and Finish group spanning the 
two Boards working on the Multi-Agency Adult 
Safeguarding Procedure for Raising a Concern 
and Referring. We expect this document to be 
complete and published in 2024/2025.  

Establish a local multi-agency 
working group looking at Transitional 
Safeguarding  

A small multi-agency Task & Finish group 
carried out a mapping exercise to establish 
current provision. This fed into a focussed 
session on Transitional Safeguarding at the SAB 
Development Day with a number of new 
priorities developed for the new 2024/2025 
Annual Plan. This work will be taken forward 
with colleagues from the Safeguarding 
Children’s Partnership and colleagues from 
Nottinghamshire County.  

Support National Adult Safeguarding 
Awareness Week 

Our TLI Subgroup produced a detailed multi-
agency comms plan which was sent to all 
agencies in advance with details of webinars 
and resources. Webinars included CHARLIE P 
training from Fire & Rescue, SAB & SARs from 
the SAB Chair and Manager, Slavery and 
Exploitation from the Communities team, an 
introduction to the Practice Development Unit 
and the NCCASC Safeguarding Team on what 
happens after a safeguarding referral is made.  

 

 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

 11 

Our strategic priorities and what we achieved 

The Board’s Strategic Plan for 2022-2025 has three key strategic priorities, with three 
operational priorities sitting underneath. In 2023/2024, the Board have continued to build 
on the work that was started in 2022/2023.  

 

 

Strategic priority 1: Prevention 

 

What we achieved; we have: 

• Utilised the Partner Assurance Tool (PAT) return to seek direct assurance from 
partner agencies with bed-based care that sexual safety was promoted in line with 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) and Skills for Care recommendations.  

• Continued to work with the Community Safety Partnership by raising issues related 
to the Multi-agency Risk Management Conference (MARAC) and supporting the 
MARAC review and transition to the new model, which is scheduled for October 
2024. 

• Supported the work led by the Nottinghamshire and Nottingham ICB (Integrated 
Care Board) on closed cultures through the Mental Health Assurance Task & Finish 
Group.  

 

✓ Increase public and professional awareness of adult safeguarding 
 

✓ Reduce abuse of adults in specific risk areas 
 

✓ Ensure learning from case reviews is embedded across the 
partnership to improve practice 

 
Priorities include ensuring that lessons from Safeguarding Adult Reviews improve staff 
practice and that our adult safeguarding data reflects the latest local demographic 
information contained in the national census 
 

Page 23

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/media/hndlyihi/city-safeguarding-plan-on-a-page-230522.pdf


 

 
 

 12 

• Linked in with NCC Strategic Housing on their preventative work to minimise the 
likelihood that people will be housed in supported housing operated by ‘rogue’ 
providers. This included NCC Strategic Housing developing a new framework for 
practitioners, as well as setting up the Supported Housing Intervention and 
Prevention Team (SHIP).  

• Worked to improve the range and efficiency of responses received by people with 
Severe and Multiple Disadvantage (SMD) and those who self-neglect/hoard via a 
series of webinars during National Adult Safeguarding Awareness Week and 
planning a multi-agency ‘Safeguarding and SMD’ Conference for May 2024.  

• Linked in with Community Safety Partnership on their Prevent Action Plan, as well 
as receiving an annual overview of Prevent work and including Prevent and 
Channel data in the SAB dashboard for the Quality Assurance and Performance 
Sub-group.  

• Reviewed the priorities set by the National SAB Chairs network and incorporated 
them into the Annual Development Day and the new 2024/2025 Annual Plan.   

Strategic priority 2: Assurance 

 

What we achieved; we have: 

• Received, in conjunction with Nottinghamshire County SAB, annual assurance from 
all partners via completion of the Partner Assurance Tool (PAT) that their adult 
safeguarding arrangements remain effective.  

• Sought assurance that commissioned services have adequate adult safeguarding 
arrangements in place and asylum seekers and refugees are being referred to ASC 
as required. 

• Started to trial the new multi-agency data dashboard in order to improve the range 
and quality of safeguarding data available to the Board.  

• Developed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between SABs and 
Department of Work and Pensions in response to a recommendation in two local 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews (SARs). This MOU has been adopted nationally.  

• Maintained a central risk register to monitor current and emerging themes.  

• Established a relationship with HMP Nottingham and drafted a Joint Working 
Protocol which sets out how the Board and HMP Nottingham will interact.  

• Continued liaison with the Chairs of the Community Safety Partnership and 
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership via a quarterly meeting to look at cross-cutting 
themes. 

• Continued to ensure learning from case reviews is embedded across the 
partnership to improve practice by trialling the SAR (Safeguarding Adults Review) 

✓ Receive assurance from all partner agencies on the effectiveness of their 
safeguarding adult arrangements 
 

✓ Receive assurance that arrangements in specific areas promote effective 
adult safeguarding practice 

 

Priorities include making sure that care home and home care provision remains safe, 
and that effective transitional safeguarding arrangements are developed. 

Page 24



 

 
 

 13 

Impact Tool. This work was led by the Training, Learning and Improvement Sub-
group and forms part of their core work. 

Strategic priority 3: Engagement 

 

 

What we achieved; we have: 

• Reviewed the results of the 2022/2023 Making Safeguarding Personal 
questionnaire. This questionnaire sought information from front line practitioners 
about their confidence in applying Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP). Towards 
the end of this financial year, the Subgroup reviewed and refined the questionnaire 
and sent it out again, this time in conjunction with Nottinghamshire County SAB. 
The results are expected in 2024/2025 and will benchmark against the 2022/2023 
results.  

• Continued to seek assurance around the quality of local advocacy provision with the 
local commissioned provider invited to sit on the Board and to provide an annual 
report.  

• Started each Board meeting with a partner agency case study which demonstrated 
good MSP as a way of maintaining partner focus on overarching priorities. So far, 
case studies have been received from Adult Social Care, Nottinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue and Nottingham 
CityCare Partnership. A rota is in place for 2024/2025 which includes Carer’s 
Federation, POhWER Advocacy and Nottingham University Hospitals.  

• Started to build a relationship with Carer’s Federation to ensure the voice of the 
carer is heard, with Carer’s Federation playing a key part in the Development Day 
and regularly attending the Board as a new member.  

• Held a focussed session on Engagement and MSP at the annual SAB Development 
Day with all outputs being used to shape the new Communications and 
Engagement Strategy. One of these includes commitment to develop our approach 
to co-production. 

• Worked with Nottingham Community and Voluntary Sector to ensure that 
individuals with lived experience have an opportunity to contribute to the messages 
and information which will be shared at the SAB Conference.  

 

 

✓ Ensure there is a strong commitment to ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ 
across the partnership and that the principles are embedded in local 
safeguarding practice 
 

Priorities include seeking assurance that frontline staff work in accordance with ‘Making 
Safeguarding Personal’ best practice and that referrals to local advocacy services 
continue to be promoted. 

Page 25



 

 
 

 14 

 
 
  

Case study – Nottingham City Council Adult 
Safeguarding Team 

Background  

A safeguarding concern was made to NCCASC Safeguarding Team for ‘M’ by the 
hospital Safeguarding Lead following a hospital admission.  ‘M’ is a middle-aged 
female, living in private rented property with her younger husband / perpetrator (the 
alleged person responsible for abuse). The Perpetrator was verbally, emotionally, and 
psychological abusive towards her. ‘M’ is disabled and lives upstairs in the bedroom, 
remaining in bed unless she is supported to the stairlift. Once supported on the stairlift 
she is able to sit downstairs. 

The perpetrator repeatedly threatened to stop providing food for ‘M’ and to leave her. 
He had access to her finances and all of her online accounts including her social media 
and banking etc. ‘M’ relied on him for food/drink and personal care. She required a 
wheelchair however this was kept outside in the garden she has been unable to access 
it. The Perpetrator isolated ‘M’ from her family and friends and is also reported to have 
belittled and bullied her. 

 

Making Safeguarding Personal  

When the Social Worker visited, ‘M’ stated “I have been trapped in this room on this bed 
looking at the same spot out of the window for two years, I have been waiting for you to 
come through the door and change my life”.  

‘M’ stated she would like to move to her own property and have her own tenancy and 
end the relationship with her husband/perpetrator. She was clear that she did not want 
the perpetrator to know where she moved to. ‘M’ wanted to see her friends and family.  
‘M’ wanted to rebuild her physical strength and mobility and begin walking and build up 
to meeting her own care and support needs as much as possible.  

 

Outcomes 

‘M’ agreed to a respite placement, she found the move extremely difficult and was 
withdrawn on the initial days. During her time there she began using a self-propelling 
wheelchair and gained strength in her upper arms, improving her self-care and stated 
she felt she had regained her dignity. ‘M’ began to socialise and developed good 
relationships with residents and staff. ‘M’ is now waiting for her offer of housing. She 
says that the safeguarding team ‘changed her life’. She has now re-established her 
contact with friends and family.  She continues to grow from strength to strength 
physically and emotionally.  

Page 26



 

 
 

 15 

About Nottingham City 

Data provided by Nottingham Insight: Key facts about Nottingham - Nottingham Insight 

 

Page 27

https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/research-areas/key-facts-about-nottingham/


 

 
 

 16 

Safeguarding Adults Activity  

Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to make enquiries, or cause 
others to do so, if they believe an adult is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect. 
An enquiry should establish whether any action needs to be taken to prevent or stop 
abuse or neglect and if so, by whom. These enquiries are commonly referred to as 
‘Section 42 enquiries’. 

Every local authority in England must collect specific data relating to their safeguarding 
activity and report this to NHS Digital every year. NHS Digital then publishes the data 
collected, together with some national averages.  

NHS Digital Safeguarding Adults Collection data analysis for 2023/24 was published on 
29th August 2024 and provides the benchmarking information for this report and 
safeguarding activity and outcomes. 

Chart 1: Adult safeguarding concern referrals and Section 42 enquiries by financial year 

 

There has been a national increase of 5% in the number of concerns raised, which is less 
than the annual growth rate of 9% the year before. In comparison, Nottingham City’s data 
shows a 13.84% decrease in adult safeguarding referrals when compared to 2022/2023.  

When considering S42 enquiries, there is also a decrease of nearly 24% (23.83%) in 
2023/2024, whereas the national trend has seen an increase of 2%. Locally, there is 
robust screening and signposting in place meaning that many safeguarding referrals can 
be closed at concern stage. For example, Care Homes are required to report ‘falls’ to the 
local authority safeguarding team which would be recorded as a ‘concern’, however it is 
common that the fall has been properly managed, there is no further risk, and the fall has 
also been reported to CQC and the ICB. There has been close partnership working 
between the Safeguarding Team and partners to create a robust screening tool by which 
the assurance that risks mitigations are in place can be clearly communicated to the Local 
Authority and the referral can be closed. Closing these referrals at concern stage is a 
proportionate and appropriate response.  

The number of concerns which were repeated referrals has also decreased steadily since 
2021/2022, with a reduction of around 40% which is seen as a positive. National data on 
repeat referrals is not collected, and so there is no national benchmark.   

Page 28

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults/2022-23


 

 
 

 17 

The SAB will continue to seek assurance that safeguarding concerns are being raised 
where appropriate, that agencies are well informed about when to raise a concern and 
demonstrate good decision making.  

Chart 2: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by Agency Referring a Concern 

 

With the reduction in the number of S42 enquiries, the chart above is expected, showing a 
reduction from all sectors except for Police which saw a marginal increase in 2022/2023.  

Chart 3: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by type of abuse 

 

Nationally, the most common type of risk in Section 42 enquiries that concluded in 
2023/2024 was Neglect and Acts of Omission, which accounted for 32% of risks. The data 
for Nottingham City shows that neglect and acts of omission are also the most common 
risk locally, followed by financial abuse, physical and then psychological risks. This has 
remained unchanged since 2022/2023. Some categories have seen a significant change 
since 2022/2023, with S42 enquiries for sexual abuse, physical abuse, psychological 
abuse, financial abuse, neglect and institutional (organisational) abuse all having 
noticeable reductions. Numbers for discriminatory abuse, modern slavery, sexual 
exploitation and self-neglect have remained steady, with a small increase in numbers for 
domestic abuse. 

Page 29



 

 
 

 18 

Neglect and acts of omission account for nearly 50% of S42 enquiries. Discriminatory 
abuse remains consistently low, something which has been raised nationally as an area 
for Safeguarding Boards to focus on.  

Chart 4: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by perpetrator relationship 

 

All categories have seen a decrease since 2022/2023, which is to be expected given the 
decrease in concerns and enquiries. The largest decreases are NHS staff and social care 
at over 30% on the previous year. Whilst the category of ‘other’ has also decreased, the 
Board will explore which types of perpetrator relationships are included.  

Chart 5: Volume of Section 42 enquiries by location of abuse 

 

Nationally, the most common location of the risk in Section 42 enquiries that concluded in 
the year was the person’s own home at 46%. Nottingham City has seen a decrease in all 
categories except for community services when compared to 2022/2023. ‘Own home’ 
remains the largest category of location of abuse, however Care Homes have seen the 
highest percentage decrease in the number of Section 42 enquiries.  

Page 30



 

 
 

 19 

Chart 6: Proportion of Section 42 enquiries where the adult lacked mental capacity 

 

The data above has remained consistent over the last few years. It is extremely positive to 
see that 100% of people who ‘lacked mental capacity’ are supported through the 
safeguarding procedure; this is exactly as would be expected. NCCASC are confident that 
capacity is assessed. The advocacy provider is now a member of the Board and brings 
information and data.  

Chart 7: Section 42 enquiries where the adult was asked about their desired outcome 

 

The percentages of individuals asked what outcomes they wanted, and of outcomes 
achieved, were both slightly higher than in 2022/2023, something the Board were keen to 
see this year. Making Safeguarding Personal sits within the Engagement strategic priority 
of the Board and this chart is part of the evidence the Board uses to assure itself that 
safeguarding support is personalised to people’s views and situations.  

On the 14% of citizens that were not asked, there can be several reasons for this, 
including: 

1) Person lacking capacity and unable to provide a view. 
2) Non engagement – there is a high level of self-neglect, hoarding and Severe 

Multiple Disadvantage cases referred. It is often difficult to establish contact and 

Page 31



 

 
 

 20 

there is refusal of engagement from the citizen despite multiple attempts to visit and 
make appropriate contact.  

3) A safeguarding referral has been received in relation to neglect and the person has 
died, so obviously been unable to consult them. 

Chart 8: Percentage of Section 42 enquiries by risk outcome 

 

Nottingham City, in 86% of cases the risk was reduced or removed, or no risk identified. 
However, if we include those cases which were inconclusive, the percentage would be 
93% which is slightly higher than 2021/2022 and higher than the national average of 91%. 
The Board will seek to monitor this though the quarterly data received but accepts that 
risks might always remain for some situations. The Board will seek reassurance that 
monitoring arrangements are in place to ensure citizens are supported. 

Demographics 

Gender 

 

The number for males has reduced since last year, following an increase in 2022/2023.  

Page 32



 

 
 

 21 

Ethnicity 

 

The majority of Section 42 enquiries are for citizens that are white, with numbers for 
Asian/Asian British, Black/African/Caribbean/Black British, Mixed/Multiple and Other ethnic 
groups much less. Last year, it was noted that the figures did not necessarily reflect the 
demographics of the City as per the census results. Some work has been carried out by 
other SABs and Local Authorities to understand how to better interpret this data, with the 
best way forward to measure against the ethnicity of adults accessing social care services 
or in receipt of care packages rather than the whole population. The Quality Assurance 
Sub-group have started to replicate this work in the city.  

There are still a significant number of enquiries where ethnicity is not recorded 

(Undeclared/Unknown), although this number has reduced by nearly 22% since 

2022/2023.  It has been identified by Adult Social Care that this is primarily a process 

issue within the Electronic Social Care recording system used, which does not prompt 

allocated workers to review or enter ethnicity when they are involved with a citizen. Adult 

Social Care are currently exploring how the system can prompt workers to improve 

recording in this area. 

Age 

 

173
160 161

190 193

254

321

162
137

154
137

175

223

270

316

162

132
113 114

149 145

202

235

109

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

18-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60-69 70-79 80-89 90+

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Page 33



 

 
 

 22 

The majority of Section 42 enquiries are for adults in the 80–89-year-old age bracket, 

which is consistent with the figures for the previous two years. There has been a decrease 

in Section 42 enquiries for adults in all age groups, which is consistent with the overall 

reduction in concerns referred and Section 42 enquiries for the year.   

Who sits on the Board and how does it work? 

Throughout 2023/24, the Board was chaired by Lesley Hutchinson. A new Board Manager, 
Emma Coleman, was appointed in January 2023 and started in March 2023.     

The Board met quarterly, with senior representatives attending from the following 
organisations: 

• Nottingham City Council Adult Social Care  

• Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB 

• Nottinghamshire Police 

• Carers Federation  

• Department for Work and Pensions 

• East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) 

• HMP Nottingham  

• National Probation Service, Nottinghamshire  

• Nottingham CityCare Partnership  

• Nottingham City Council Communities  

• Nottingham City Council Housing 

• Nottingham City Council Public Health  

• Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 

• Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  

• Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 

• Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service 

• Nottinghamshire Healthwatch  

• POhWER Advocacy  

 

Funding 

Nottingham City Council, Nottinghamshire Police, and Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 
ICB jointly fund the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board. During 2023/24 these 
statutory partners continued to provide financial support in line with previously agreed 
contributions, and the budget was balanced at year end. 

Contributions 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB 45.3%   

Nottingham City Council   45.3% 

Page 34



 

 
 

 23 

Nottinghamshire Police    9.1% 

Nottinghamshire Probation   0.3%           

 

 

Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults 
Board 2023/24 

Annual Cost (with on costs) 

2023/24 

Staff costs £89,388 

Running costs  

(IT, comms etc.) 

£1668 

SARs £9050 

Total £100,106  

                     

Board Constitution  

How the Board works is set out in the published Constitution, which states that: 

✓ The aim of the Board is to ensure the effective co-ordination of services to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of adults in accordance with the Care Act 2014 
and the Statutory Guidance. 
 

✓ The NCSAB is a multi-agency Board that will coordinate the strategic development 
of Adult Safeguarding across Nottingham City and ensure the effectiveness of the 
work undertaken by partner agencies in the area.  
 

✓ The Board aims to achieve its objectives through partner agencies supporting 
individuals in maintaining control over their lives and in making informed choices 
without coercion. 
 

✓ Whilst NCSAB has a role in coordinating and ensuring the effectiveness of work being 
done by local individuals and organisations in relation to safeguarding adults, it is not 
accountable for their operational work.  Each Board Partner has their own existing 
lines of accountability for safeguarding adults by their services. The Board does not 
have the power to direct other organisations but aims to assure itself that members 
and partners act to help and protect adults experiencing or at risk of abuse and/or 
neglect. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

 
 

 24 

The Board has three subgroups to support it: 

 

 

 

In addition to the three Sub-groups and the quarterly main Board, the Independent Chair 
and representatives from the three funding agencies meet with the Sub-group Chairs and 
Board Manager on a quarterly basis at the Business Management Group to assist in the 
implementation of the Board’s Annual Action Plan. 

Quality Assurance (QA) Sub-group 

Achievements 

Partner Assurance Tool  

The Sub-group received the annual Partner Assurance Tool (PAT) submission from 
partner agencies including NCC Adult Social Care, NCC Communities, CityCare, 
Department of Work and Pensions (DWP), Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue, 
Nottinghamshire Police, Nottingham University Hospital (NUH), Nottinghamshire 
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, Nottinghamshire Probation and Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire ICB. For the first time, returns were received from new Board members 
Carer’s Federation and POhWER Advocacy. This year, the PAT return included new 
questions on Transitional Safeguarding and PiPOT (People in Positions of Trust). These 
areas were identified as priorities for 2023/2024.  

PAT returns were of good quality and provided a good level of assurance. Agencies raised 
issues around: 

• Urgent care home closures and suspension of sponsorship licences  

• Availability of appropriate housing  

The Quality Assurance Sub-group

This is a proactive subgroup, responsible for supporting Nottingham City SAB in 
its assurance responsibilities by collecting evidence concerning the quality of 
local safeguarding interventions and the performance of agencies and their 
staff in carrying out their safeguarding responsibilities. This includes a focus on 

the principles of MSP.

The Safeguarding Adults Review Sub-group

This is a reactive group, responding to any SAR referrals the Board receives and 
responsible for the operation of the SARs it commissions to ensure that 

agencies learn lessons and improve the way in which they work with adults at 
risk. The SAR subgroup seeks to develop SAR processes in line with the Care 

Act and local and national best practice.

The Training, Learning and Improvement Sub-group

This is both a reactive and a proactive group, responsible for disseminating 
learning identified in SARs as well as acting as a conduit for identifying and 

passing on safeguarding messages and available training to partner 
workforces. Additionally, the subgroup can arrange training on behalf of the 

Board as well as reviewing the effectiveness of multi-agency learning and 
improvement activities.

Page 36



 

 
 

 25 

• Increase in complex cases with high levels of need/risk 

• Closed cultures 

• Lack of resource and capacity 

• MARAC Demands  

• Ability to support people with Severe and Multiple Disadvantage  

• Recruitment and retention of staff 

• High level of demand on services  

Agencies are also dealing with issues around: 

• Changes in contract for both Carer’s and Advocacy and the impact on the 
individuals they support 

• Embedding the PiPOT Guidance 

• Training compliance 

• Confidence in applying the Mental Capacity Act 

• Increase in Out of Hours checks needed 

• Increase in Prevent referrals 

• Funding for voluntary and community sector services for DSVA 

• Streamlined asylum process led to increased homelessness and pressure on 
health, GP services, schools and housing  

The full agency returns can be found in Appendix 1.  

Data 

The Sub-group launched the new Multi-agency Data Dashboard which sought to obtain a 
broader range of data from several organisations. In the past, only Adult Social Care data 
has been requested, and although this provides oversight of statutory safeguarding activity 
in the city, by reviewing data from other agencies the Board may be able to identify 
emerging themes and risks. The new dashboard has been trialled throughout 2023/2024 
and will be reviewed and refined in the next financial year.  

Audits 

The Sub-group commenced a face-to-face case file audit looking at Self-neglect which 
was linked to a recommendation in a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR). The first full day 
was held in March 2024, with the second day scheduled for April 2024. The purpose of the 
audit is to identify whether practitioners are utilising the SAB Self-neglect Toolkit, whether 
they are recognising Self-neglect, and whether cases are being referred to NCCASC Adult 
Safeguarding in a timely manner. The audit will identify areas for improvement as well as 
highlighting good practice in the system.  

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) Questionnaire  

The MSP Questionnaire which was developed and distributed last in 2022/2023 was 
repeated, this time in collaboration with Nottinghamshire County SAB. The questionnaire 
aims to establish a baseline of practitioner confidence in applying the principles of MSP so 
that recommendations can be made to further embed MSP in practice. The Board will 
consider general points of learning from the responses collected, as well as asking each 
agency to provide an overview of their own single agency responses.  

Impact 

The collected and analysed PAT returns have enabled the Quality Assurance Sub-group 
to provide the Board with assurance around individual agency safeguarding practice, as 
well as a multi-agency strategic summary of issues the system is experiencing. This has 

Page 37



 

 
 

 26 

directly informed the annual plan for 2024/2025. The newly expanded quarterly data report 
enabled the Sub-group to keep the main Board and the Business Management Group 
informed of themes, trends and areas of concerns. However, careful consideration needs 
to be given to the breadth of information collected to ensure it remains focussed and clear. 
Through repeating the MSP Questionnaire, the Board will have a clearer understanding of 
how fully the local system workforce understands MSP, and how each agency intends to 
respond to any gaps identified. Working with County has allowed identification of areas 
where we can work together on awareness raising and developing additional resources for 
professionals.  

Barriers 

Agencies are not always able to release staff for face-to-face audit sessions, meaning 
relying on written submissions instead of speaking directly to the practitioner. This can limit 
the breadth of information.  

The Board does not have a data analyst meaning it can be difficult to accurately refine and 
review the larger data dashboard.  

Census data is not broken down into adults with Care and Support Needs, meaning it does 
not necessarily correlate with Adult Safeguarding data.  

Priorities for 2023/2024 

• To update the current PAT tool with any new operational priorities for 2023/2024. 
This may include the implementation of ‘Right Care, Right Person’, Trauma 
Informed Practice and Mental Health.  

• The Sub-group will refine the data dashboard to ensure only relevant, meaningful 
data will be collected and reviewed.  

• Further auditing work will be scheduled in on themes within Safeguarding Adults 
Reviews.  

• To review, update and repeat the MSP Questionnaire to build on the learning 
identified in 2023/2024. This work will be in collaboration with Nottinghamshire 
County SAB.  

Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) Sub-group 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews Commissioned:  

There were seven referrals considered against the SAR criteria by the multi-agency SAR 
Sub-group via extraordinary meetings in 2023/2024. Of these, it was agreed that three of 
them did not meet the SAR criteria set out in Section 44 of the Care Act (2014). However, 
it was agreed by multi-agency decision that the other four referrals did meet the SAR 
criteria and so reviews should be commissioned.  

The first case is an individual that died in late 2022 in a housing association property 
housing a number of adults with care and support needs; there were concerns of 
cuckooing and exploitation. This non-mandatory SAR has had an independent reviewer 
appointed, Terms of Reference agreed, and a practitioner event scheduled. This review is 
expected to be completed towards the end of 2024.  

The second case is an individual that died in hospital following a 999 call from their son. 
Ambulance staff had been advised that the individual had been unresponsive after weeks 
of lying on the sofa refusing food, drink or any help and was found to have multiple 
pressure sores. There were concerns relating to neglect, self-neglect, alcohol misuse, non-

Page 38



 

 
 

 27 

engagement with services and missed identification of their son as a carer. This 
mandatory SAR has had an independent reviewer appointed, Terms of Reference agreed, 
and a practitioner event scheduled.  

The third case is an individual who died in their 50’s where there were concerns about 
severe self-neglect and non-engagement with services linked to long-term anxiety, 
agoraphobia and deep-rooted trauma. An expression of interest for potential Independent 
Reviewers is due to go out in early 2024/2025.  

The fourth case is an individual in their late 20s who was non-verbal with severe physical 
and learning disabilities who died in hospital. Their care spanned across two local authority 
and health areas. An expression of interest for potential Independent Reviewers is due to 
go out in early 2024/2025.  

Safeguarding Adults Reviews Completed and/or Published: 

The two SARs ratified by the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board in June 2022 
have both now been published. The first, ‘Billy’, was published on Thursday 11th May 
2023 on the Safeguarding Board web page. The second, ‘Valentina’, was published on 
Thursday 25th May 2023, also on the Safeguarding Adults Board website. For both these 
reviews, a multi-agency Communications Plan was developed and in place prior to 
publishing, and the families and reviewer were informed of publication in advance. For one 
of these SARs, Billy, an addendum to the original report was published on 2nd November 
2023 following consideration of information that was not available to the reviewer at the 
time of the original review. The publication of these SARs also led to the Board 
establishing a relationship with the Nottingham Financial Resilience Partnership, which 
has been a positive outcome.  

A further non-mandatory SAR, ‘Antoni’ was signed off by the Board in March 2024. This 
SAR relates to an individual who was exhibiting extreme levels of hoarding and had to 
leave his property. A multi-agency practitioner event was held in June 2023, with good 
attendance from a wide range of agencies. As the individual is still alive and living locally, 
there has not yet been a decision made around publication although this is expected in the 
coming months. Although the default position of the Board is always to publish to ensure 
openness, transparency and to share learning, any potential negative impact on the 
individual must be carefully considered.   

We still await the outcome of criminal proceedings in relation to a previous SAR, Bob, 
which until concluded we are unable to publish a briefing. We have remained in contact 
with the Police regarding progress on this and they are themselves waiting on the Crown 
Prosecution Service. However, assurance has been sought from the agencies involved 
and action plans have been completed. 

Ongoing SAR Action Plans: 

The two SARs published by the Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board in May 2023 
have action plans in progress which are reviewed at the quarterly SAR Sub-group 
meetings. There are currently no outstanding actions from SAR’s which are not under 
review. 

Two actions were escalated to the National SAB Chairs Network to discuss whether they 
should be taken forward nationally. One of these was from the Billy SAR, with a 
recommendation to work with DWP to produce a National Joint Working Protocol (JWP) 
between the National SAB Network and DWP. The recommendation was that the JWP 
would set out how DWP would contribute to SAR work nationally under Section 44 of the 
Care Act (2014). On discussion with DWP, it was expanded to also include Section 42 of 

Page 39



 

 
 

 28 

the Care Act (2014). The document is now complete and signed off, and this locally led 
JWP has been published and adopted nationally. 

Additional SAR Work: 

The SAR Procedures are currently due for review. This joint piece of work with 
Nottinghamshire County SAB will take place in 2024/2025.  

The new SAR Impact Tool which was developed in 2023 has been completed for one SAR 
with nearly all responses now received. The SAR Impact Tool goes out to all agencies 
involved in the review with a six-month deadline for completion and is used to gain 
assurance that agencies have embedded the learning from the review. SAR Impact Tools 
for the two SARs published in May 2023 will go out in 2024/2025, again with a six-month 
completion date.  

In order to ensure learning from SARs is accessible and widely shared, a 7 Minute Briefing 
has been developed and published for the ‘Billy’ SAR with key learning points for front line 
staff. Production of a 7 Minute Briefing for front line staff for every published SAR will be 
standard practice going forward. 

SAR work locally and nationally has increased significantly in the last 12 months. 

Reviews into the killings of Ian Coates, Grace O’Malley-Kumar and Barnaby Webber. 

On the 13th June 2023 Valdo Calocane fatally stabbed Ian Coates, Grace O’Malley-Kumar 
and Barnaby Webber. He also injured three other people when he drove Ian Coates van 
into them. He was convicted of manslaughter on the basis of diminished responsibility and 
three counts of attempted murder in January 2024 and was sentenced to indefinite 
detention at a high-security hospital. The sentence was appealed and found to be 
appropriate. Mr Calocane was known to Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust and had been detained in mental health units in Nottingham on four occasions during 
2020 and 2022, he was also known to the Police. The incident correctly had significant 
media coverage and four reviews were commissioned as set out below: 

- NHSE Independent Mental Health Homicide Review  

- A Section 48 of the Health and Care Act 2022 review of the Trust to be carried out 
by CQC (this report has been completed and was published on 13th August 2024 
with a set of recommendations) 

- The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner have requested are review of the 
police investigation by the College of Policing 

- Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust are also carrying out an 
independent investigation 

NCSAB await the findings of each of these reports and have received update positions 
throughout the year. As soon as the findings are available NCSAB will be seeking 
assurance that recommendations are implemented in the hope of preventing such a 
tragedy happening again. 

The Training, Learning and Improvement (TLI) Sub-
group 

Achievements 
 

Page 40



 

 
 

 29 

• Launched the SAR Impact Tool and received and analysed the multi-agency returns 
to ensure that the learning from SARs is shared internally within single agencies 
and embedded into practice within policies, procedures, training and staff culture.  

• Promoted National Adult Safeguarding Awareness week with a programme of free 
webinars, resources, a comms pack and a blog for the Ann Craft Trust 

• Updated our suite of ‘7-minute briefings’  

• Promoted partner agency and voluntary sector training  

• Planned and organised a multi-agency Conference scheduled for May 2024 

• Carried forward the recommendations from the 2022/2023 MSP Questionnaire 

• Worked with the Practice Development Unit (PDU) to understand the local offer and 
identify areas for collaboration.  

• Developed a three-year Communications and Engagement Strategy for 2024-2027. 

Impact 

• Both the public and professionals have a better understanding of adult safeguarding 
and when and how to report abuse and neglect. This will reduce inappropriate 
referrals and ensure professionals utilise alternative referral pathways. 

• We are able to evidence that learning from SARs is being embedded. 

Barriers 

• There is a lack of multi-agency training for professionals. However, this position will 
change following the approval of one of the recommendations in SAR Antoni. 

• The current Board website has limitations in terms of communication and 
resources.  

Priorities for 2024/2025 

• Hold a face-to-face multi-agency Conference in Nottingham for multi-agency staff 
on Safeguarding and Severe and Multiple Disadvantage. 

• To continue to expand the suite of 7-Minute briefings. 

• To support campaigns which allow for raising awareness of key issues, such as 
Carer’s Week, Money Week and Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week. 

• To look into developing an Independent SAB website.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

 30 

What difference have we made? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“The TLI subgroup has 
provided an essential 

platform to share learning 
and best practice across 

partner agencies” 

“The 7-minute briefings have 
proved really helpful for 
frontline colleagues, distilling 
complex SAR learning into 
bitesize knowledge and 
action points.”  

 

“Stronger collaboration 
between the SAB and other 

partnerships such as 
Community Safety 

Partnership and 
Safeguarding Children’s 

Partnership” 

“The progress NCSAB and DWP have 
made together to agree a joint working 
approach for all SABs, means DWP 
colleagues can engage much more 
confidently and consistently with their 
own local SAB. The Contacts, Learning 
and contribution to discussions are 
helping DWP to support our most 
vulnerable customers.” 

 

“During National Safeguarding Adults 
Week in November the board offered a 

suite of learning and development 
opportunity to all staff across the 

partnership. We really appreciate the 
efforts that went into arranging this as 
the opportunities for our staff to learn 
and get a better understanding of key 
safeguarding issues was really timely. 

We particularly found the resource 
pack helpful!” 

“All those who undertake the 
business of the board, in one 

way or another, are passionate 
about doing their very best to 
make our communities safer. I 
love being part of something 

that is innovative, free thinking, 
open to new ideas and astute 

to the ever-changing landscape 

we work in.” “Adult Safeguarding Week gave 
opportunity for 9 separate webinars 
spanning subjects on Hoarding, the 

Practice Development Unit, 
Slavery/Exploitation, How the SAB 

Functions, Introduction to Barring and 
What Happens After A Safeguarding 

Referral Is Made.” 

The SAB has been 
really supportive in 
taking learning from 

local SAR’s to national 
forums to influence 
national policy and 
embed changes.  

Page 42



 

 
 

 31 

What next for 2024/25? 

2024/25 will be another busy year for the Board. We will be focusing on the following 
actions; 

1. Ensuring the recommendations of SARs, learning reviews and the investigations 
into the deaths on 13th June 2023 are progressed. In addition, ensuring the findings 
from the forthcoming Second National SAR Analysis are reviewed  

2. Delivering our commitment to the Communication and Engagement Strategy 2024-
27 

3. Ensuring we make best use of the new multi-agency data dashboard 
4. Hosting National Adult Safeguarding Awareness Week and a conference on 

Safeguarding those in Severe and Multiple Disadvantage 
5. Ensuring the delivery of the 2024/35 Annual Action Plan with particular focus on 

progressing specific work on safeguarding those in transition, those in need of 
mental health support and ensuring a trauma informed response is applied 

6. Reviewing the implementation of Right Care Right Person 
7. Strengthening our relationship with the Nottingham Community Safety Partnership 

and Safeguarding Childrens Partnership (including keeping abreast of changes 
brought about by Working Together to Safeguard Children) 

8. Developing and consulting on our forthcoming Strategic Plan for 2025-28 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



 

 
 

 32 

Reporting abuse 

You may know a person carrying out abuse and be worried about reporting them. If you 
are being abused, you do not have to put up with it. If someone you know is being abused, 
or you have a concern that they may be, you should first make sure that they are safe if it 
is possible to do so. You can report abuse to Nottingham City Council in the strictest 
confidence and your identity can be kept private. 

• If you live in Nottingham City, call Adult Social Care on 0115 8763330. Lines are 
open 9am to 5pm  

• If you live in Nottinghamshire County, call Nottinghamshire County Council on 0300 
500 8080  

If you are unsure, please call any of the numbers and report what is happening to you or 
the person you are concerned about. You can report abuse in the strictest confidence and 
your identity can be kept private. 

If you believe that you (or someone you know) may be at risk or experiencing neglect, 
explore the Safeguarding information within the hub. If necessary, you can complete 
Nottingham City Council’s online Safeguarding referral form to tell them about your 
concerns. 

For all queries and referrals for Nottingham City Adult Social Care please use the Adult 
Social Care Hub. The hub is home to information on preventive and community care 
options that can support you (or those that you are acting on behalf of) to remain 
independent and prevent the need for long term care. 

You will also be able to Complete an on-line form to request support or advice. 

Adult Social Care service is operational between 09:00 – 17:00, Monday to Friday – not 
including bank holidays. Outside of these hours if you have a social care need that 
requires an immediate response please call the Emergency Duty Team on 0115 8761000 

 
If it is an emergency, dial 999 

Page 44

https://healthandsocialcareportal.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/web/portal/pages/safeguard
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/health-and-social-care/adult-social-care/adult-social-carers-hub/
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/health-and-social-care/adult-social-care/adult-social-carers-hub/
https://myaccount.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/en/service/Adult_Social_Care_Referral_Form


 

 
 

 33 

Glossary of acronyms 

ASC    Adult Social Care 

CSP   Community Safety Partnership 

CHARLIE-P Care and support needs; hoarding and mental health issues; alcohol 
and medication; reduced mobility; lives alone; inappropriate smoking; 
elderly; previous signs of fire 

CHC  Continuing healthcare 

COP  Court of Protection 

CQC   Care Quality Commission 

DBS   Disclosure and Barring Service 

DHR  Domestic Homicide Review 

DNACPR   Do not attempt cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) 

DoLS    Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 

DSL   Designated safeguarding lead 

DWP   Department of Work and Pensions  

EMAS   East Midlands Ambulance Service  

GDPR   General data protection regulation 

HMICFRS Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services 

HMIP   Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Prisons 

HMP   Her Majesty’s Prison 

ICB   Integrated care board 

ICP   Integrated care partnership 

ICS   Integrated care system 

IICSA    Independent inquiry into child sexual abuse 

JWP   Joint Working Protocol 

LD   Learning disability 

LPS    Liberty protection safeguards 

MAPPA   Multi-agency public protection arrangements 

MARAC   Multi-agency risk assessment conference 

MASH   Multi-agency safeguarding hub 

MCA    Mental Capacity Act 

MOU   Memorandum of Understanding  

MSP    Making Safeguarding Personal 

NCVS   Nottingham Community and Voluntary Service 

NHS   National Health Service  

NICE   National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

Page 45



 

 
 

 34 

NUH   Nottingham University Hospitals  

PAT   Partner Assurance Tool  

PiPoT   People in a position of trust 

PoP   People on probation 

PP   Public protection 

QA   Quality assurance 

SAB    Safeguarding Adults Board 

SAR    Safeguarding adults review 

SCP   Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 

SERAC   Slavery and exploitation risk assessment conference 

SHIP   Supported Housing Intervention and Prevention Team 

SMD   Severe and Multiple Disadvantage  

SPOC   Single Point of Contact 

SWV   ‘Safe and well’ visit 

VAPN   Vulnerable adults provider network 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



 

 
 

 35 

Appendix 1 - Partner contributions 

Our partner agencies promoted adult safeguarding within their own organisations in 
numerous ways throughout 2023/2024. These are their reports. 

Nottingham City Council Adult Social Care 

 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

Neglect & Acts of Omission by Regulated Care Providers 

Whilst NCC Adult Social Care has robust structures and processes in place to intervene 
early, investigate and coordinate Safeguarding investigations in care homes, in 2023/2024 
we once again experienced urgent care home closures in Nottingham due to building 
compliance, low quality care delivery and contractual requirements. As the cost-of-living 
crisis continues, and the number of vacancies in residential and nursing homes in the city 
increases, the financial pressures upon care providers are potentially impacting upon their 
capacity to maintain buildings and meet training and development needs of staff. NCSAB 
has asked for assurance from the ICB and NCC ASC commissioning about the quality and 
viability of its commissioned services.  

NCC ASC already have a longstanding Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance team, with 
specialist Senior Practitioners who coordinate and oversee Safeguarding Investigations in 
Provider settings. The team also leads a monthly multi agency Quality Information Sharing 
meeting where agencies responsible for the monitoring and inspection of regulated care 
provision can share information and concerns and decide collectively upon appropriate 
action. In 23-24, 13 Early Intervention meetings were held in relation to 9 providers, and 8 

Case study - Adult Safeguarding Team 

Summary 

A referral about ‘D’ was received from a landlord due to a high level of hoarding with a risk of 
repossession imminent.  There was a risk of homelessness and deteriorating mental health 
which was exacerbated by ‘D’ not receiving and care or support services due to lack of 
engagement.  

MSP 

‘D’ did not want to lose his flat but lacked the mental capacity to use and weigh information to 
make the required changes in a timely manner to prevent this.  ‘D’ agreed to receive support 
from a Care Provider, but this was slow progress. ‘D’ needed time to look at each item in his 
cluttered property before deciding what would be done with it and became very distressed, 
agitated when encouraged to work more quickly.  ‘D’ wanted to keep a large amount of his 
belongings in a safe place and agreed to remove some of his belongings and store them in a 
garage in order to reduce the risk of fire and to reduce risk of re-possession.  

Outcome 

This was a creative solution that took some negotiation with the landlord to agree to, however 
the City Safeguarding team through its’ person-centred approach supported ‘D’ to keep his 
tenancy, minimise the impact upon his mental health and manage his hoarding going forward. 

 

Page 47



 

 
 

 36 

providers were subject to Provider Investigation Procedures involving 31 multi agency 
meetings.  

Nottingham City Council and Nottingham and Nottinghamshire ICB have collaborated to 
adopt a partnership approach to system wide risks in this sector, and in addition to closer 
partnership working and action, have implemented an On-line monitoring tool which 
gathers data and supports analysis of themes and trends which may initiate early 
intervention with a provider. Data such as Falls, Pressure Ulcers, and medication incident 
s all contribute to the Dashboard. Reviewing current monitoring tools to make them more 
robust is a new priority and there is a program of regular Provider Forums to ensure there 
is regular engagement with the Market. 

Domestic Abuse – pressures with available housing / refuge.   

NCC Adult Safeguarding team experience significant barriers in accessing appropriate 
housing for citizens fleeing domestic abuse.  Capacity in Refuge accommodation is 
frequently severely restricted and citizens with care and support needs can often not be 
accommodated in Refuge environments.  Housing solutions are often hostel 
accommodation which is not normally a conducive environment for recovery for adults with 
care and support needs fleeing a domestic abuse situation.  The citizens will normally not 
require a 24-hour residential care placement and are not in need of this type of provision.  
This places very limited options for people to move to.  The risks are that the citizen will 
choose to return back to the perpetrator as their options are so limited and this is deemed 
to be more favourable than sofa surfing or hostel accommodation.  

Housing and Homelessness in Nottingham 

NCCASC have initiated strategic work with Nottingham City Council Housing Services to 
explore and address the pressures Adult Social Care face in accessing accommodation for 
citizens with health and social care needs who cannot be accommodated in the ‘traditional’ 
offer of hostel or bed and breakfast. This work forms part of our Care Quality Commission 
Action Plan 2024-5 and will be reported back to NCSAB. 

Prevention 

Early Intervention – Preventative Approaches  

The Training and Development Manager continues to lead the early-intervention 
multiagency hoarding panel. This initiative is aimed at supporting citizens to stay safe in 
their own homes and to prevent the need for statutory safeguarding intervention. This 
proactive approach demonstrates our commitment to early intervention and prevention, 
ensuring the safety and well-being of all citizens in their own homes. 

Training & Development  

The Adult Social Care Training and Development Team Manager regularly reviews the 
integration of Adult Safeguarding principles into all training delivered. To support continuous 
learning and maintain a skilled workforce, Nottingham City Adult Social Care continue to 
develop 7-Minute Briefings as a quick and simple way to share learning on a range of topics. 
The briefings provide a mixture of new information or a reminder of previously shared 
information with challenge questions for teams to think about the application to practice. We 
now have fifteen 7-minute briefings accessible to all staff. Some of the briefings, including 
on “Homelessness: Duty to refer,” have been jointly designed with colleagues from various 
departments across the council. 
 
Our latest Adult Social Care Newsletter template now features links to our Adult 
Safeguarding policy, toolkit, and resources. It also promotes upcoming internal and external 

Page 48



 

 
 

 37 

training opportunities, including the Equations Domestic Abuse Training. Our training offers 
are regularly reviewed to ensure that emerging themes are incorporated into our courses 
and updated frequently. This includes recent topics such as covert surveillance at home, 
professional curiosity, and unconscious bias in practice. 
 
We have collaborated with the Nottingham Fire and Rescue Service to conduct home safety 
courses for Adult Social Care staff. The most recent course was fully attended, reaching its 
maximum capacity. This is a testament to the value and relevance of these courses. 
 
Our Adult Safeguarding Training is conducted in collaboration with colleagues from the Adult 
Safeguarding team. This approach will foster shared learning experiences among 
colleagues who are involved in Adult Safeguarding enquiries which will enhance our 
collective knowledge and skills in this critical area 
 
Over the past 12 months, the Training and Development Team has conducted two sessions 
for elected councillors. The aim of these sessions is to facilitate the early detection of 
safeguarding concerns and to establish appropriate referral pathways. 
 
The Training and Development Manager has played a supportive role in reviewing the 
‘Improving Agencies’ Engagement with Service Users Framework’. This framework outlines 
a multi-agency approach to assist adults in Nottingham City who encounter challenges in 
engaging with services.  
 
In line with the council’s development of the new online citizen referral portal and the 
implementation of our new Strengths and Needs Assessment, the Training and 
Development Team has conducted a comprehensive review of all adult safeguarding 
contact points. This is to ensure that appropriate adult safeguarding processes are 
consistently applied throughout a citizen’s journey through adult social care. 

Assurance 

Care Quality Pilot Assessment 2023 

The Care Quality commission were given a new duty in the Care Act 2022 to assess how 
local authorities meet their duties under Part 1 of the Care Act (2014). Nottingham City 
Council volunteered to participate in a pilot assessment over the summer of 2023 along 
with 4 other Local Authorities.  

During the pilots, CQC applied 9 of their ‘quality statements’ to assess how well each local 
authority was meeting its responsibilities. This enabled the CQC to give an indicative rating 
ranging from ‘Outstanding/Good/Requires Improvement/Inadequate’.  

The Nottingham CQC Report and Rating were published on 17th November 2023 and the 
CQC reported that Nottingham City Council need to make improvements to ensure 
people have access to a good standard of adult social care and support.  As a department 
fully invested in a Transformation programme, the judgement was of no surprise as we 
had demonstrated to CQC through our self-assessment, an awareness of our position with 
strengths and areas for development. It was reassuring that through meeting social care 
managers and practitioner, citizens and stakeholders, the CQC came to the same 
conclusion as ourselves about two of the most important areas relating to Adult 
Safeguarding and Quality assurance; 

• Safeguarding 

‘I feel safe and am supported to understand and manage any risks’.  

Page 49



 

 
 

 38 

The CQC concluded that Adult Social Care was ‘good’ in this theme and ‘evidence 
shows a good standard’. They commented in their report Key Findings 

‘Staff who told us about safeguarding were very passionate about the work despite having 
some higher caseloads which could mean at times prioritising the more serious 
safeguarding cases over others. Positive risk taking was felt to be a strength of the team.  

They told us team management was fantastic with good opportunities to reflect, learn and 
the skills of their colleagues helped them develop. Feedback was that training and 
supervision was very good and a debrief was offered when they had worked on difficult 
cases.  

And; 

‘Partners told us about good preventative work happening, that they had good links with 
safeguarding teams and an open relationship with the local authority leadership team, who 
they described them as open, transparent, and willing to discuss issues’.  
 

• Learning, improvement and innovation  
 
CQC concluded that ‘Evidence shows a good standard’. Some of the key findings were; 
 
‘Support for staff training, development and career progression was positive’  
 
‘Career development was positive, training was generally good, but time was their biggest 
challenge. Support for Newly Qualified Social Workers was described as ‘excellent’. 
Workloads were good, they gave positive accounts of their induction training and of a good 
learning environment.’  

Adult Social Care has a CQC Action Plan to address the assessment findings. Both 
Safeguarding and Leadership, Training and Innovation form part of this plan with clearly 
identifiable actions to maintain and develop these very welcome conclusions  

The Mental Capacity Act 

The Mental Capacity Act training is a crucial component of the ‘core’ training for Adult Social 
Care colleagues and is conducted as a comprehensive one-day course. The Mental 
Capacity Act training course is reviewed after each session, allowing for continuous 
improvement and adaptation. Over the past 12 months, the course has been reviewed, 
developed, and revised. It includes substantial content on case law, legislation, and case 
scenarios for workers to consider. This iterative approach ensures that our training remains 
current, relevant, and effective in equipping our staff with the necessary knowledge and 
skills. 

Comprehensive reference to our Mental Capacity is incorporated into several of our 
policies, such as those related to Adult Safeguarding and Ordinary Residence. 

Appropriate Arrangements 

The City benefits from a dedicated City Safeguarding Team who undertake the majority of 
Safeguarding Enquiries. Due to the specialism, there are strong partnerships with 
Safeguarding Leads in other agencies across the City, which is evidenced through the 
local, bespoke partnership procedures we have developed, including Cause to Enquire. 
Provider Investigation, and Provider Failure.  

The City Safeguarding Team provide advice and support to colleagues undertaking 
Safeguarding Enquiries in other Adult Social Care Teams, and all colleagues can access 
the advice and guidance of the Adult Safeguarding Quality Assurance Team.  

Page 50



 

 
 

 39 

All colleagues receive supervision on a regular basis in accordance with our Supervision 
policy, and Safeguarding case discussion is a standing item. Within the City Safeguarding 
Team, a case audit is undertaken prior to supervision to provide assurance re practice and 
identify learning needs. A Quality Assurance Framework will be implemented in 2024 
which will ensure case audit is applied consistently across Adult Social Care and provide 
evidence of adhered to Safeguarding policy and Procedure, and application of the Mental 
Capacity Act where appropriate.  

Governance & Partnership 

Adult Social Care have a Head of Service for Adult Safeguarding & Quality Assurance who 
is formally recognised as the organisations ‘Safeguarding Adults Lead’. Within this service 
area, we have 2 Principal Social Workers with lead responsibilities Quality Assurance, 
Training & Development, and Strengths Based Practice development.  We are 
represented at the CSP Domestic Homicide Review Assurance & Learning Implementation 
Group and representation at the Safeguarding Adults Board and all subgroups. We are 
assured through this structure and through participation in internal and partnership forums 
that we are sighted on ‘all things safeguarding’, and that safeguarding is robustly 
embedded in decision making, escalation and working arrangements.   

Engagement 

CQC Assessment – Strengths Based Practice 

Making Safeguarding Personal extends beyond citizens who are subject to Safeguarding 
Procedures through the departments application of Strengths Based Practice, therefore it 
was reassuring that CQC sought citizen and staff feedback regarding how citizens felt in 
control and empowered through their contact with Adult Social Care, which can be seen as 
a preventative tool in reducing potential exposure to abuse and neglect. The Care Quality 
Commission commented in the theme; 

Summary of people’s experiences  
 

• ‘People overall were positive about the approach of front-line local authority staff with 
good relationships.’  

 

• ‘Staff worked to provide services to people which were flexible to their needs. For 
example, using direct payments to source care which was personalised.  
Staff took a ‘strengths based’ approach to social work practice where they focused 
on what people could do and their abilities, knowledge, and strengths. Staff told us 
they felt confident in using a strength-based approach in their practice’.  

Making Safeguarding Personal 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is integrated into both our Adult Safeguarding and 
Mental Capacity Act Training. The council has embraced the LGA Making Safeguarding 
Personal toolkit, which is available to all colleagues via our Adult Safeguarding Intranet 
Resources. 

Case examples of MSP are disseminated during our Safeguarding Training sessions. This 
is further bolstered by the participation of colleagues from the Adult Safeguarding Team, 
who are beginning to assist with the co-delivery of training. 

The 2024 Adult Social Care Training-Needs-Analysis, set to be completed in Autumn 
2024, will feature a dedicated section to assess the implementation of MSP in practice. 

 

Page 51



 

 
 

 40 

MSP Case Studies 

As an organisation, we feel the best method to demonstrate our commitment to MSP is 
through the Case Studies within this annual report.  

Emerging or Anticipated Organisational Risks 

On the 29 November 2023 the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources (Section 151 
Officer) issued a Section 114 Report, which immediately stopped all new activity which 
could incur expenditure, unless it gained explicit approved by the Section 151 Officer.  
Spend Controls remain in force, and as Adult Social Care holds the biggest budget in the 
Council, mainly due to purchasing services for citizens with health & social care needs, 
Adult Social Care is actively addressing savings targets for the forthcoming years. 
As part of this work, Adult Social Care will need to undergo Organisational redesign in 
2024/5. We will ensure that the Board will be sighted as appropriate, to provide assurance 
that our Safeguarding Duties and Responsibilities under the Care Act continue to be 
adhered to. 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

Following the completion of the work of the Mental Health Task & Finish group set up in 
late 2022 to address key concerns following the BBC’s panorama programme, the report 
on the outputs of the T&F group was presented to both Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire SAB’s in March 2023 to provide a framework against which to assure 
quality and safety in these settings. The key recommendations following this piece of work 
were pulled into an action plan identifying the best placed agencies to progress the 
actions. This included both statutory and voluntary agencies.  

Following a period of engagement with private providers of in-patient Mental Health beds 
and involvement of advocacy services a Mental Health Quality and Safety Group was 
established led by the ICB. This group meets in person and includes representatives from 
both local authority safeguarding teams, private providers, quality assurance, advocacy 
and commissioning teams. The meetings are held quarterly and chaired by the ICB in an 
‘informal’ host commissioner arrangement.  

The Adult Safeguarding Team have continued to be key stakeholders in working with the 
Community Safety Partnerships in both Nottingham & Nottinghamshire and the Police and 
Crime Commissioners Office to meet our statutory requirements under the Domestic 
Abuse Act (2021) and improve early identification, intervention, and outcomes for survivors 
of Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence. Through delegation of Quality Assurance 
responsibilities for Quality Assuring Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR’s) from NHS 
England, we identified a gap in involvement and notification of some DHR’s to both the 
ICB and health providers. This identified a gap in both information sharing and learning 
following reviews, so we have worked closely with Police colleagues and local Community 
Safety Partnership leads to develop pathways for reporting and requesting information and 
involvement in DHR’s for both the ICB safeguarding team and safeguarding leads across 
health.  

Following the implementation of the Domestic Abuse Act (2021) the offence of Non-Fatal 
Strangulation came into force in June 2022. Through NHSE funding the ICB developed in 
conjunction with key stakeholders and the guidance of IFAS (institute for addressing 
strangulation) an animation on non-Fatal Strangulation and its affects. Youtube Link 

Page 52

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fyoutu.be%2FAH0dsR-lDFo&data=05%7C01%7Cishbel.macleod%40nhs.net%7C86c5edbf59e447bb6c7808dbb53ab691%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638303036017006165%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=o1XIzkfQGahv0NYUMprsaN8cl6I4UYNyMV2uZOf%2Fmr8%3D&reserved=0


 

 
 

 41 

The Adult Safeguarding Team have been involved in escalation of risk due to the high 
number of MARAC cases being listed and the impact this is having across the health 
provider sector. Increasing MARAC’s and additional MARACs are putting pressure on 
existing teams and placing people at risk form domestic abuse at higher risk. We worked 
with health providers to look at a data and cost analysis of resource both on individual 
providers abut also on a cross provider level. This work has been paused pending the 
commencement of new processes in Nottingham City to hopefully reduce the number of 
full MARAC’s taking place, this should significantly decrease the number of MARAC’s 
health providers are required to attend and research, it is hoped that if successful a similar 
model may be rolled out across Nottinghamshire. 

The Adult Safeguarding Team have identified a lack of confidence across some CHC 
teams and GP services around application of the Mental Capacity Act and documenting 
decision making. We have continued to work with CHC teams to identify patients who are 
in receipt of NHS fully funded care packages and progress cases where Deprivation of 
Liberty is occurring through the Court of Protection for either authorisation under RE:X or 
Welfare orders as required. We identified a risk in relation to some community-based 
packages which were on held pending the implementation of Liberty Protection 
Safeguards, when this was further delayed. The Adult Safeguarding Team commenced a 
rolling training programme in relation to Mental Capacity act, Best Interest and Executive 
Functioning across all CHC teams, health providers and primary care. This rolling 
programme can be accessed online to maximise opportunity for attendance and attendees 
are sent case studies and questions to consider in advance of attendance which has 
ensured a more interactive approach to the sessions. The Adult Safeguarding Team have 
also undertaken a review of all CHC funded cases where Deprivation of Liberty may be 
occurring and have started to progress these cases through the Court of Protection. 

The NNICB Care Home and Home Care Quality Assurance team continue to make quality 
monitoring visits to homes where required. The team use a hybrid approach of face-to-face 
visits as well as virtually reviewing documents to ensure providers are progressing against 
their action plans. The team offer virtual support and guidance when requested by 
providers and will sign post as required. During outbreaks assurances are gained virtually 
by holding provider meetings and reviewing documents.   

One of the biggest risks to the home care market has been increased activity by the United 
Kingdom Visa and Immigration service (UKVI) who have suspended several sponsorship 
licenses for providers operating in and around Nottingham and Nottinghamshire following 
concerns about potential illegal activity and misuse of visas for overseas workers.  There 
has been a system agreement that for any suspensions that we are made aware of we will 
issue a joint contract suspension until UKVI have concluded their enquiries.  Due to the 
complexity of the concerns raised these enquiries can take some time which impacts on 
the providers ability to deliver care.  This has not impacted on ICB delivered care as we 
have sufficient providers on our framework. 

Risk is monitored via our Quality Concerns Log which then feeds into our Master Risk 
Matrix.  These are reviewed regularly by the individual quality officer for each home but 
also reviewed monthly within our team meeting.  Homes are RAG rated based on a 
number of factors including but not limited to the number of quality concerns, the number 
of EMAS call outs (particularly conveyance versus non conveyance) as this identifies if the 
home are using the service appropriately, number of falls and serious incidents.   

Prevention 

The NNICB sit as equal partners on both the Nottingham City and the Nottinghamshire 
SAB, with representation from the NNICB Chief nurse. Colleagues from the Adult 

Page 53



 

 
 

 42 

Safeguarding Team in the NNICB chair/co-chair or are representatives on all subgroups of 
the SAB’s.  
 
NNICB are proactively represent health providers at both the local and regional Prevent 
Board, work closely with the Police and Crime Commissioners office and Community 
Safety Partnerships to support with the development of the Violence Against Women and 
girls strategy, embedding of the statutory duties under the Domestic Abuse Act (2021) and 
the Serious Violence Duty which came into force from March 2023.  
 
The NNICB has continued to provide and deliver updates and support to Primary Care 
through our GP Leads programme, TeamsNet and Provider forums. These continue to be 
provided ‘virtually’ as following Covid we identified a ‘virtual’ approach significantly 
increased attendance. As part of the GP Leads sessions there are a minimum of 2 session 
per year with a focus on adult safeguarding which includes sharing and embedding 
learning from statutory reviews. We have seen a year-on-year increase in attendance at 
these sessions due to the virtual nature of the delivery.   
 
We have also provided 6 Protected Learning Time sessions which have been delivered to 
all GPs across Nottingham & Nottingham. This year’s sessions have focussed solely on 
Adult Safeguarding having previously been very much Children and Young people 
focused. We have had external providers delivering these covering Suicide, Self-Harm, 
Mental Health in Menopause, FGM reporting and Mental Capacity and executive 
Functioning.   
 
We have reviewed Safeguarding Policy and procedure in line with the reviewing schedule 
and have worked with HR to review the Domestic Abuse Policy and Procedure, which as 
well as detailing support for survivors also as a section on supporting perpetrators in line 
with best practice.  
 
NNICB adult safeguarding team has been involved in Transitional Safeguarding work 
alongside our Safeguarding Children’s team and Looked After Children Designated in line 
with local progress made in this area.  
 

Assurance 
NNICB have a robust structure of governance. The Safeguarding and Public Protection 
Assurance Group (SPPAG) meets bimonthly and continues to be chaired by NNICB. This 
includes attendance and reporting by both community and acute health partners and 
representatives from both local authorities. The SPPAG is the ICS assurance group for 
health providers and this feeds into the Quality & People Committee and ultimately the ICB 
Board.  
 
As an individual organisation the ICB also reports into the Designated Professionals and 
Chief Nurse meeting, and this is where we examine our internal safeguarding 
arrangements and highlight and mitigate any risks. As a ICB we remain compliant with all 
our statutory duties in relation to the Care Act (2014) & Statutory guidance and monitoring 
of statutory reviews is via the NHSE Safeguarding Statutory Review case tracker. NNICB 
are also measured through their submission for the NHSE Safeguarding Commissioning 
Assurance Tool which was submitted in April 24, this is a self-assessment RAG rating tool 
completed by the NNICB in relation to meeting its statutory duties under safeguarding. In 
addition to this NHSE carry out “assurance conversations” with the Chief Nurse and 
Assistant Director of Safeguarding. These conversations focus upon the ICB Heat Map 

Page 54



 

 
 

 43 

returns that are submitted to NHSE on a quarterly basis. NHSE base these upon emerging 
national key themes. The Heat Map for 23 -24 was about the development and maturity of 
Mental Capacity and deprivation of Liberty Safeguards within the ICS which Nottingham & 
Nottinghamshire ICB were able to evidence that we were fully compliant with by Quarter 3. 
 
The NNICB are actively represented on all SAB subgroups, this has ensured consistency 
across both Nottingham City and Nottinghamshire in relation to shared learning, 
implementation and embedding following statutory reviews.  

We continue to monitor training compliance across NNICB for safeguarding adults in line 
with requirements set out in the intercollegiate document and are meeting requirements on 
all training levels. Currently mandatory safeguarding training compliance across the ICB 
sits at 96%.  
 
Across both City and County Councils there are embedded processes for the sharing of 
information to include quality and safeguarding concerns.  These meetings have an MDT 
approach and there will be representation from IPC, Medications Management, the CQC, 
Healthwatch as well as Local Authority and Care Home Quality teams.  These meetings 
are also used to share good practice and notify colleagues of improvements where made.   

The Care Home and Home Care Dashboard continues to be utilised by partner 
agencies.  Data streams continue to be added which are reviewed on a regular 
basis.  This information continues to be used across the system to identify areas of 
concern, prioritise resources and support providers.  

Integration between the ICB and Local Authority continues under the Joint Group Manager 
covering both the ICB and the County Council Quality and Market Management Teams.  IT 
systems continue to be a challenge but there is a much greater level of sharing including 
weekly market risk meetings which review risk at a system level and also a weekly ‘Ageing 
Well’ risk review meeting where individual safeguarding and quality concerns are reviewed 
at a granular level.  

Both LA’s and the NNICB have been working collaboratively to agree a Quality Monitoring 
Framework that will be used to assess the quality of care across all homes.  The content 
has been agreed and the final version will be published shortly across all 
organisations.  This will ensure providers will have a clear picture of commissioner 
expectations in relation to quality-of-service delivery. 

Engagement 

MSP has been on the Quality Schedule for NHS Providers for the past 5 years and they 
are required to give assurance to NNICB as to how MSP is being delivered within their 
individual organisations.  

NNICB has several internal teams that work directly with our patients. All receive 
safeguarding training which includes Making Safeguarding Personal. All patient facing 
teams have received enhanced MSP training in the last 2 years.  

Mental Capacity Act (2005) has also been rolled out across all relevant staff and Primary 
care as part of the programme of training in preparation for LPS implementation. We have 
previously matched Mental Capacity Training with certain job profiles to make it mandatory 
for the role, this sits within out ESR system to ensure compliance.   

The Adult Safeguarding Team have a rolling programme of Mental Capacity Act training 
which is available to both ICB practitioners, and those in Primary Care and provider 
organisations, which can be adapted to meet the needs of those in attendance and covers 

Page 55



 

 
 

 44 

both application and documenting use of the MCA but also Best Interest Decision making, 
executive functioning & court of Protection processes.   

When NNICB are leading on submitting a case to the Court of Protection for consideration, 
NNICB will ensure that the adult and where appropriate their family have access to 
advocacy services. Where required we will fund the cost of the official solicitor to ensure all 
patients receive proper representation and the Court are fully sighted on the outcomes the 
individual wishes not just those of statutory agencies involved.  

Nottingham CityCare 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

MARAC: 

Historically, safeguarding sat within the 0-19 service at Nottingham CityCare Partnership 
(NCCP), consequently only children’s information has been shared at MARAC.  The Head 
of Safeguarding identified this as a risk and instigated the sharing of adult information 
immediately to prevent the risk being added to the risk register.  Although this initially 
created a lengthier process this has been adjusted and streamlined and mitigates the risk. 

Despite this extra sharing of information, the volume of work MARAC creates has been 
escalated across the health Integrated Care System.   

Mitigation strategies include: 

• Immediate implementation of adult case being researched, and relevant information 
shared.  

• NCCP have contributed to the review of Nottingham City MARAC process. Our 
Specialist Practitioner for Domestic Abuse is participating in task and finish groups 
to enable implementation. Each health provider has completed a mapping exercise 
to calculate the time and cost of MARAC over the year.   

• The Head of Safeguarding is a member of the Task and Finish group led by the ICB 
and including health providers across the ICS addressing the workload and cost 
related to MARAC.  Coincidentally this has ran in parallel to the MARAC Review in 
the City with the new process to commence in October 2024. 

Training compliance: 

Safeguarding training was placed on the organisational risk register in 2022 in respect of 
low compliance levels. Safeguarding training delivery and availability within NCCP was 
reviewed in January 2024.  The NCCP inhouse safeguarding training offer only consisted of 
face-to-face training for all levels of safeguarding requirements dependent to role.   

Safeguarding training within the organisation has been reviewed to align with both the 
Core Skills framework and the Intercollegiate documents for Safeguarding Children (RCN, 
2019) and Safeguarding Adults (RCN, 2018) there have been some changes to the offer. 

Prior to January 2024 all NCCP safeguarding training was delivered solely on a face-to-face 
basis by the safeguarding team.  

E-Learning for level 1 safeguarding children and adults for non-clinical staff has now been 
introduced as part of the induction. To ensure visibility of the safeguarding team at day one 
of the induction, members of the safeguarding team hold a stand in the marketplace. 

The safeguarding team continue to deliver face to face safeguarding training on day 2 of the 
induction to all clinical staff; staff working predominantly with adults receive safeguarding 
adults and safeguarding children’s both at level 2. 

Page 56



 

 
 

 45 

For maintaining competencies (required 3 yearly), eLearning is now available at level 2 for 
safeguarding children and adults as an alternative to face-to-face training, this gives clinical 
staff the option of adopting a ‘blended approach’ when they are required to update their 
training. 

For specialist subjects such as domestic abuse and the Mental Capacity Act, training 
remains face to face at induction, with the option of e-learning or a face-to-face session after 
3 years. 

Safeguarding training compliance at the end of Q.4 (2023/24) is now 90% hitting the 
organisational target.  The plan is to remove this item from the risk register following Q.1 
(2024/25) compliance to assure consistent compliance. 

The safeguarding team are up to date with their recommended levels of training as guided 
by the Intercollegiate Documents. Those outstanding attended level 4 safeguarding training 
in November 2023.  New starters are booked onto planned level 4 training in 2024/25. 

CityCare electronic staff record has also been cleansed supported by the education 
department as it was suspected some staff members had been allocated the incorrect level 
of safeguarding training.  All employees should now be allocated the correct level of training 
for their role and communications have been circulated for staff to check their own training 
records.   

Safeguarding Supervision for the wider adult workforce: 

There has been an increase in the number of cases where there are complex needs 
instigating high levels of risk (homelessness, substance misuse, mental health issues, 
domestic abuse). We circulate learning from SARs, send out quarterly updates, update our 
intranet pages, share new guidance but practitioners require protected time to discuss, 
reflect and then embed these changes into their practice, particularly in light of all the other 
changes that have occurred within adult services (proposed nursing cap / PSIRF / 
InPhase). Practitioners receive management supervision, but feedback anecdotally is that 
safeguarding is not covered within these 1:1’s.  

NCCP recognise that adult services are working with increasing levels of complexity in the 
community. 

All District Nursing students now have a placement within the safeguarding team, which 
includes information in relation to the role and function of the SAB / SARs.  

The Safeguarding Team are in the process of devising a ‘Supervision Framework’ for adult 
services and plan to offer supervision to community nursing colleagues in the first 
instance. Rolling this out more widely would have resource implications for the 
safeguarding service.  

NCCP have a safeguarding practitioner attend both the SERAC and the Hoarding Pilot 
Project on a monthly basis, information is shared at these forums as required.  

Safeguarding and MCA drop ins for adult community nursing and specialist services 
continue and the safeguarding team has recently moved to the Meadows Health Centre 
which has increased visibility of the safeguarding team within adult services. See 
‘Safeguarding Champions’ in section B. 

NCCP are signed up to the charter Sexual Safety Charter.  There have been 
communications to the organisation and links circulated in the NCCP weekly newsletter.  
This will also be an addition to the ‘Allegations Against Staff policy’ which is currently 
under review and update. 

 

Page 57



 

 
 

 46 

 

Quality Assurance Framework for adult safeguarding and performance measures 
and indicators: 

The Strategic Safeguarding Group was developed and introduced in February 2024.  This 
enhances safeguarding within the NCCP governance process.  This meeting is chaired by 
the Director of Nursing who is the Executive Lead for safeguarding within the organisation.  
There is representation from heads of service across the organisation along with ICB 
representation.  The safeguarding quarterly report is ratified here along with relevant policy 
and feeds into the Quality Committee.  There is no specific performance measure and 
indicator requirement, but the report contains performance data providing safeguarding 
assurance to the organisation and ICB. 

Prevention 

Staff:  

The safeguarding service is a mix of adult and children’s practitioners. Roles relating to 
adult services include:  

• Safeguarding Adults and MCA Lead 

• New Named Nurse / Head of Safeguarding 

• 1 full time equivalent (2 x PT practitioners) to support adult workload. These 
practitioners have been in place since June and October 2023 respectively.  

We have staff with formal lead responsibilities in MCA & DoLS / Prevent / Domestic 
Abuse.  

At NCCP, prevention takes place in the context of person-centred support, with the aim that 
individuals are empowered to make choices and manage risks safely. We place emphasis 
on everybody having a role to play in preventing abuse and neglect and we work with a 
Think Family ethos, underpinning all safeguarding work. 

The Safeguarding Lead has strong links with Safeguarding Leads in other agencies across 
the city, working together to ensure that a multi-agency partnership approach is embedded 
across Nottingham City in relation to the Adult Safeguarding agenda. 

The Strategic Safeguarding meeting (commenced in February 2024) This group provides 
leadership and strategic direction for maintaining, developing and implementing safe and 
reliable safeguarding systems and processes within NCCP. 

NCCP is a member of Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board. The Director of Nursing, 
Allied Health Professionals and Quality attends this meeting, with the Named Nurse, Head 
of Safeguarding deputising. 

We are represented at all 3 subgroups to the Board (TLI / QA and SAR) and ensure that 
learning from the Board, from SARs, DHRs and Coroners cases are communicated to 
colleagues via learning events and 7-minute briefings. Information sharing and responses 
to requests are always completed in a timely manner.  

Safeguarding Champions: 

Historically NCCPs ‘safeguarding champions’ have attended quarterly meetings facilitated 
by the safeguarding team and then acted as link workers, promoting expected and best 
practice and cascading relevant information and learning to their teams. Whilst this approach 
was liked, it met the needs of a few rather than the needs of many and not all adult services 
had the capacity to release staff to attend. 

A proposal has been made that looks to replace the Safeguarding Champions offer within 

Page 58



 

 
 

 47 

adult services with face to face ‘Safeguarding Briefing Sessions’, which would involve a 
safeguarding practitioner attending a team meeting for each adult service, on a quarterly 
basis. The safeguarding practitioner would raise awareness of any new policies, guidance, 
learning and facilitate a Q&A session. Safeguarding is everybody’s business, and the new 
proposal will allow all staff members to have the opportunity to be upskilled. 

Safeguarding duty line for discussion and support regarding complex cases: 

The Safeguarding adult and children’s practitioners, all provide safeguarding advice via 
our “duty telephone advice line”. This operates Monday to Friday between 8:30am-5:00pm 
and is available to all staff who have a complex case or have identified safeguarding 
concerns in their practice.  

Advice given by the Safeguarding service is regularly dip tested for quality monitoring 
purposes and key emerging themes and trends are identified on a monthly basis, which 
helps to form the basis of guidance, resources and training provided to staff via our 
bitesize learning packages. 
 
Patient records and data collection:  
In April 2023, following an extensive project with Nottinghamshire Health Informatics 
Service (NHIS) and our Business Support Team, A ‘Safeguarding Unit’ was launched on 
SystmOne and the Safeguarding Team began routinely documenting their advice and 
communications relating to patients directly in this unit as opposed to the unit from the 
referring NCCP service. This has facilitated in depth data collection around the direct work 
the adult services are undertaking and reflects how our safeguarding activity is impacting 
and supporting front line work. It is anticipated that this will enable the service to readily 
identify themes and adapt training, communications, and supervision in a more responsive 
way.  
 
Templates on SystmOne: 
All adult services on SystmOne have templates relating to MCA, best interests and 
safeguarding on the clinical tree. There has been extensive communication with the adult 
workforce in relation to the importance of recording on the templates. ‘How To’ guides 
have been completed for each of the templates and adult practitioners have facilitated 
demonstration sessions over MS Teams to assist practitioners in familiarising themselves 
with the new templates. Use of the templates has improved record keeping, with staff 
capturing safeguarding concerns more consistently and ensuring that concerns are viewed 
cumulatively, rather than in isolation.  
 
Policies and guidance: 
All standard operating procedures, pathways, guidance, and support for staff promote an 
early intervention approach to safeguarding practice and are overarched by the Local 
Authority multi-agency guidance and procedures for safeguarding.  

All policies, procedure, guidance in ratified via the Clinical Policy Approval Group (CPAG). 
All documents are shared with the Safeguarding and MCA Lead prior to ratification to 
ensure consideration of safeguarding and MCA. All policies are available to the workforce 
via the POD (intranet). Regular reviews are built in for all documents.  
 
The Safeguarding Adult’s Standard Operating Procedure was reviewed and replaced with 
a Safeguarding Adults policy in October 2023. The policy now provides an internal 
framework for the identification and response to adult abuse and provides guidance for the 
implementation of inter-agency procedures for the protection of adults at risk.  

Page 59



 

 
 

 48 

The MCA is fully referenced within all policies and procedures relating to adult 
safeguarding. 

Non concordance with recommended care 

The above Guidance document has been ratified at the Clinical Policy Approval Group and 

is available for Practitioners on the POD and also via a link on their SystmOne unit. The 

purpose of the change is to ensure that we are working in line with the Nottingham City 

Improving Agencies’ Engagement with Service Users Framework. The Non-Concordance 

document contains guidance on actions for professionals to take, a template for a letter to 

be sent to patients who continue to decline recommended treatment, and a flow chart to 

guide practitioners thinking and documentation around incapacitous Vs unwise decisions.   

Domestic abuse  
Guidance has been developed to support staff to undertake domestic abuse enquiries and 
complete appropriate referrals. This has been added as an appendix to the CityCare 
Domestic Abuse Policy. Practitioners also have access to 2 voice over PowerPoint 
presentations available on our safeguarding pages of the intranet that cover the domestic 
abuse referral process and routine enquiry.  

PiPoT 
Although PiPoT and information to support it has been circulated throughout the 
organisation further work is needed around this. It is not fully embedded in practice and at 
times misinterpreted.  The Allegations Against Staff policy is currently in review and will 
include more information around PiPOT.  As an organisation we would need to investigate 
and make the LA aware where appropriate.  
 
Prevent policy / pathway 
This guidance is currently being re-written in the form of a policy due to go to the internal 
policy group (CPAG) in April 2024. 

Assurance 

The Director of Nursing, Allied Health Professionals and Quality holds executive 
responsibility for safeguarding adults within the organisation. The executive leads 
responsibilities and the Named Nurse, Head of Safeguarding responsibilities are clearly 
set out in their job descriptions. 

Recruitment:  

NCCP has a recruitment policy and procedure in place.  All staff working with children, young 
people and adults are required to undertake an enhanced DBS check prior to commencing 
employment. Clinical staff are not permitted to start in post until checks have been returned.  
NCCP staff are required to renew DBS checks on a 3 yearly cycle in line with good practice 
guidance.  Monthly reports from Workforce are sent to managers, highlighting professional 
registration renewal dates. Staff are expected to adhere to a code of conduct for any 
professional body that they are a member of and NCCP ensures that all staff are aware of 
their personal responsibility to raise safeguarding concerns as well as ensuring that poor 
practice is identified. There is a section regarding safeguarding roles and responsibilities is 
included for all employees in the job specifications and contracts. All staff are required to 
undertaken mandatory training which is a combination of e-learning and face to face 
dependant on role / level of training required.   

Training at the induction (for all new starters) and the 3 yearly refresher training includes 
information on all different types of abuse and neglect, how to recognise and report a 

Page 60



 

 
 

 49 

safeguarding concern, consideration of the importance of effective risk assessment, risk 
management, multi-agency working.  As already documented NCCP are now offering a 
blended approach to safeguarding training. NCCP monitor attendance of staff at training 
events by recording all training on the “ESR” system.  Feedback and evaluation is required 
after all face to face training offered.   

NCCP have an ‘Allegations Against Staff Policy’ which is utilised where any allegation is 
made against a member of staff working with children, young people, or adults at risk. This 
policy is currently being updated and due for submission in April 2024.  All allegations 
against staff are reported to the Named Nurse/Head of Safeguarding and the Executive 
Lead for Safeguarding in line with the policy and statutory requirements to enable 
appropriate risk assessment and management plan where there has been an allegation.  

The Safeguarding Service provides a “duty phone advice line” which is a single point of 
access to all aspects of safeguarding to ensure that staff can access specialist support and 
be sign posted to the correctly identified lead where appropriate. The duty service is 
available to all staff and well known and utilised throughout the organisation. In addition to 
this, we provide targeted “drop in” visits to teams to provide support around complex cases. 

Safeguarding templates on the electronic patient record allow us to report on safeguarding 
activity.  There are bitesize training sessions and ‘how to guides’ on templates (MCA / BI 
and Safeguarding adults – including use of the national node).  
 
The Safeguarding team ensure the workforce is fully informed of new documents, locally 
and national, learning and changes in practice by issuing Quarterly updates, 
Intranet pages, NCCP Facebook page, emails and team meetings.  The team are thinking 
more creatively about sharing learning therefore social media platforms are being 
introduced. 
  
There have been some partnership changes re: Domestic abuse referrals and pathways.  
The ‘DART’ no longer exists as a service, but all referrals got to social care and are 
assessed on an individual basis ensuring referral to adults if threshold/criteria is met.  As 
part of the current MARAC review the DASH RIC is being updated and streamlined. All 
these changes will be reflected in updated NCCP policies. 
 
NCCP is introducing a new way to report incidents and how we learn from them. PSIRF is 
a new framework which focusses more on learning and systems to avoid apportioning 
blame.  This will instigate a change in governance processes and meetings for a more 
effective process and outcomes.  

Community Nursing is our largest staff cohort within adult services. A large proportion of 
the care provided by this group of staff relates to wound care / pressure ulcers. The DoH 
Pressure Ulcer Protocol is applied at PSIRF triage panels to consider whether an adult 
safeguarding response is required.  The Safeguarding Lead reviews all protocols that 
achieve a score of 15 or above and raises a safeguarding concern with the relevant LA 
where appropriate. NCCP complete the S.42 enquiry on behalf of the LA where this is 
requested.  

Complex patient meeting: 

Staff can access additional supervision, bring complex cases for discussion at our internal 
Complex Patient Panel, where there is representation from senior management, health and 
safety, safeguarding, quality, tissue viability and any other specialist services required to 
ensure there is a joined up supportive approach to early intervention and prevention.  

Page 61



 

 
 

 50 

Removal of MCA from the risk register: 

MCA practice was placed on our organisational risk register in January 2021, concerns were 
predominantly around training compliance and practice issues such as inconsistencies in 
recording, failure to recognise the need for an assessment or not moving on to make a best 
interest’s decision. The Quality Committee selected MCA for external audit by 360 
Assurance in May 2022. The Safeguarding and MCA Lead had an existing 5-year plan in 
place at the time that comprehensively identified practice issues and solutions. It was agreed 
with 360 Assurance that the audit would focus on policies, guidance, training, reporting and 
escalation. 360 Assurance initial findings offered limited assurance regarding practice and 
processes but full assurance about the efficacy of the MCA plan.  

By the end of May 2023, the following actions had been implemented: 

• MCA SOP replaced with the ‘Consent to Treatment and MCA Policy’. 

• Extended face to face and bespoke training implemented as required. 

• The MCA forum was replaced with MCA drop-in sessions or Q&A sessions.  

• All MCA and BI templates were revised to allow for proportionate recording of MCA 

and BI decisions (text boxes replacing tick boxes).  

• Adoption of Microsoft business intelligence to provide organisational ability to report 

upon and distinguish between those with capacity from those lacking capacity and 

whether a subsequent BI decision was made.  

• The introduction of a monthly consent to treatment and MCA audit looking at the legal 

basis for clinical interventions (see MCA audit). 

 
MCA will always present a challenge. NCCP provides care and support to increasingly 
complex patients, so staff knowledge and understanding must continually be refreshed and 
developed. Removal from the risk register is not a declaration of perfection, poor practice 
remains a possibility, but these new system and governance processes considerably reduce 
that likelihood. 
 
Having robust reporting processes and KPI measures will allow us to confidently recognise 
early indicators of potentially declining quality, so that remedial action, including a return to 
the risk register, can be quickly taken. This is a continual cycle of review and evaluation. 
Our next step will be piloting the upskilling of clinical service managers & district nurses to 
provide effective MCA case management advice and support (see Safeguarding Adults 
supervision). 
 
MCA audit: 

The purpose of the MCA audit is to establish if people who lack capacity to consent to their 
care and treatment are consistently and appropriately identified and to establish if 
practitioners are adequately recording the legal basis for their interventions (consent or 
MCA). Where an MCA assessment has been completed, this has provided the opportunity 
to look at the quality of those assessments and identify any areas of strength or conversely 
areas that require improvement.     

The monthly audit commenced in May 2023 and is completed by the Lead Practitioner for 
Safeguarding Adults and MCA with the support of a Safeguarding and MCA Practitioner. In 
essence, the audit establishes whether there is any indication in the records that the 
patient’s capacity to make decisions regarding their care and treatment should be 
considered and if so, whether an MCA assessment was completed.   

Page 62



 

 
 

 51 

The current MCA audit does not only look at those cases where an MCA assessment has 
been completed; it looks at all cases. Taking this approach allows us to be assured that 
patients who may lack the capacity to make decisions are consistently and appropriately 
identified, i.e., we can see if staff recognise that they need to complete a mental capacity 
assessment.  
 
15 patient records are reviewed each month from a different specialist service or nursing 
PCN. 7 patients are selected at random from the main caseload and 8 patients are selected 
via the MCA Microsoft Business Intelligence report. 

The audit examines the process of gaining valid consent as well as assessing capacity. A 
range of documentation within the patent record is examined (not just the MCA template) 
to ensure consistency of practice and establish whether there is any indication in the 
records that the patient’s capacity to make decisions regarding their care and treatment 
should be considered and if so, whether an MCA assessment was completed. Where an 
MCA assessment has been evidenced, the audit looks at whether the relevant information 
was presented to the patient and whether the level of evidence recorded is proportionate 
to the complexity of the decision in question.  
 
Community Deprivation of Liberty (DoL): 

We have a designated Court of Protection Officer attached to our Continuing HealthCare 
Team, who works closely with the ICB in order to progress community based fully funded 
(CHC) support and care packages where a Deprivation of Liberty is occurring through the 
Court of Protection for either authorisation under RE:X or welfare orders as required.  

Quality Assurance processes and governance:  

NCCP has internal and external governance processes and lines of escalation.   

ICS Safeguarding & Public Protection Assurance Group (SPPAG) is a multi-agency 
safeguarding assurance group, it provides a structure for health providers to give 
safeguarding assurance and it feeds into the ICB Board. It is attended by the Named 
Nurse / Head of Safeguarding.   

Freedom to speak up (FTSU): 
 
NCCP supports Freedom to Speak up with a policy, lead professional, guardians and 
champions across the organisation.  Policies and procedures to support staff formally 
should they identify a need to report concerns include the complaints procedure, 
Grievance Policy or Dignity at Work: Prevention of Bullying and Harassment Policy. 
Our Freedom to Speak Up Guardian and Champions are responsible for providing an 
independent, objective ear for all workers who wish to raise a concern which they feel 
cannot be dealt with informally with the manager. FTSU has is promoted across the 
organisation. 

Engagement 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) underpins all our adult safeguarding policies and 
procedures, training, safeguarding supervision and advice. We have also provided 
additional guidance to staff on our safeguarding intranet to further support practice in this 
regard. MSP aligns with the principle of person-centred care which is a thread that should 
run throughout all healthcare interventions and staff are encouraged to talk to adults and 
establish their wishes and feelings and to ascertain what they would like to happen when 
safeguarding concerns are identified.  

Page 63



 

 
 

 52 

New Non-Concordance with recommended care focuses on overcoming barriers to 
engagement and working with adults who make unwise decisions – people who disengage 
or refuse elements of a service. How we can create person centred care plans to meet 
needs.  

The Making Safeguarding Personal survey was circulated across the organisation. 
Unfortunately, we received a low return rate.  Although not clarified anecdotal evidence 
suggests this could be due to survey fatigue and other demands on the workforce.  

All safeguarding practitioners who cover the Safeguarding Duty line have access to 
resources and promote MSP during advice calls and have access to resources to share 
with practitioners.   

Carers Federation 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

Identified risks include: 

• Implementation of a new carers contract in October. Changes for carers can be 
difficult, so there becomes a risk of carers not wanting to access a service with new 
provider, or not giving consent to transfer information over to the new provider. This 
means they do not access support.  

• Service delivery can be a risk due to supply and demand. Due to aging population 
and individual care needs, this can automatically bring on caring responsibilities 
within the home setting. This in turn creates waiting times for individual to access 
support from the Carers Hub.  

• Ensuring website/resources are accessible to various cultural needs/languages and 
disabilities.  

• Recruitment drive in a new service – ensuring recruitment is covered and in line 
with safety measures/GDPR/Disclosure and barring processes. Until fully recruited, 
this impacts on service delivery.  

• Ongoing monitoring of various trends in terms of carers and those being cared for 
with additional needs. These include hoarding, Mental Health, Dementia and 
various other conditions and environmental issues that impact on individuals and 
families. Many carers may live with or would be in the category of Severe and 
Multiple Disadvantage. This may be due to isolation, reliance on alcohol or 
substance use, mental ill health, or domestic abuse. They are generally physically, 
emotionally, and mentally unwell.  As part of this, there are concerns for carers and 
those they are caring for being subject to cuckooing. It’s about trying to keep them 
safe.  

• For the Board to have a better understanding of carers and the impact/pressure 
carers are constantly under. We would recommend carer awareness training to 
Board members and wider agencies. 

Mitigation strategies include: 

• Partnership working with a variety of agencies.  

• Offering a variety of service support for those carers on the waiting list, including 
access to information, advice and guidance alongside carer groups. 

• Developed a tier process to identify those at most risk of harm of carer impact on 
their own mental health, physical health and emotional wellbeing. 

• Robust recruitment process inhouse support by HR, and an established link with 
Nottinghamshire County Council for disclosure and barring processes. 

Page 64



 

 
 

 53 

• Robust policies that are reviewed on a yearly basis. These include Safeguarding, 
Whistleblowing, GDPR etc. 

• Safer recruitment training for all staff involved in recruitment. 

• Ongoing reviews of the service through quarterly monitoring meetings with 
commissioners. 

• Links with various groups with representation from Health & Social Care, Local 
Authorities and Voluntary Sector Services.  

• Carers Federation have representation on the Safeguarding Adults Board for 
Nottingham City.  

• Circulate training for staff relevant to their post and to safeguarding.  

• Trained Designated Safeguarding Leads in all areas of the organisation. 

Prevention 

Carers Federation and the Carers Hub service are commissioned to provide holistic 
support to unpaid carers living within and across Nottingham city/county. As part of service 
delivery, the Carers Hub are committed and commissioned to work closely with local 
authorities providing carers assessments, identifying carers at risk of safeguarding due to 
caring responsibilities, reducing or mitigating risk through carers statutory assessment and 
other agency involvement to ensure support provided links in with the Care Act (2014).  
 
For 2023/2024, our prevention work included: 
 

• Ongoing partnership working with a variety of agencies both universal and 
voluntary, train GP champions within City and County GP surgeries. 

• Identifying respite needs. 

• Ensuring a holistic assessment to identify cared for needs and risks (Early 
Intervention Approach). 

• Completing carers risk assessments and emergency plans with carers. 

• Carers Federation representation on Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board 
and County subgroup. We are supporting the Board to become more aware of 
unpaid/hidden carers and the impact caring has on individuals who are unsupported 
i.e. accessing additional support through various relevant agencies. 

• Introducing the Carers Strategy to Safeguarding Adults Boards and partners to 
raise the profile of the carer strategy and unpaid carers voices.  

• Staff receive regular supervisions and appraisals to identify training gaps. 

• Carers Federation have their own in house adult safeguarding training/DOLS 
training/GDPR/Care Act training. Carers accessing the service are also able to 
access safeguarding training.  

• Identifying outside agency training and bespoke training relevant to cultural change 
and service delivery. 

• Team meetings to highlight safeguarding issues/challenging cases or successful 
outcomes. 

• Development of transitional group for Young Carers aged between 16-18yrs, linking 
in with young Carers services. 

• Currently working with the following group to represent hard to reach groups: 
 - BAME community 
 - Deaf community 
 - My sight for those carers or cared for with visual impairment 
 - Farmers 
 - Young adult carers 

Page 65



 

 
 

 54 

 - Working carers  
 - Sibling carers 
 - Asian women 

• Carers Federation played an active part in the NCSAB 2024 development day in 
January, with particular focus on helping to shape the new Comms & Engagement 
strategy. 

• In 2024/25, we will support the Board to better engage with the public and groups 
with lived experience.   

Assurance 

All staff within the organisation complete a full enhanced DBS before being employed. 
Board members and senior management also undergo full DBS enhance checks in line 
with safer recruitments processes.  

As part of the recruitment process all staff must give two referees before being employed, 
and all recruitment is managed by HR recruitment. 

Safeguarding policies are regularly reviewed by the CEO and adapted in line with 
local/national safeguarding standards.  

Having representation on the Safeguarding Adults Board enables Carers Federation to 
embed any learning within their practices and share information to ensure staff are 
upskilled and aware of changes/challenges/identified difficulties.  

Within the organisation there are three safeguarding leads and a clear process around 
disclosure and reporting of safeguarding concerns.  

The Care Act and Mental Capacity Act are both embedded within the induction process for 
staff and Carers Federation deliver in house Adult Safeguarding training, Care Act training 
and DOLS training.  

As part of our training, we deliver level four Advocacy training and Quality Standard 
training to higher education and health to support with identifying and supporting Young 
Adult Carers and Carers in general.  

Carers Federation adhere to CHAS (Contract Health Assessment Scheme) requirements 
on a yearly basis, which is an in-house quality manual updated yearly. We work in line with 
City & Guilds requirement through the delivery of Advocacy level 2 and level 4 
qualifications.  

Carers Federation carry out internal audits of all services on a yearly basis. Outcomes are 
discussed as part of management meetings and any identified risk factors dealt with within 
a suitable time frame before being signed off by a qualified internal auditor.  

Engagement 

Carers Federation is a person-led organisation for adult carers, and all assessments are 
carried out by ensuring the carer has a voice and can contribute to identifying needs, risks 
and support.  

Carers are given the option to complete either online or face to face feedback, which is 
embedded within the service and therefore supports the service to further develop to 
ensure it is person centred.   

All feedback is quantified and reported back to commissioners and local authorities. 

The Care Act and Mental Capacity Act are both referenced within our safeguarding 
policies. 

Page 66



 

 
 

 55 

Communities 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

Community Protection 

Community Protection Officers 

Out of hours checks on behalf of adult services continue and are increasing. The Modern-
Day Slavery and Exploitation team continue to make real time referrals, using the digital 
referral tool, which has seen an increase in cases and improved governance. The 
Community Protection teams are in the midst of a significant staffing reduction and service 
redesign, which will impact the deliverance of all its services and core offers.  

A new reactionary working model will be implemented to ensure reactive demand 
management. This will allow for urgent referrals to be prioritised where possible. A revised 
specialist team will carry out the bulk of any safeguarding, safe and well checks or out of 
hours checks, to ensure continuity and appropriate management of cases. 

Anti-Social Behaviour team 

The ASB team has changed its procedure in line with the Council’s hybrid operational 
model therefore there are a reduced number of visits conduced; but low-level visits should 
still be completed by CPOs or Nottingham City Housing Services. Risk mitigation in regard 
to missed visited is that this is covered in partnership with CPOs, Nottingham City Housing 
Services and Nottinghamshire Police. Safeguarding checks are completed at this stage 
and referrals made when needed to the gateway and/or adult social care. 

Community Safety 

Community Safety Team – Violence against women and girls and domestic and 
sexual violence and abuse (NCSP)  

The key issues and mitigations impacting our workstream including safeguarding adults 
are as follows: 

Risk  Mitigation  Measure  Resource  

Demand  VAWG Strategy and 
various Needs 
Assessments have 
been commissioned  

Data is collected 
to understand 
demand and how 
much can be met  

Further resources 
are required right 
across the sector.  

DHR DHR’s are a Statutory 
Duty and the learning 
is disseminated 
through the ALIG.  

SMD is a key element 
of the DSVA strategy 
and some services are 
commissioned. There 
is a strong partnership 
with CF.  

A national review of 
DHR’s is currently 
under way  

Assurance 
Learning and 
Implementation 
Group ( ALIG) has 
an action plan.  

 

Data from the 
SMD service is 
included in the 
Needs 
Assessment and 
Changing Futures.  

Further resources 
are required for 
the link between 
DSVA and SMD.  

Page 67



 

 
 

 56 

MARAC  The MARAC Steering 
Group has reviewed 
the MARAC process 
and an implementation 
plan is in place aligned 
with the County.  

The MARAC 
actions and 
outcomes are 
measured.  

IDVA’s who 
support the 
MARAC process 
are at funding risk 
as MoJ funding 
ends in March 
2025  

DART  The DART Review has 
been rolled into the 
MARAC review. 

Further work is 
required on how 
this will impact on 
Adults and Health  

Further work is 
required to 
understand the 
impact on 
resources 

Funding  The VCS may loose 
almost 40% of service 
in 2025 if national 
government funding is 
cut. The VCS is 
already under 
pressure from cost of 
living increases.  

Mitigation for this is 
difficult.  

The VCS and 
commissioners 
are in dialogue 
about posts, 
impact on service 
and future funding 
options.  

Further funding is 
required to 
maintain the 
service at its 
current stretched 
state, more 
investment is 
required across 
the sector to 
enable it to meet 
the needs of 
survivors.  

CJS  The courts are a 
national issue and 
HMIC have looked into 
Notts Police, the 
OPCC is working with 
them to progress 
improvements. We do 
not have a local link 
into CPS at present.  

Data is collected 
on CJ outcomes.  

It is unclear what 
resources are 
required within the 
CJS. But we know 
that survivors 
require support 
from IDVA’s and 
these roles are 
due to be cut in 
March 25 

Homelessness  Under the DA Act 21 
NCC has a Stat Duty 
to develop a strategy 
and actions to improve 
access to Safe 
Accommodation. The 
Strategy sets out a 
plan to become 
accredited under 
Domestic Abuse 
Housing Alliance. A 
DAHA board has been 
launched and meets in 

Data is collected 
and submitted to 
DLUHC every 3 
years.  

 

NCC has a 
homeless and 
housing strat in 
addition to the 
DVA strat.  

Further housing is 
required across 
Nottingham, more 
access to stable 
and secure private 
rented accom is 
required and 
additional 
approaches to 
homelessness are 
needed, including 
increased use of 
the Sanctuary 

Page 68



 

 
 

 57 

July.  Scheme.  

Accessibility to 
service  

OPCC have 
commissioned 
Definitely Women for 
deaf and hearing 
impaired survivors.  

NCC has one wheel 
chair accessing refuge 
space.  

An older women and 
DVA post has been 
established.  

Data is collected 
from services on 
disability, long 
term health issues 
and other 
impairments, age 
and vulnerability 
including mental ill 
health. This is 
included in the 
Needs 
Assessment.  

Further resources 
are required.  

Sexual violence 
and abuse 
demand and 
recommissioning  

Demand for services is 
increasing, OPCC 
have commissioned a 
SVA Needs 
Assessment and have 
begun discussions 
with commissioning 
partners on managing 
waiting lists and future 
funding.  

SVA NA will be 
published in July 
24 

Contracts come to 
an end in Dec 
2025.  

Sexual violence and abuse 

Nottinghamshire Sexual Violence Support Services currently have extremely large waiting 
lists for their ASA (therapeutic) and their Independent Sexual Violence Advocacy Service 
(advocacy) services. Imara have seen a large increase in referrals to the CHISVA service.  

The Children’s Society’s Safetime service are delivering the therapy for children affected 
by sexual abuse in Nottinghamshire County (outside of Nottingham City). The referral 
route remains the same via East Midlands Children and Young People Sexual Assault 
Service. 

The demand on the adult and child sexual violence support services increases year on 
year. The impact of continuous court delays/adjournments and disruption throughout the 
criminal justice process results in:  

• Increase waiting lists for the advocacy and therapeutic support services 

• Holding survivors for longer within the service 

• Continued trauma and stress for survivors and families 

• Wellbeing of staff     

Notts SVS Services are working with Nottingham and Nottinghamshire commissioners to 
review the most appropriate measures to reduce the waiting lists. The adult and child 
sexual assault referrals centres (SARC & EMCYPSAS) contracts are due to end in March 
2025. NHS England are meeting with co-commissioners of the contracts and meetings are 
taking place to understand what the best model is for the local population. The Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Nottinghamshire is in the consultation process for 
their draft Nottinghamshire Sexual Violence Needs Assessment. This will be published in 
the summer of 2024. 

Page 69



 

 
 

 58 

Slavery Exploitation Team (SET) 

There continues to be an increase in referrals; in 2022/2023 the average number of 
referrals per month was 23, in 2023/2024 the average number of referrals per month was 
28. The most common referral type in this time was financial exploitation (114 cases) 
which has continued to rise since the pandemic and cost of living crisis. Cuckooing 
continues to be a high referral type (104 cases); of particular concern is repeat offenders 
and more frequently, perpetrators occupying multiple accommodations in supported living 
blocks for the purposes of using it as a base or ‘trap house’ for the distribution of drugs 
and other criminal activity. Other case types include sexual exploitation, criminal 
exploitation, forced labour/labour exploitation, human trafficking, domestic servitude, false 
imprisonment, debt bondage, county lines, Child Criminal Exploitation and Child Sexual 
Exploitation. 

People who are exploited are often vulnerable in multiple ways and are likely to have been 
targeted due to these vulnerabilities.  There were 991 vulnerabilities identified over the 
year, with half of referrals having 4 or more identified vulnerabilities, and just under third 
(32%) having 5 or more. This demonstrates that people who are exploited are often 
vulnerable in multiple ways and may be more susceptible because of these severe 
multiple disadvantages.  

Nottingham City Council have ownership of SERAC (Slavery Exploitation Risk 
Assessment Conference) including the SET holding chair responsibility. The SERAC 
model supports the identification of a cohort of people that don’t meet care act or police 
thresholds and offers a pathway to intervention. It creates an instant response to 
safeguard, tackle criminality and hold agencies accountable. SET provides a single point 
of contact for agencies concerned about potential slavery/trafficking/exploitation.  

Safeguarding Gateway 

The Communities directorate has multiple service areas that keep records on different IT 
platforms. They also have not recorded ‘low level’ concerns that wouldn’t result in a child 
or adult safeguarding referral, therefore frontline officers who observed a ‘low level’ 
concern would have no way of knowing if other officers had previously observed multiple 
other ‘low level’ concerns. In response to cases where earlier intervention could have been 
instigated, CP created the Safeguarding Gateway (launched in August 2021). Following 
affiliated face to face safeguarding training to all frontline officers, the service offers 
assurance to service areas in the Communities Directorate that any concerns for 
safeguarding or welfare have been adequately dealt with and referred to the relevant 
agencies. 

Migration Team 

Asylum Seekers have been in hotel accommodation for extended periods of time with 
reduced levels of security, leaving them more open to right wing visits and due to their 
vulnerability, they are more likely to be victims of hate crime and modern slavery. GP’s and 
other health services also do not always provide correct interpreters, or often no 
interpreter, resulting in medical issues not being diagnosed at early stages and correctly. 
This is also duplicated within the Mental Health system.  

Many asylum seekers face a risk of exploitation as it is illegal for them to work and income 
is extremely low or non-existent. Some asylum seekers are victims of sexual abuse and 
exploitation from other males in the accommodation and externally, due their 
vulnerabilities or due to trying to secure an additional form of income. Asylum Seekers 
safeguarding issues are less likely to be identified due to lack of trust, fear of impact on 
application status, lack of awareness laws, rights or understanding of reporting. There is 

Page 70



 

 
 

 59 

also an increased risk due to SERCO not informing the Local Authority via the MASH or 
MARF referral processes resulting in children and adults being put at risk.   

Domestic abuse and sexual abuse is also an increased risk for some refugees on a visa 
with their partner who believe they have to stay in the relationship to stay in the country 
and do not know their rights and support available to leave an abusive relationship. This is 
often not addressed until becomes a high-risk situation. Women with no recourse to public 
funds have increased difficulty accessing refuges, especially those with no children.   

The Safeguarding Forum was established in 2023 with key stakeholders with a TOR, 
extended to support refugees as well as asylum seekers as their needs also needed to be 
addressed by partners including health services (eg, Health visitors/midwives) and VCS 
partners who are key to working with asylum seekers and refugees. This was set up to 
hold SERCO (who house asylum seekers) accountable who and get them to work in 
partnership with the other local services to get the best outcome for the adult and child. 
This meets every 3 weeks and have looked at 40 cases since established with only 3 
currently open. A VCS grants scheme funds integration and wrap around support eg, 
mental health support, ESOL, activities to address isolation, Life in the UK courses, 
Women’s empowerment and advocacy. There is a DBS process and assessment of each 
Host to decide suitability to support the scheme. Work is done with partners to education 
and address flaws in their service in relation to the safeguarding of asylum seekers and 
refugees. Relationships are being established with key staff in services like the Police and 
Health. 

Prevent 

The Counter Terrorism Local Profile for 2024 has identified the main risks in 
Nottingham/Nottinghamshire as:  

• AQ/ISIS Inspired Terrorism  

• Extreme Right-Wing Terrorism  

• Online Extremism  

• Self-Initiated Terrorists (S-ITs) .  

Prevent Referrals in Nottinghamshire Prevent have increased by 27% compared to the 
previous year. The highest number of referrals were received from Nottingham City, 
followed by Broxtowe and Mansfield. ERWT is the recurring dominant established ideology 
recorded within Nottinghamshire Prevent casework (16% of total referrals). Nearly 55% of 
the ERWT referrals relate to adults over the age of 25. AQ/IS inspired referrals account for 
7.4% of the total referrals. Self-Initiated Terrorism is the most dominant methodology 
threat to the UK due to the lack of preparation or skill required and the easy access to 
knives and vehicles.  

The Situational Risk Assessment for 2024-25 identified the following as the key issues in 
Nottingham: 

• Community tensions arising from the Israel/Gaza conflict 

• Anti-Prevent Sentiment 

• Anti-Migrant Narratives 

• Decrease in Hate crime but sustained level of repeat victims 

• NCC S114 Declaration and end of Home Office funding in March 2025. 

The key risks currently highlighted in the Corporate Risk Register for Prevent include: 

• Training 

• Venue Hire Policies 

Page 71



 

 
 

 60 

• Resourcing of Prevent following withdrawal of Home Office Funding in April 2025. 

Prevention 

Community Protection 

Community Protection Officers 

Officers work closely with Adult Safeguarding providing updates and have made referrals: 
Nottingham Recovery Network, Framework, Notts Fire and Rescue Service and SERAC. 
Early intervention strategies have included referring citizens into community support 
networks and supporting multi agency structures (such as SERAC) to provide a 
continuation of monitoring for citizens where there are ongoing concerns for welfare. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour team 

Due to the triaged operational work with CPOs early intervention strategies have included 
referring citizens into community support networks and supporting multi agency structures 
(such as SERAC) to provide a continuation of monitoring for citizens where there are 
ongoing concerns for welfare. ASB officers remain focused on safeguarding and per the 
case management risk assessment process. 
 
Community Safety  

Violence against women and girls and domestic and sexual violence and abuse 
(NCSP) 

Nottingham Community Safety Partnership governance structure includes a Prevention 
Working Group and a Perpetrator Board. These are lead in partnership with the Violence 
Reduction Partnership and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and aim to 
reduce DSVA and manage perpetrators more effectively. NCC is reviewing the employee 
DSVA policy in line with the Employee Domestic Abuse Initiative best practice. The 
intention is to include SVA and also managing perpetrators who are staff more effectively. 
Employee policy work is being done in partnership with Health Services. Joint work is 
being undertaken with County, OPCC, ICB on sexual violence services for children and 
how to ensure the transition into young adult hood is considered. Services are 
commissioned to enable a flexible approach to this.  
 

Slavery Exploitation Team 

Identifying emerging trends and issues in the field of slavery and exploitation and provide 
leadership to adapt working practice internally and via the wider SERAC partnership, 
performance monitoring and policy and strategy development with stakeholders.  

A recent discovered gap was inconsistency in training; Non-Government Organisations 
were delivering training on the National Referral Mechanism and the Slavery Exploitation 
Team on local pathways. A working group was established to agree content on local 
approaches and national pathways and standardised training was developed. This was 
scrutinised by the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Modern Slavery Partnership and is now 
used as a template of best practice by the LGA. 

Development and maintenance of a continuous process for identifying and disseminating 
best practice in relation to tackling slavery and exploitation and delivering Awareness 
Raising sessions to internal and external partners. Delivery of workshops to cohorts of newly 
qualified social workers via social care’s Assisted and Supported Year of Employment 
programme.  

Page 72



 

 
 

 61 

Migration Team 

• Staff are enhanced DBS checked due to vulnerabilities of the cohorts worked with. 

• Staff team being expanded to support capacity and use the safer recruitment 

practice. 

• New Migration Operations post (April 24) reviewing current processes and training 

needs. 

• A service tool kit is being created with the Slavery Exploitation Team Manager. 

• All staff have completed safeguarding training and domestic abuse training. A 

bespoke training session is being planned for September for existing staff and new 

recruits with relevant case studies and training on the tool kit and processes.  

• DBS policy regarding checks was initially set up and is currently being reviewed for 

assessing Hosts on the H4U scheme. 

• Setting up and maintaining partnerships eg, Safeguarding forum and Multi Agency 

Forum 

• No Guest from the H4U scheme has presented as homeless due to the teams 

support for rematching or transition into private rented accommodation when 

relationships between Hosts and Guests have broken down. New team roles are 

being created and commissioning services around employment support etc are 

being developed support this work to avoid potential homelessness. 

Prevent 
 
Nottingham and Nottinghamshire have an effective and well-established multi-agency 
Channel Panel in place which has a track record of safeguarding both adults and children 
against radicalisation. During 2023-24, the Prevent Co-Ordinator and Prevent Education 
Officer have trained over 2000 staff from across the partnership. 
 
Environmental Health and Public Protection 
 
All staff have completed safeguarding training and are aware of signposting and referral 
routes. 

Assurance 

Community Protection 

Community Protection Officers 

All Officers have completed eLearning training on safeguarding. Officers work closely with 
Adult Safeguarding providing updates following any cases referred to them. Officers will 
also make proactive referrals as the required. Community Protection Officers are Non-
Police Personnel Vetted (NPPV) level 2, provided by Nottinghamshire Police. Which is 
renewed every three years. This allows for a greater level of security for staff to access 
police systems and resources. 

Anti-Social Behaviour team 

Officers have completed eLearning safeguarding training, all colleagues assess the needs 
of victims and offenders upon being commissioned a case to the ASB team. Officer can 
refer at any point to the appreciate agency or support function. 

Community Safety  

Page 73



 

 
 

 62 

Violence against women and girls and domestic and sexual violence and abuse 
(NCSP) 

1. Commissioned services – contracts include Safeguarding & serious incident 

reporting.  

2. DART/MARAC review is engaged with Adults Safeguarding.  

3. Joint approach to learning from DHR’s, Safeguarding Adult Reviews, Suicides, Drug 

Deaths and Child Serious Case Reviews has been identified and colleagues 

engaged. 

4. Needs Assessments and commissioned services include Safeguarding issues.    

Slavery Exploitation Team 

The SERAC model supports the identification of a cohort of people that don’t meet Care 
Act or police thresholds and offers a pathway to intervention. It creates an instant 
response to safeguard, tackle criminality and hold agencies accountable. SERAC unites 
agencies to discuss cases, hold agencies to account and plan a joint response to manage 
risk and intervene depending on the individual’s needs. Discussions also feed into National 
Referral Mechanism referrals, concerns around capacity/decisions to conduct 
assessments and police investigations. It creates an instant response to safeguard, 
tackles criminality and provides a function to look at cases where initial concerns don’t 
necessarily meet care act thresholds or have enough evidence for police interventions. 
 

• SET provides a single point of contact for agencies concerned about potential 
slavery/trafficking/exploitation. 

• Days of action conducted with police targeting specific businesses and joint visits 
conducted to private dwellings to ensure survivor focussed support for first 
intervention. 

• Early intervention is addressed by use of RAG Rating tool on initial referral and 
information sharing with relevant agencies at SERAC.  

• The SERAC partnership works to find pathways to safeguard, taking into account 
and addressing each individual’s vulnerabilities. Cases are not discharged due to 
‘non-engagement’. 

• Referral pathways have been established for cases to be directed to SERAC from 
MARAC and Juno Women’s Aid have representation at SERAC. 

Due to inconsistency in training, relevant agencies collaborated to produce a standardised 
package to include content on local approaches and national pathways (which had 
currently been delivered separately resulting in agencies choosing between the 2). This 
was scrutinised by the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Modern Slavery Partnership and 
is now used as a template of best practice by the LGA. 

Migration Team 

• The Staff team is being expanded to support capacity and use the safer recruitment 
practice. There will be an induction and training to promote individuals’ 
responsibilities regarding safeguarding.  

• There is promotion of an organisational culture that encourages all staff to be aware 
of their personal responsibility to report safeguarding concerns as well as ensuring 
that poor practice is identified and improved.  

• There is a named Safeguarding lead in the team and positive working relationship 
with the Slavery Exploitation Team Manager for advice and support. All staff have 
completed safeguarding training and domestic abuse training.  

Page 74



 

 
 

 63 

• A bespoke training session is being planned for September for existing staff and 
new recruits with relevant case studies and training on the tool kit and processes. 

• H4U DBS process regarding checks on Hosts was initially set up and is currently 
being reviewed for assessing Hosts suitability. Improving accountability, awareness 
of needs and planning for potential risks. 

• Setting up and maintaining partnerships eg, Safeguarding forum, Homeless 
partnership forum and Multi Agency Forum. 

• Yearly report to the Adult Safeguarding Board. 

• Safeguarding is addressed in tender and procurement processes, contractual 
arrangements in place and small grant allocations, eg, Case work provision, ESOL 
provision. This is monitored and we are in the process of recruiting to a Project and 
Contracts Officer post who will be responsible for working on this. 

Prevent 
 
As outlined above, NCC’s compliance with the Prevent Duty is managed through the 
Annual Assurance process which, in turn, was informed by the Independent Review of 
Prevent published in 2023. Prevent threats and priorities are informed by statistical data 
provided by Police and Home Office. Quality assurance and governance under the 
Prevent Board/Prevent Steering Group is outlined above. 

Environmental Health and Public Protection 
 

• Frontline officers attend relevant partnership meetings as required (hoarding panel, 
Complex Persons Panel, SERAC).  

• Training around relevant safeguarding is provided for identified different groups, 
such as taxi drivers. This works in conjunction with proactive taxi licensing 
operations. 

Engagement 

Community Protection  

Community Protection Officers 

The role of Community Protection Officers requires day to day work to be focussed on the 
whole person they are dealing with. On conducting welfare checks, officers will respond to 
immediate risk but consider the individual’s needs (ensuring there is food in the cupboards 
and people aren’t without electricity/gas). On making a referral to Adult Safeguarding, 
officers will meet interim needs: taking a person to a place of safety (potentially hotel 
accommodation), sourcing a meal. Some of this activity has been curtailed by the financial 
situation of the Local Authority. Support is also offered to multi agency panels to monitor 
ongoing support needs. 

Anti-Social Behaviour team 

ASB officers can become involved in the investigation of possible modern day slavery 
cases due to examples like Nottingham City Housing Services properties being used to the 
production, sell or usage of illegal drugs. Including vulnerable Council tenants properties 
being ‘cuckooed’ (taking over the property, facilitating exploitation). 

Community Safety  

Violence against women and girls and domestic and sexual violence and abuse 
(NCSP) 

Page 75



 

 
 

 64 

1. Commissioned Survivor Engagement service based within the sector and ongoing 

activities and reports to NCSP Board.  

2. Staff Survey for the DAHA accreditation due to be conducted in 2024.  

Slavery Exploitation Team 

The SERAC partnership aims to ensure effective communication with relevant agencies to 
formulate a joint approach with clear actions. A best practice case study on NCCs SET 
and SERAC model can be found in the Local Government Association Guidance on 
Tackling Modern Slavery. The team also organise and co-ordinating high-level emergency 
strategy meetings and challenge agencies when necessary around their action/response 
whilst maintaining positive working relationships. Establishment of partnerships with 
statutory and non-government organisations has improved projected outcomes for future 
cases as contacts and parameters of agencies capabilities have been identified. 
The RAG Rating tool allows areas of vulnerability to be explored and addressed at an 
early stage (once referred to the team). 
 
Examples of Outcomes: 

• Supporting police investigations. 

• Feed into National Referral Mechanism referrals. 

• Appropriate accommodation sourced. 

• Safety planning – POI, safe and well checks, lock changes, emergency 
accommodation, flags on systems. 

• Capacity assessments. 

• Safeguarding/other agency referrals. 

• Identification and referral into most appropriate advocate. 

• Support to return to home country (when desired). 

• Continuation of monitoring – CPOs, NPT , POW, housing managers. 

• Civil actions – prohibition orders, injunctions. 

Safeguarding Gateway 

Having the Gateway offers assurance for the directorate that opportunities to safeguard 
are not missed. 

Migration Team 

Partnership working ensures providing wrap around support to look at an individual’s 
needs as well as risks posed. The team challenge agencies when necessary, around their 
action/response whilst maintaining positive working relationships. Establishment of 
partnerships with statutory and non-government organisations has improved projected 
outcomes for future cases as contacts and parameters of agencies capabilities have been 
identified. VCS grants to provide wrap around support and preventative work. 
 
Prevent 

The CTLP is, in part, informed by feedback from partnership staff through an annual 
questionnaire. In 2023, over 400 responses were received which described awareness 
and perceptions of the threat. In 2023-24 Prevent funded a number of community 
initiatives which set out the role of the programme and how it can protect against 
radicalisation. In 2024, Prevent staff will be attending Police led Independent Advisory 
Groups to raise awareness of the programme and gain feedback.  

Environmental Health and Public Protection 
 

Page 76



 

 
 

 65 

Proactive visits are conducted in instances where information is received indicating 
concerns such as overcrowding or exploitation. 

Department of Work and Pensions 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

We understand that individuals’ circumstances and customer needs differ and can change 
over time, and some customers may find it more difficult to make use of our services. We 
want everyone in DWP to be able to support our customers in a manner appropriate to 
their needs. For example, our mental health training helps empower our colleagues with 
the skills to support customers. We know that some of our customers may, at times in their 
lives, still require additional support and we have in place specialist services, roles, and 
procedures to provide this, such as the DWP Visiting Service and Advanced Customer 
Support Senior Leaders. We are committed to listening to our customers and their 
representatives to understand their needs, and we use this and other feedback to improve 
our services for example through the Serious Case Panel and the Customer Experience 
Survey.  

We provide additional support for customers at serious risk of harm, neglect, or abuse 
through our network of frontline operational colleagues and Advanced Customer Support 
Senior Leaders (ACSSLs). ACSSLs coach and mentor DWP colleagues across our 
services to support customers experiencing or at risk of vulnerability. ACSSLs supported 
over 12,000 customer cases in 2022-23. We have a departmental network of over 450 
national visiting officers who provide visits for customers requiring additional support to 
access our benefits and services. We have an established Six Point Plan for DWP 
colleagues to follow when they identify a customer who may be at risk of harming 
themselves. This helps to ensure the customer is given the appropriate support and may 
involve notifying emergency services in the event where they are at immediate risk. The 
Six Point Plan is under continuous review to ensure it aligns with current thinking on 
mental health.  

In response to the Covid-19 pandemic we introduced telephone and video health 
assessments, which we continue to deliver alongside face-to-face and paper-based 
assessments. To help make health assessments less stressful information is available in 
advance to help customers understand the process, and customers can bring companions 
to the consultation and have interpreters to provide support. 

We strive to set repayment plans that are affordable and sustainable, encouraging 
customers to contact us if they are unable to afford the proposed repayment rate, whilst 
enforcing the obligation to repay where it is appropriate to do so. When a customer makes 
contact, we may be able to reduce the rate of repayment, or temporarily suspend 
repayments depending on the customer’s financial circumstances. There is also the Debt 
Respite Scheme ‘breathing space’ that allows for a temporary protection from creditors. 

Prevention 

We provide additional support to help customers manage their money. We work with the 
Money and Pension Service under its brand name MoneyHelper, who offer free 
independent and impartial money and debt advice and indebted customers are routinely 
offered a referral with the majority of those meeting the criteria taking up the offer. We 
know it is important for our colleagues to handle challenging situations effectively and with 
confidence. We have introduced a mandatory two-day mental health training that every 
new joiner to service delivery receives as part of their induction programme. As of August 
2023, 51,000 operational delivery colleagues have undertaken this training.  

Page 77



 

 
 

 66 

The joint DWP and Department of Health and Social Care, Work and Health Unit works to 
improve the health and employment outcomes for disabled people and those with health 
conditions. We do this through challenging siloed ways of working to deliver evidence-
based programmes, trials, and tests. We work with employers, local areas, and wider 
government to remove the additional barriers these groups face when in and out of work, 
with a focus on better aligning the work and health systems. 

Assurance 

The Serious Case Panel makes recommendations to address themes and issues identified 
from serious cases to prevent similar cases occurring in the future. It meets quarterly and 
is made up of the department’s most senior leaders, including the Permanent Secretary 
and all Director-Generals. It is chaired by a non-executive Director and includes the 
Independent Case Examiner and Chief Medical Advisor. Serious Case Panel outcomes 
have included changes to processes around stopping payments and making large 
payments, which helps to protect customers in vulnerable circumstances. Minutes of 
Serious Case Panel meetings are published on GOV.UK. 

We are committed to understanding our customers’ needs and have driven organisational 
learning through Internal Process Reviews (IPR). The principal reason for conducting IPRs 
is to ensure we learn lessons where the customer experience has fallen short of expected 
standards, and to see what improvements we can make from a review of the case. This 
has supported work to improve customer journeys within individual service lines right 
through to cross-cutting changes such as making payments safely and changes to visiting 
guidance. 

We appointed a new Chief Medical Advisor in September 2023 and have additionally 
strengthened our policy team of clinicians. These changes will help to ensure that health 
related vulnerabilities are carefully assessed to make more informed decisions on eligibility 
for benefits or support. We further reviewed the internal clinical governance with a plan in 
place to provide robust assurance to the department to be implemented in 2024. 

Engagement 

We actively use customer feedback to improve our processes and enhance overall 
customer experience. DWP carries out a Customer Experience Survey every quarter. This 
gives us information directly from customers and helps us to understand their experiences. 
Along with wider customer and colleague insight, the survey is used to identify areas of 
improvement. 

The Independent Case Examiner (ICE) provides a complaint resolution and investigation 
service for DWP customers. As part of their review, they can identify service 
improvements. A recent change based on feedback from ICE has enabled Debt 
Management colleagues to more easily identify customers who request a letter in an 
alternative format. 

Our User Centred Design (UCD) practices ensure we put the needs of our customers, 
especially the most vulnerable, at the heart of our design processes by embedding UCD 
capabilities across DWP. 

The Customer Proximity Programme has been created with the aim of bringing the 
customer experience closer to senior leaders across DWP. We regularly share a random 
selection of anonymised customer call recordings with Senior Civil Servants. The calls act 
as a stimulus to Senior Leaders to ask more questions, identify trends, launch related 
pieces of work, or review the impact of their decisions on customer experience. 

Page 78



 

 
 

 67 

We are exploring ways to integrate a Trauma Informed Approach into our service, which 
recognises that trauma can have a profound impact on a person’s physical, emotional, 
spiritual and psychological wellbeing and that services such as the DWP have a powerful 
role in creating safe and empowering journeys of support which are compassionate to 
these experiences. 

Nottinghamshire Probation Service 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

Nottingham City Probation teams operated within the ‘red prioritisation framework’ for a 
prolonged period during 2023/24 which represented a significant and ongoing risk to front 
line delivery.  This meant that some activities were stopped to focus resource on those 
people with the highest risk and need profiles.  MAPPA cases, domestic abuse 
perpetrators and those who were identified as adult safeguarding cases were given the 
highest priority within this framework however there were delivery challenges to those who 
fell outside of this cohort.  Cases outside of this cohort would have included some severe 
and multiple disadvantage cases who may have been impacted by these reduced 
activities. ‘Probation Reset’ measures have been introduced to relieve workload pressures 
to allow front line staff to focus on those in the early stages of their order or licence, also 
with a focus on the highest risk and need profiles. 

Staff recruitment and retention was a challenge for City Probation teams with staffing 
levels dropping under 70% during the year.  This challenged influenced the introduction of 
the ‘red prioritisation framework’ as referenced above.  Recruitment activity was a priority 
action area for us and was identified as an organisational risk. Due to ongoing recruitment 
and retention drives staffing levels are now above 90%.  The drive to maintain these 
staffing levels continues with both local PDU and Regional HR resource being dedicated to 
support a longer-term solution and oversight to ensure that the risk does not reoccur to the 
same degree. 

Prevention 
 
Notts City Probation are consistently represented at Board and sub-group level, 
contributing to the annual plan and priority setting.  
 
All Probation staff are required to undertake annual safeguarding training and domestic 
abuse modules to ensure that the most up to date practices are implemented.  This was 
mandated for 2023/24 with the significant change being that it was linked to pay 
progression via the annual appraisal process. 
 
Together with Youth Justice colleagues, a review of the ‘Transitions Protocol’ for cases 
moving from Youth Justice to Probation Services was undertaken.  A 1 FTE Probation 
Officer was seconded into YJS, replacing the Probation Officer/Probation Service Officer 
split arrangement with the aim of providing a smoother transition.  The revised process for 
this includes early allocation of all transitions cases to the PO and earlier consideration of 
MAPPA arrangements for cases in scope to support early formulation of a robust risk 
management plan. 
 
We have national policies and procedures with regards to the following: 

• Safeguarding adults and making a referral  

• Whistleblowing & management of allegations against staff 

• Complaints 

Page 79



 

 
 

 68 

• Staff supervision 

• Information sharing  

• MCA/DoLS including 'best Interest' and consent  

• Prevent  

• Risk assessment & management  

• Domestic abuse.   

Our recruitment approach includes thorough Police vetting processes in order to support 
safe recruitment. 
 

Assurance 
 

Safeguarding adult referral and communication policies are embedded into our systems 
and processes.  Our case recording systems and assessment tools carry the function of 
clearly identifying those who are at risk and also perpetrators of harm towards others, for 
example, victims of domestic abuse or those who are subject to safeguarding procedures. 

Annual safeguarding (including Capacity Act) and domestic abuse training is mandated 
with 100% completion being expected before a practitioner can progress along the pay 
scale. 

The IOM team have a dedicated DVIOM cohort with a model of multi-agency support to 
provide additional monitoring and oversight of domestic abuse perpetrators whilst at the 
same time offering support to survivors via the co-located Juno service. 

Nottingham City Probation have a mandated ‘protected learning time’ every month.  Within 
this time findings from SARs and our own SFO’s are discussed and reviewed.  By way of 
assurance, we work with the OSAG team who provide regular oversight and feedback on 
how these learning points are being responded to and embedded into practice. 

All of the Assurance and QA tools used in the Probation Service include guidance and 
require reference and assessment of Adult Safeguarding issues. All high risk of serious 
harm assessments are quality assured and counter signed by a Senior Probation Officer, 
all assessments identifying an individual as posing a very high risk of harm are 
countersigned by the Head of service.  Management oversight of cases of 
interest/safeguarding concerns/MAPPA are discussed in supervision sessions with staff 
and we promote the Touchpoints Model which is guidance for managers on where case 
discussion is required.  Internal assurance is provided by our Operational and Systems 
Assurance Group, external audits are undertaken by HMIP and we have ad hoc audits 
completed by our performance team.   

Whilst we do not have performance measures and / or indicators relating to adult 
safeguarding there are expectations in relation to safeguarding and risk management 
planning which would be picked up by the quality assurance process. 

Safer recruitment is embedded across all staff, with DBS checks being a required 
component.  This is managed within a safer recruitment approach.  Our electronic 
recruitment system does not allow an offer to be made to a potential new employee 
without these checks first being returned with no identified concerns. 

Engagement 

Our OASys assessment tool incorporates a self-assessment tool which invites the 
individual to provide comment and review of their circumstances in relation to risk and 
need.  This in turn allows a person led sentence plan which incorporates both the self-

Page 80



 

 
 

 69 

assessment findings alongside the Probation Practitioner assessment.  This is designed to 
increase ownership, understanding and motivation to make positive progress.   

2023/24 saw the new EPOP (Engaging People on Probation) programme which invites 
People with lived experience to provide feedback on a range of areas within probation 
practice.  This feedback is collated, shared and then used to inform future service delivery. 

Our staff survey runs annually and asks practitioners to provide feedback on how well 
equipped they are to undertake their role from a training, information, resource and 
support angle.  These findings are then used to inform our annual people plan and training 
plan. 

The importance of safeguarding is reflected within the annual mandatory training schedule. 
Safeguarding discussions are also an integral feature of supervision sessions between the 
probation practitioner and the senior probation officer. Alongside, this our MAPPA 
protocols mandate consideration of Adult safeguarding issues within all formal meetings 
and our assessment tool OASys also gives specific consideration to adult safeguarding 
issues.  

Annual safeguarding (including Capacity Act) and domestic abuse training is mandated 
with 100% completion being expected before a practitioner can progress along the pay 
scale. 

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

During 2023-24 Response to operational incidents remained constant, however, there has 
now been an increase in Prevention activity including using Data intelligence to increase 
those areas in the county and city which have low smoke alarm ownership. 

Safe and Well visits had increased to by over 2,000 to 16255 visits, many of these from 
professional referrals where the occupants had already been seen by a professional and 
very few safeguarding issues were identified by NFRS.   
 
Being a 24/7 Service, the main risk relating to Safeguarding for NFRS remains the need to 
ensure that all staff can identify concerns and refer them appropriately, and that Duty 
Managers have the qualification and competence to support the process and advise where 
necessary. Over half of all wholetime stations have now been upskilled to L3 Safeguarding 
plus the whole of our prevention and protection departments as well as all flexi officers. 

We now have a confidential reporting line called Say So. This does not replace our current 
channels for raising a concern, which include your line manager, another colleague, HR 
Business Partner, or union representative, but supplements and strengthens our current 
approach. 

We are introducing this anonymous reporting tool alongside Derbyshire and Leicestershire 
fire and rescue services following the HMICFRS Values and Culture report, as part of our 
efforts to aid transparency, support staff and improve culture. 

Safeguarding L3 (as mentioned above) is now being rolled out to all stations. All 
Designated Safeguarding Leads undertake Level 3 DSL training. Two members of staff 
have completed the Level 4 NFCC Train the Trainer course to enable Safeguarding 
training to Fire Service personnel to be enhanced. On a quarterly basis under the ‘Service 
Delivery Evaluation & Quality Assurance Frameworks’, compliance levels with the above 
training requirements are monitored.   

Page 81



 

 
 

 70 

Complementing the Safeguarding training, NFRS staff complete mandatory Data 
Protection e-learning modules every two years to ensure compliance with information 
governance and GDPR guidelines. NFRS staff complete an Equalities and Diversity 
essentials CPD certified e-learning module to ensure the public-sector equality duty is 
adhered to.   

NFRS is represented on the Training sub-groups and additional specialist Safeguarding 
courses and workshops that are offered by the Councils are disseminated to appropriate 
staff members.  The NFRS DSLs meet on a quarterly basis to review cases, identify 
learning and plan suitable and appropriate actions against any emerging themes. 

Prevention 

The Education lead who is also the Child Safeguarding Lead has given extra support to 
education events. Safeguarding referrals from disclosures to the lead during Safety Zone 
and education led events.   
 
NFRS support both the City and County safeguarding boards by consistently attending 
reviews, external training days, board meetings, forums and the sub-groups.  
 
We are currently in the middle of a restructure, a new team structure and personnel will 
start officially on September 1st 2024.   
 

Assurance 
 

NFRS ensures that all staff have a level of Safeguarding training that enables them to 
identify concerns and refer them appropriately.  The Service has a suitable structure in 
place for DSLs or Duty Managers to be available to advise where required and a clear, 
available and regularly updated Safeguarding Policy in place. 

Where a threat is not immediate, NFRS has a process in place where staff report any 
Safeguarding concerns regarding service-users to an internal safeguarding team who 
triage the referral to determine a suitable course of action (i.e. a referral to MASH or for 
Care & Support Needs).  By following this process 83.9% of Safeguarding referrals 
submitted by NFRS in 2023/24 to either county or city, have gone forward to a Section 42 
enquiry or were already open to the enquiry from another agency when NFRS referred in.  
Although this is a reduction from last year.  In 22/23 we only made 24 referrals and in 
23/24 we have made 62, so we see this is a success that our crews are now more 
confident to recognise, respond and refer safeguarding concerns.   

Engagement 

The CHARLIE risk matrix used by partner organisations to refer, and Delivery Teams to 
complete Safe and Well Visits demonstrates NFRS’s person-centred approach towards its 
service-users.  The funding of an Occupational Therapist within the Prevention 
Department further establishes the Service’s commitment to a person- centred approach, 
which extends to Safeguarding, and supports the Service’s understanding of and 
adherence to the Mental Capacity Act.   

MSP is embedded, and the Mental Capacity Act is referenced within the NFRS 
Safeguarding Policy and in-house Level 1 Alerter Training.  The requirement to put an 
individual’s needs and wellbeing at the centre of all actions is fundamental to everything 
the Service does. The Occupation Therapist seconded to the team also provides advise to 
the service on cases where mental health is listed as a concern. NFRS uses anonymised 

Page 82



 

 
 

 71 

case studies, focused on MSP, as a Continuous Professional Development resource for 
front-line staff. 

Early 2024 we launched Safelincs as a way for members of the public to refer to 
Nottinghamshire Fire and request a Safe and well.  This is more user friendly than our 
previous service.  We still have the CHARLIE pathway for Professional to refer in.   

Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

The Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and AHP's maintains overall responsibility to 
ensure that Nottinghamshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (The Trust) has effective 
safeguarding arrangements in place. Much of this responsibility for this is delegated to The 
Trustwide Safeguarding and Public Protection Service (TSPPS), which sits corporately 
within The Trust, led by the Head of Safeguarding who assumes responsibility for strategic 
safeguarding leadership. The Head of Safeguarding is accountable to the Deputy Director 
for Nursing and Director of Nursing, Quality and AHPs. The wider safeguarding team 
including the Named Nurse, Named Clinical Associate, Service Managers, Safeguarding 
Leads, Administration Team, Quality Team and Communications department support the 
safeguarding agenda across the Trust.  

The Trustwide Strategic Safeguarding Group meets quarterly to maintain oversight of the 
Trust safeguarding arrangements. Representatives of this group include senior leaders 
and managers from each of the three care groups as well as senior safeguarding 
leadership. 

Update on the risks identified in 2022-2023 

Closed Cultures 

As the pandemic restrictions abated through 2022/23 the TSPPS recommenced face to 

face safeguarding assurance visits. There is a recognition that there is an inherent risk of 

closed cultures developing with health care settings where vulnerable people access 

support. To review this risk internally the TSPPS developed a closed culture improvement 

plan which identified priority areas to support open cultures: 

• Information and intelligence 

• Empower colleagues and promote speaking up, encourage open cultures 

• Seclusion and Restrictive practices 

Progress has been made against these areas throughout 2023-2024 and the work to 
further develop open cultures continues into 2024-2025. 

Sexual Safety 

Sexual safety has been identified as a risk within mental health services by the CQC and 

other more recent reviews. Apparently, less than 1 in 10 NHS trusts have a sexual safety 

policy (An epidemic of sexual assault: How the NHS can better protect staff and patients, 

BMJ and Guardian). The Trust has had a sexual safety policy in place since 2020. Since 

this time the policy has been reviewed and updated twice to ensure it includes the most 

up-to-date evidence-based practice and research. Sexual safety continues to be a priority 

area for the Trust and recognises the risk to patients and staff should sexual safety 

incidents occur. The Trust has committed to funding a full-time sexual safety lead that will 

Page 83



 

 
 

 72 

sit within the TSPPS. This post will drive forward the sexual safety agenda across the 

Trust with a focus on improving staff understanding, reporting and patient experience. This 

post will be advertised and appointed to during 2024-2025. The TSPPS are also 

developing a sexual safety workforce policy to support service improvements and fulfil its 

responsibilities as set out within the NHS England sexual safety in healthcare 

organisational charter which the Trust has signed up to. 

Sub-contracted Services 

Over 2022/23 quality concerns were raised in respect of some sub-contracted services. 
These included safeguarding relevant risks around usual line of sight/oversight of 
safeguarding activity and reporting within these services. Quality concerns have reduced 
secondary to the Trust overseeing the formulation of robust quality improvement plans and 
supporting the delivery of sustained improvements. 

Identified risks in 2023/2024 

Risk 1 

Due to the increased demands on the Care Groups then safeguarding responsibilities may 
not be prioritised and we may be unable to safeguard people at risk, leading to avoidable 
harm to individuals, regulatory intervention, adverse publicity that would damage the 
Trust's reputation, litigation and negative impact on staff morale. 

Mitigation strategies include: 

• The Trustwide Safeguarding Strategic group (TSSG) has a focus on membership, 

terms of reference and engagement with the care groups and units to strengthen 

our ability to triangulate data, intelligence and emerging themes. New reporting 

templates will facilitate care groups to triangulate risk and concerns. Attendance by 

the care groups at the TSSG has improved 

• Closed Culture Quality Improvement Plan 

• Increased visibility of the safeguarding service across the organisation. Our current 

priority is around increasing support to leaders as part of the various improvement 

boards 

• The Safeguarding Service are represented on all of the Improvement Boards 

• 2 of the Safeguarding Leads have developed a Safeguarding Leadership Training 

Package which is being offered across the Trust to address local areas of need 

and to address any theory practice gaps. In addition, we have met with Head of 

People development and will be introducing this package as a module on the 

Management Essentials facilitated by the Trust’s Training and Development team 

• Implementation of the Trustwide Safeguarding Strategic subgroups: Safeguarding, 

Public Protection, TLI, Quality Assurance and Multi Agency Reviews. The business 

plans for the subgroups promote collaboration with services across the Trust 

• Strengthening our engagement with internal Trust assurance groups 

• Link Champions Forum enables us to promote learning more widely. We have 

increased focus on MCA within the forum and are looking to improve this further.  

Support colleagues in applying MCA to safeguarding principles and enabling a 

collective reflection around complex cases has been positively received. The first 

focussed session was around adult self-neglect 

Page 84



 

 
 

 73 

• Improved collaboration with quality standards, freedom to speak up guardian, EDI 

colleagues, and Experience, Volunteering and Involvement to promote 

safeguarding and support the early identification of themes and trends 

• Safeguarding and Quality Standards are working in a more joined up collaborative 

way through undertaking joint quality and assurance visits to services. This is 

providing greater opportunity for collaboration, streamlining objectives and aims, 

triangulating information to identify key hot spots and celebrate great practice.  

• Wider exploration of how the safeguarding service and advocacy services, used in 

the Trust, can be better engaged. 

Risk 2 

Due to the inherent risk of closed cultures within our services then patients may 
experience abuse perpetrated by our staff leading to avoidable patient harm to individuals, 
regulatory intervention, adverse publicity that would damage the Trust's reputation, 
litigation and negative impact on staff morale. 

Mitigation strategies include: 

• Recent changes to the Trust Serious Incident Reporting Group (SIRG) have 

enabled a sharper focus on high level incidents within the Trust. The Safeguarding 

Service are contributing to Patient Safety’s Pre SIRG meeting to support the 

process. In addition, safeguarding now have a weekly SIRG standing agenda item 

which includes all section 42, cause to enquire’ requests received during the 

previous week and sharing of key learning from multi-agency reviews or other 

identified learning.  

• Considering these changes it is essential that the allegations of abuse against 

Persons in Position of Trust are received at the Care Group Allegation Forum and 

Trustwide Allegation Forum to ensure key learning is elicited and disseminated 

across the Trust. Work will start to review how we can strengthen and relaunch 

these forums to share learning 

• Refreshed and relaunched ‘Management of Allegations of Abuse made against 

Persons in a Position of Trust’ 

• Collation of data concerning allegations of abuse against a PiPOT have historically 

been difficult to assume accurate due to the high number of inaccuracies in 

reporting. Inaccuracies arise when colleagues incorrectly categorised an incident as 

an allegation of abuse against a PiPOT. Our new policy supports colleagues to 

improve on categorising allegations of abuse against PiPOTs and there are 

measures built into the new policy to confirm and challenge where an incident may 

have been incorrectly categorised. The reporting process will enable us to report 

on: 

o Number of allegations of abuse against a PiPOT raised in a defined period 

o Number of these raised allegations that are closed as inappropriate (due to 

wrong categorisation/malicious/robustly assessed as symptomatic of the 

patient’s ill health) 

o % of these raised allegations that are closed as inappropriate (due to wrong 

categorisation/malicious/robustly assessed as symptomatic of patient’s ill 

health) 

Prevention 

 

Page 85



 

 
 

 74 

The TSPPS is committed to ensuring active contribution to both Nottingham City and 
Nottinghamshire adult safeguarding boards. We actively engage in workstreams, working 
groups, subgroups, board meetings and the development of strategies and toolkits. 
The TSPPS has established a public protection and a safeguarding subgroup to align 
priorities with the board and ensure continued development and awareness across the 
trust; this is supported by the quality assurance, multi-agency review and training, learning 
and improvement subgroups to share and monitor ongoing work. The TSPPS has worked 
closely with Nottinghamshire safeguarding adult board in relation to offender health and 
facilitating a working relationship. 
   
The TSPPS continues to run the single point of contact (SPOC) where early intervention 
and preventative strategies are advised and discussed in relation to the care of service 
users such as the use of the self-neglect toolkit. A self- neglect trustwide integrated 
safeguarding review was completed by trainee health psychologist, safeguarding lead, and 
clinical safeguarding associate. This has been shared via the trustwide strategic 
safeguarding group and work continues around the recommendations. A project has been 
undertaken by the TSPPS regarding routine enquiry across the trust. Identifying barriers 
and actions required to make routine enquiry standard practice. Work is ongoing in this 
arena and includes working alongside the patient involvement group looking at service 
user experiences of being asked routine enquiry. 
 
  
The TSPPS continues to engage in multi-agency meetings such as MARAC, SERAC, 
MACE, Channel Panel, DVSA. A working group has been developed to ensure that there 
is a standard approach to these meetings by the trust and the most appropriate 
information is being shared by the most appropraite professionals, this will enhance the 
engagement at these meetings. The TSPPS also offers chairs to the MARAC meetings 
and is part of the MARAC steering group.  
  
To enhance the workforce’s knowledge and understanding around certain safeguarding 
issues and to therefore increase the safety of service users, a variety of policies have been 
reviewed and training developed and delivered. Domestic abuse training has been 
developed and is being rolled out across the trust. There is an emphasis on face-to-face 
level 3 training to enhance discussion and development to try and bridge any theory 
practice gaps.  There is a DASH RiC and MARAC specific training that is offered across 
the trust which focusses on when and how to complete the forms. The workforce domestic 
abuse policy is under review. A stalking and harassment policy has been developed and 
shared across the trust. To accompany this posters and MS Teams backgrounds have 
been developed.  
 
The TSPPS has developed a leadership in safeguarding workshop aimed at all clinical 
leads to provide a more in-depth knowledge of safeguarding to ensure the wellbeing of 
service users and to provide support to staff in service areas. 
 
The TSPPS has had agreement to recruit to a sexual safety lead for the Trust, the job is 
currently going through the recruitment process. This is to ensure sexual safety is 
considered and acted upon timely and effectively across the trust with the underpinning 
processes and support from the lead. This role will also ensure that the trust is adhering to 
the sexual safety charter.  
 

Page 86



 

 
 

 75 

Work has been developed with employee relations and recruitment colleagues to look at 
safer staffing within the recruitment process. Updates to the model A and model B forms 
and the interview pack have been developed and are in sign off process. There have been 
several agreed actions to take place to tighten the process, with additional checks and 
training being implemented.  
 
The PiPoT policy has been reviewed and updated and a training session developed to 
accompany the role out. Training sessions are being delivered focussing initially on 
Rampton Hospital staff but will be rolled out across the Trust over the following year.  
 
The TSPPS is part of the rapid involvement groups for MHSOP, adult mental health and 
offender health. This ensures a safeguarding focus on aspects of work and improvement 
being undertaken and is an opportunity to share good practice across the Trust.  
  
The trust has a transitional safeguarding working group, work completed to date is to add 
transitional safeguarding into current training packages. The Norfolk 7-minute briefing has 
been shared, information shared via safeguarding newsletter, during safeguarding link 
champions session and via SEND champions. Comments have been made to inform five 
policy updates. A transitional information tab has been added to the adult safeguarding 
template on SysmOne and a link to both child and adult safeguarding templates on 
SystmOne. Ongoing work is to ensure transitional safeguarding is reflected in all relevant 
trust policies, for the TSPPS to be an active part of the adult board and children's 
partnership working group, and to further identify awareness opportunities.   

Assurance 

The Trust has an Adult Safeguarding Policy (06.04 Safeguarding Adults at Risk) which 
aligns with the Local Authority processes and reflect the requirements of the Care Act 
2014. All staff are required to complete the Safeguarding Think Family Safeguarding 
training which lays out the individual’s responsibilities in respect of safeguarding adults. 

The Trust has Policy and Procedure in place which highlights the pathway to referring 
victims of domestic abuse to the relevant specialist service.  

The organisation is committed to learning lessons from serious incidents and has well 
established networks for the dissemination of information trust wide. One notable inclusion 
is the safeguarding Link Champions network, which is a group of practitioners from across 
the trust who have a specific interest in safeguarding. This group meets for one day per 
quarter to receive safeguarding updates and focused training which they then take back 
into their service. Additionally, the Safeguarding Service produces regular thematic 
bulletins which highlight lessons from reviews. 

Quality and Performance data collection and analysis continued to improve throughout 
2023-24 and the Q4 report is embedded below. This data includes information relating to 
staff training, safeguarding activity, highlights and hotspots, as well as trends and themes. 
The report is produced quarterly and is scrutinised at the quarterly Trustwide Safeguarding 
Strategic Group, along with other relevant reports. For example, in 2023-2024 there was a 
sexual safety clinical audit report, a MAPPA Project Plan Update, a report of the 
safeguarding review of CAMHS inpatient wards at Hopewood. A sample agenda is 
embedded below.  

The Trust has a Mental Capacity Act Team consisting of specialist practitioners who offer 
support, advice and guidance to staff in all aspects of the Mental Capacity Act, as well as 
providing training to staff.  

Page 87



 

 
 

 76 

During 2023-24, a survey was circulated for staff to complete about their experience of 
using routine enquiry in everyday practice in order to assess barriers and inform future 
improvements in services to survivors of Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse.  

Engagement 

During 2023-24, the Safeguarding Team developed and launched a Making Safeguarding 
Personal Strategy which was widely promoted across the Trust through assurance visits 
and roadshows, as well as inclusion in the programme of events arranged for Adult 
Safeguarding week in November 2023. 

The TSPPS oversees all section 42 enquiries to ensure that the enquiries are robust, and 
a Making Safeguarding Personal approach is embedded. Within the process a planning 
meeting is convened between the TSPSS, the local authority and the service involved in 
the enquiry. This process has been effective in supporting services to understand their role 
in enquiries and to ensure they have a patient focused approach to developing any 
required safeguarding plans. 

The service undertakes a programme of assurance visits to sites across the Trust; as part 
of these visits, the Involvement, Experience and Volunteering (IEV) Service are contacted 
to gain any feedback for the service.  

The IEV are invited to attend team meetings to share the voice of the service user and 
provide feedback gathered through a range of sources, including online and direct contact. 

The Freedom to Speak Up agenda at Nottinghamshire Healthcare is supported by a 
network of FTSU Champions across the organisation. They regularly facilitate quality 
improvement conversation meetings. 

The IEV contributed to the Routine Enquiry work described above, developing a survey to 
get patient feedback around routine enquiry.  

The Mental Capacity Act is referenced in the Trust Adult Safeguarding Policy as well as 
being a stand-alone Procedure. Its impact is supported and monitored by the Trust’s 
Mental Capacity Act Team, which includes delivering specific, mandatory training to staff 
throughout the organisation. 

Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust 

Assurance 

Roles and Responsibilities 

NUH has a dedicated team of safeguarding professionals in line with statutory 
requirements as described in the Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework 
2024- (SAAF) At NUH, the Chief Nurse is the executive lead for Safeguarding delegating 
key responsibilities to the Head of Safeguarding and Harm Free Care. Other key roles 
include, Named Doctors for Safeguarding, Named Nurse for Children, Named Midwife, 
Adult Safeguarding Lead, Specialist Nurses and Practitioners for adult, children’s and 
midwifery safeguarding and domestic abuse. The teams are available for all staff to 
contact for support and act as a single point of contact, quality assuring all referrals prior to 
sending to external agencies.  

NUH has safeguarding policies, procedures and associated guidelines. These are aligned 
to the multi-agency safeguarding policies and procedures. 

Despite capacity issues the team have continued to prioritise immediate safeguarding and 
work closely with our partner organisations. The Safeguarding teams are split into 3 

Page 88



 

 
 

 77 

specialities; Childrens, Midwifery and Adults and have a close working relationship as 
caseload often overlaps. Staff support is in place, including appraisals, 1:1 meetings, team 
meetings, supervision and debriefs. 

Mandatory training 

The safeguarding teams design and deliver a new mandatory training session every year. 
In a 3 yearly cycle, this covers all aspects of the intercollegiate document at level 1, 2 and 
3 for children’s safeguarding and level 1 and 2 for adults, and meet all the requirements 
from the core skills framework. This is updated with learning from local reviews and 
incorporates new legislation. At the end of Q1 the trust was at 87% compliance for ‘Think 
Family’ mandatory training 

Prevent training data  

At the end of Q4 the Prevent training figures are: 

Level 1-87% 

Level 3-79% 

At the end if Q4 NUH are below the required figure (85%) for Prevent, level 3. 

Learning and organisational development continue to provide additional sessions to 
support staff that have difficulty accessing IT systems. 

The estates and facilities department run an increased number of training sessions in 
quarter 1 to reduce the number of staff needing to attend training in the winter months 
when teams are under greater pressure so it is likely that these numbers will improve 
significantly in quarter 1 of 2024/25. 

OMMT (Oliver McGowan Mandatory Training) 

In July 2022, the Health and Care Act 2022 introduced a requirement that regulated 
service providers ensure their staff receive training on learning disability and autism, which 
is appropriate to the person’s role. Care Quality Commission (CQC) registered health and 
social care providers must ensure that all staff, regardless of role or level of seniority, have 
the right attitude and skills to support people with a learning disability and autistic people. 
Providers will need to demonstrate to the CQC how their training meets or exceeds the 
standards set out in this code of practice. NUH learning and organisational development 
team (L&OD) have been part of the implementation steering group, the adult safeguarding 
lead has been part of the task and finish group.  

The commitment to complete this training, which includes a full day of face-to-face training, 
provides a significant challenge to the trust. Currently there are approximately 13,000 staff 
identified as needing the Tier 2 training. With limited trainers’ available, issues with training 
spaces and the numbers able to be trained in each session it will be challenging to reach 
the required targets. 

L&OD are working with the ICB and HEE and other partners to support the roll out of this 
training. NUH have signed up as a pilot area for the training to be trialled regionally. The 
online learning and supporting data collection programmes went live on 01/07/2024. The 
Deputy Chief Nurse has presented a paper to the Children and Young People Board at 
NUH, in relation to this training and for consideration of how learning disability and autism 
training can delivered once the pilot is complete.  

MARAC 

The number of MARAC’s has continued to have a significant impact on the safeguarding 
teams. The adult safeguarding team have been unable to attend many of the MARAC’s 

Page 89



 

 
 

 78 

due to reduced capacity within the team and the increased number of cases being heard 
at MARAC. The team have continued to provide research and have attended when 
capacity has allowed. The adult safeguarding lead has continued to chair MARAC’s in 
Nottingham City.  

Nottingham City MARAC has been part of an extensive review led by Philip Broxholme, 
the outcome of this review has been shared with the safeguarding adult’s board. A new 
process has been identified that will begin on 01/10/2024, it is expected that the new 
process will significantly reduce the number of cases heard at a full MARAC and will 
reduce the impact on wider organisations. If the new process is deemed successful on 
evaluation, it is hoped that the County will adopt this process. NUH adult safeguarding 
lead has been involved in the review and the task and finish groups. 

The Survivor Advocacy Support Service (SASS) IDVA role has been recruited, new staff 
are now in post. 

 

Mental health in an acute trust 

There are increasing numbers of patients attending the trust requiring support with their 
mental health. There are appropriate services commissioned to provide liaison psychiatry 
support across the organisation.. The Deputy Medical Director has presented a paper for 
the Trust Leadership Board outlining the gaps in provision of care for patients suffering 
with mental health conditions and to consider what is needed to provide the appropriate 
support for staff and patients and to improve outcomes for patients. This paper was 
approved at Board. A working group is in progress, with a planned business case. 

 

SERAC 

NUH safeguarding teams continue to work closely with the Slavery and Exploitation teams 
to ensure concerns are escalated and appropriate information shared. NUH currently do 
not have the capacity to attend the monthly SERAC’s but do share information where 
requested and have excellent working relationships with the slavery and exploitation team. 
This has been a longstanding issue. We have built strong relationships with the slavery 
and exploitation team and share information as appropriate between teams to safeguard 
those at risk. 

Prevention 

 
Rapid review process regarding staff allegations with safeguarding element 
 
The Rapid Review Process supports the principles of ‘Person in a Position of Trust’ 
guidance (PiPOT) and is embedded within the Trust. The process has led to improved 
communications, and supportive discussions when cases do not meet a criminal threshold 
but may meet a safeguarding threshold. The team work closely with Divisional teams and 
the Acting Operational Head of People. A policy is in place and is currently being updated.  
  
High Intensity User service 
 
The role of the High Intensity Use (HIU) team is to identify individuals attending the 
Emergency Department at NUH more frequently than expected, establish the underlying 
unmet need(s) and support people to engage with the most appropriate services for those 
needs. A significant proportion of people that meet HIU inclusion are experiencing 

Page 90



 

 
 

 79 

significant deprivation, based on Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) scores, and many 
would be considered to be experiencing severe multiple disadvantage. The challenge for 
the HIU team is in developing meaningful relationships with people experiencing 
disadvantage to rebuild trust in traditional services, and advocate for care to be 
personalised to enable engagement. The national objectives for the HIU service are to 
reduce ED attendances and non-elective admissions. 307 individuals have met the 
inclusion metrics for the HIU caseload since May 2022. 180 of those people live in 
Nottingham City, 100 live in Nottinghamshire, 23 live in bordering areas and for 4 people 
their location is unclear. 155 are female, and 149 are male with 3 remaining people 
unknown.  

Disadvantage and SMD: 

51.4% of the HIU caseload are considered to reside in the most deprived areas of 
Nottingham/Nottinghamshire.  

Index Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 1 score 1 = 32.5%, (n=100) and IMD score 2 = 18.9% 
(n=58).  

68.4% of the HIU caseload reside in the 4 lowest IMD scored areas. 
 
The HIU team work directly with patients attending the emergency department to enable 
them to access the services and social support they need. They also work closely with 
community partners and organisations to ensure there is joined up working and 
appropriate and effective information sharing to support and safeguard. 
 
Results: 

Please see tables below for impact on ED attendances and IP/bed days for individuals 
allocated to a cohort that received some form of intervention from the HIU team.  

 

 

Page 91



 

 
 

 80 

 

Learning disability: 
 
Patients with a known Learning disability (LD) and/or Autism diagnosis are alerted on 
Trust's computer system. The alert informs the LD team when a patient attends, and they 
can identify those patients that may require their input and they can offer support early in 
the hospital journey. This also triggers information regarding reasonable adjustments to be 
easily available to staff on Nervecentre which is the trusts ‘live’ system for in-patient care. 
The LD team work closely with the safeguarding teams and attend Adult Safeguarding 
Committee; they provide data and information to this committee as part of their 
governance process. The Trust continues to support the Structured Judgment Case 
Review and LeDeR process and ensuring any learning is shared widely and processes are 
implemented to support service improvement. 
 
Persons who pose a risk: 
 
The Trust has a policy for Assessment and Management of Individuals who Pose a Risk. 
The Head of Safeguarding attends the Trust’s Security Management Committee. The ICB 
representative attends MAPPA and shares any appropriate information with the NUH Adult 
Safeguarding lead. This information is shared with appropriate teams and risk 
assessments are undertaken as per Trust policy. The Head of Safeguarding and the Adult 
Safeguarding lead have met with Probation and the ICB lead to look at any gaps in 
information sharing. There is work ongoing to put processes in place to agree what 
information needs to be shared with acute trusts and who is responsible for sharing. 
 
Patient engagement and co-production 
 
NUH has a ‘Patient Engagement and Experience Steering Group’. There is wide 
representation from our patient groups at various trust committees and governance 
groups. All changes to the delivery of services are discussed at this group, and 
governance forums have patient representatives. The NUH lead for this is working with the 
County lead for co-production to ensure organisations are sharing the views and expertise 
of their patients to plan, design and deliver effective training programmes. 
 
Mental Capacity Act 

Page 92



 

 
 

 81 

Training is available online for all staff. In addition, all medical staff complete a module 
through EIDO healthcare. An MCA audit is completed every quarter by the clinical areas. 
Feedback regarding results and learning are discussed at Divisional governance meetings 
and Safeguarding Committee. The teams provide support to the clinical areas and attend 
MDT meetings for patients with complex needs. 

Learning from Safeguarding and Domestic Homicide Reviews 

The Head of Safeguarding is a member of the Safeguarding Adults Boards, the Adult 
Safeguarding Lead nurse is a member of the SAR and QA subgroups for Nottingham City 
and County, the MARAC steering groups and the DHR ALIG. The Safeguarding Adults’ 
Team Leader attends the training learning and implementation subgroups. Information and 
learning is then shared via a number of forums and processes including policy and 
guidelines, governance processes, training, both face to face and e-learning, via emails 
and documents and via the safeguarding intranet site. Audit and impact documents are 
then completed 6 months post review to evidence how the learning has been embedded 
and evidence learning or changes to practice.   

Safeguarding Champions 

The Trust has approximately 180 safeguarding champions. The safeguarding teams 
provide quarterly training and updates to this group to support dissemination of learning 
from SAR’s, DHR’s and CSPR’s across the organisation and increase knowledge and 
understanding of safeguarding legislation. External organisations support by providing 
training about their organisations, recently, the Topaz centre team delivered training. 

Sexual Safety Charter 

NUH has signed up to the Sexual Safety Charter (NHSE) A task and finish group is in 
progress to ensure that the 10 points of the charter are embedded in policies procedures 
and guidelines and are easily accessible for staff. The group will also address the 
requirements from The Workers Protection Act 2023.  

Supervision 

The Safeguarding Supervision policy forms part of the NUH generic clinical supervision 
policy. Safeguarding supervision is provided on an ad-hoc basis to members of staff when 
requested or as a formal debrief after complex cases. As described in the risk, the ability to 
provide supervision for all staff is currently limited.  

Audit 

The Trust uses the Tendable audit App to seek assurance of knowledge and 
understanding of Trust processes. The Adult Safeguarding lead and Team Leader review 
scores from the audit to identify areas that require additional support, they deliver 
additional training for identified areas. 

Governance 

NUH has robust Governance structures in place,  A Joint Committee, including  the 
Safeguarding Childrens, Adults  and Midwifery teams is held every quarter and chaired by 
the Chief Nurse.  

 
The Safeguarding Committee receives quarterly activity data from the safeguarding team, 
updates from SCR’s, DHR’s and lessons learned from these and other complex case 
reviews. The divisional teams attend this committee to share relevant information and to 
take learning back to the clinical teams. The TOR has recently been reviewed and 
members are asked to provide a quarterly assurance update report to Committee, 

Page 93



 

 
 

 82 

including audit feedback, training figures and actions plans. Relevant information from this 
committee is escalated through the wider Trust assurance/governance groups. A bi- 
monthly report is completed and presented to the Quality Assurance Committee.  

Operational Risks and Mitigations 

Safeguarding Establishment Risk 

The current risk score associated with an under established safeguarding team following 
the increase in demand on the service and financial constraints is high. The risk 
assessment has been approved at the trust’s ‘Risk Management Operational Group’ 
(RMOG) and is awaiting further discussion at the Risk Management Committee (RMC). 
The risk is a live managed risk. A gap analysis has been completed and a business case 
is in progress.  

Performance monitoring responsibilities 

NUH provides the CQC, ICB and local Safeguarding Boards with evidence that it is 
discharging its safeguarding reporting duties. Assurance is gathered via audit, staff 
feedback and surveys, training questionnaires and evaluations and data relating to 
referrals, Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and Section 42 enquiries.  

The management and reduction of pressure ulcer incidents is a Trust Quality Priority (QP) 
for 2024/25, with the aim to reduce incidents by 15% each year. A Lead Nurse is in post, 
with an in-house Tissue Viability team who provide expert advice to the clinical areas. A 
number of interventions and work streams are in progress to reduce the incidence of 
hospital acquired category 2 and 3 pressure ulcers, including new beds and pressure 
relieving mattress provision trust wide, audit and focus work in clinical areas. The 
investigation process of pressure ulcers adopts a ‘PSIRF’ approach (Patient Safety 
Incident Response Framework) Terminology has changed to identify contributory learning 
or no contributory learning for all acquired category 3 and 4 pressure ulcers. The 
safeguarding and tissue viability teams support with the completion of complaints and 
claims, offering expert advice to clinical and legal teams providing reports for HM Coroner 
as required.  

Closed Cultures 

As part of the People Strategy at NUH, the Trust aims to embed a ‘Just Culture’ creating a 
culture of fairness, openness and learning. This encourages colleagues to feel confident to 
speak up when things go wrong, rather than fearing blame. There are well established 
support processes in place, including psychological wellbeing and TRIM (Trauma Risk 
Management) sessions available for staff who have been involved in incidents.  

Recruitment 

The Trust follows safer recruitment guidelines to ensure the recruitment of appropriately 
qualified, trained and DBS checked staff. The Trust does not repeat DBS checks every 3 
years. DBS checks are completed when staff change a role or when initially recruited. The 
‘Fit and Proper Person’ test has been completed for all Board members and the Trust 
made a submission to NHSE at the end of June 2024 to confirm that the trust has met the 
requirements. 

Engagement 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 

As part of the work in the Quality Assurance (QA) sub-group, NUH contributed to the 
‘making safeguarding personal’ audit. The data from this audit has been shared with each 
organisation. The Adult Safeguarding lead will review the data for NUH and feedback at 

Page 94



 

 
 

 83 

the September QA meeting to identify areas for training and share an action plan to 
improve knowledge and understanding. Making Safeguarding Personal is already included 
in the mandatory and domestic abuse training. 

There is still work in progress to improve knowledge around MSP but there is evidence in 
referrals to suggest that staff take a person-centred approach. Many NUH services are 
back to pre-pandemic processes however, some of the virtual contacts are identified as 
appropriate for some patients who have difficulties attending in person. There is a robust 
governance process in place to identify whom this virtual contact is appropriate for and to 
ensure that staff undertake a risk assessment, which includes health and safeguarding 
risks. Any concerns would then mean that those patients would not be offered a virtual 
contact. 

 

Case study – Nottingham University Hospitals 

Lady in her 70’s is a regular attender to the trust. She has multiple health issues, and 
her husband has declining physical health and a likely undiagnosed cognitive 
impairment. She has been disclosing domestic abuse from her husband including 
physical assaults for a number of years. She would engage initially then decline to 
support any referrals or to speak to any partner agencies. DASH-RIC’s were completed 
on a number of occasions often resulting in a referral to MARAC without her consent 
due to the high levels of harm and ongoing risk. 

This lady does not have a cognitive impairment, she is able to make her wishes and 
feelings known and understands that her decision to return home carries significant risk.  

They have been married a long time, they have joint finances, and she feels she has 
limited options if she decided to leave. Refuge would not be appropriate due to her 
health issues. 

In the last year, her health has declined further but she insists she wants to return home 
to her husband despite the increasing risk of harm because she is less able to protect 
herself and get to a place of safety. The safeguarding teams, clinical staff in ED and on 
the ward have formed a relationship that allows her to disclose and stay in hospital as a 
place of safety while she considers her next steps. In the last six months, she has 
become more accepting of support and is more willing to engage in services. She has 
now agreed to speak to a safeguarding social worker and is starting to engage. On her 
last few admissions, she has remained in hospital spoken to the safeguarding team and 
allowed the social worker to visit and discuss safety and look at her care and support 
needs and discuss options for leaving her husband. 

It is not clear currently if the risk has decreased, but she is starting to trust staff, she is 
starting to engage and she has all of the information she needs to make an informed 
choice.   

Hospital teams have linked in with social care colleagues and the GP to consider 
whether her husband lacks capacity to make decisions about his own care and support 
needs. So far, he is deemed to have capacity for these decisions. 

This evidences making safeguarding personal, good multi-agency information sharing 
and working to safeguard, and wider consideration of others with vulnerabilities. This 
also evidences good use of the mental capacity act to support appropriate referral and 
intervention. 

 

Page 95



 

 
 

 84 

POhWER Advocacy 

Organisational Risks and Mitigation 

A change in contract resulting in less resources to deliver Advocacy locally, potentially 
impacting independent identification of safeguarding concerns. A key role of the 
Independent Advocate is to recognise and raise safeguarding concerns as they meet and 
work with people at risk through the course of their work. The requirement to meet 
increasing demands with constrained resources means advocates are less able to spend 
quality time with their clients which might enable them to identify safeguarding concerns.  
The mitigation to this is a full return to face to face working to those clients most at risk, 
and continued training in identifying and escalating safeguarding. There is also an 
opportunity for advocates to attend the quarterly safeguarding forum at POhWER and 
case discussions at team meetings and supervisions. There is continued valuable 
engagement with wider Nottinghamshire and Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Boards 
and subgroups. 

Risks around recruitment and staffing continued during the last year as the impact of the 
challenges around the labour market and cost of living continue. They continue to impact 
our ability to recruit and re-train along with others in the Health and Social Care Sector.  
The mitigations put in place for this were an exceptional 3% pay rise during the year, a 
one-off payment for staff and a review of the pay policy and progression pathway which 
are in preparation for Board review at POhWER.  

Prevention 

Successful agency co-operation in relation to adult Safeguarding: 

• POhWER attends the Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Adults Board Partnership 

Events and sessions and values the strategic overview this gives us. We liaise closely 

particularly with Adult Social Care professionals and the Safeguarding Teams to 

ensure our beneficiaries are appropriately represented and safeguarded. We do 

sometimes have to prompt referral for advocacy support where we have made a 

safeguarding concern for someone we know will have substantial difficulty engaging 

with the safeguarding process. Our Care Act advocates and IMCAs (Independent 

Mental Capacity Advocate) are greatly experienced in supporting people who find 

themselves in safeguarding enquiries.  

• Senior level attendance at SAB meetings in Nottinghamshire and also the ICS Mental 

Health Quality & Safety Group. These both provide an opportunity to discuss 

Advocacy and to bring the voice of the person to the Board.  

Staff training, new ways of working or new posts created that bring about an 

improvement in an agency’s ability to safeguard the people they work with, ideally 

grounded evidentially or analytically: 

• As part of a regular audit programme POhWER’s Board of Trustees instructed an 
independent audit of POhWER’s Safeguarding polices procedures and culture. This 
will report in July 2024 with any recommendations forming an action plan.  

Page 96



 

 
 

 85 

 
Organisational HR & recruitment practices that take account of the need to protect 

adults at risk, including polices concerning ‘persons in positions of trust’: 

• Our People Director continually reviews and revises the policies and procedures 

relating to HR and recruitment practices, but also develops tools and training for 

managers across the organisation. Already all staff must have an enhanced DBS 

check before working in the Charity and a minimum of two references are taken up 

before formal offer of contract of employment. 

• All Leaders who are involved in recruitment for POhWER attend Mandatory Safer 

Recruitment training.  

Assurance 

Having appropriate arrangements in place to safeguard adults:  

• POhWER has robust policies and processes in place to escalate safeguarding 

concerns to the appropriate authority safeguarding team. Data on this is monitored 

and reported on to our Board of Trustees on a quarterly basis; with further analysis 

to identify themes and trends, particularly if single incidents don’t merit escalation on 

their own but do form a pattern or theme or trend. In addition, the independent 

safeguarding audit will be making any best practice recommendations to the policies 

and processes.  

Assurance that learning from Safeguarding Adults Reviews and other serious 

incidents or internal audits are embedded:  

• This is done at both local team level and organisationally through the senior 

management team safeguarding roundtable that takes place every month. 

Analysis of statistical data collected by your organisation in relation to Safeguarding 

adults: 

• See above under appropriate arrangements. 

The number of staff undertaking safeguarding training against our organisations 
targets and any evaluation undertaken:  

• 100% compliance is required from Nottingham/shire Advocacy team, compliance at 

98% in June 2024 with one staff member completing as part of induction.   

How we ensure staff can apply the Mental Capacity Act in practice:  

Page 97



 

 
 

 86 

• POhWER Independent Advocates all work to delivery Advocacy in line with the 

Mental Capacity Act and are expected to attend and participate in mandatory training. 

Brief summary of your organisation’s quality assurance / governance arrangements 

in relation to Safeguarding adults:  

• POhWER is regulated by the Charity Commission and our safeguarding framework 

follows the 10 key Charity Commission principles on safeguarding. The processes 

that govern how we achieve compliance are part of our Quality Management System 

which is accredited to ISO 9001.  In 2024 POhWER has been re-awarded the QPM 

(Quality Performance Mark for Advocacy) this will be re-assessed in 3 years (2027). 

Engagement 

Evidencing an organisational approach to MSP that is person led and outcome 

focused: 

• It is a key tenant of POhWER’s advocacy that it is person led, issue specific and 

outcome focused and this is embedded in our safeguarding policies and procedures. 

Each safeguarding concern is logged as a new issue on our client record database, 

with the person raising the concern exploring with the beneficiary what outcome they 

want to achieve. If we have to breach confidentiality due to the nature of a disclosure 

we will always, where it is safe to do so, inform the person before we do breach 

confidentiality. 

Providing qualitative or quantitative citizen feedback from adults who have 

experienced the process, evidencing the extent to which their desired outcomes have 

been met: 

• We ask for feedback from every beneficiary we support. We also use an outcomes 

framework (National Development Team for Inclusion - NDTi Outcomes) to capture 

the impact advocacy support has had on the person and this is included in the 

quarterly reporting we provide to our commissioners. 

Anonymised case examples demonstrating what MSP looks like in your organisation: 

• We utilise anonymised case studies in our internal discussions, training and quarterly 

safeguarding forums as well as during case discussions at Team meetings and peer 

groups.  Case studies are also shared with commissioners at our quarterly contract 

monitoring meetings. 

Page 98



 

 
 

 87 

Staff surveys recording what front-line practitioners say about outcomes for adults 

and their ability to work in a personalised way with those adults: 

• As part of the independent safeguarding audit a staff survey was conducted with all 

staff at POhWER in relation to their views on achieving outcomes and ability to work 

in a personalised way when working with adults.  This includes both when they are 

working in an instructed capacity under section 42 of the Care Act and also when 

they have had safeguarding concerns disclosed to them or have observed anything 

that concerns them.  

Evidence that the Mental Capacity Act is fully referenced within our safeguarding 

policy and procedures and that staff have properly implemented these when working 

with adults at risk: 

• As a significant amount of our advocacy work relates to people for whom we have 
received Mental Capacity Act statutory referrals (either for IMCA support or in the 
Relevant Person’s Paid Representative role within Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards - DOLS), the Mental Capacity Act is embedded in our safeguarding 
adults policy and procedures. Our staff understand the requirement to treat 
everyone as having capacity unless it has been assessed that they lack capacity in 
a time and issue specific situation. Along with all others who we make safeguarding 
referrals to the local authority for, even if someone is deemed to lack capacity about 
an issue, we engage with them to try to ensure they understand the issue, gain their 
views and wishes and ultimately explain if we have to breach confidentiality to make 
a safeguarding report. 

Nottinghamshire Police 

Our duty is to deliver the best policing service we can on behalf of the public of 
Nottinghamshire. 

Over the last year the force’s ‘Proud to Serve Pledge’ has been developed and embedded; 
this provides clarity of purpose and direction for our staff. It also represents a tangible 
commitment, by which the public can hold us to account. 

We will only meet the challenges facing policing by building trust and confidence within our 
communities. We do this by serving the public with pride, compassion, and integrity as we 
relentlessly fight crime, protect vulnerable people, and participate in meaningful 
engagement with our communities to ensure they feel safe and listened to. 

Adult safeguarding  

The way in which we manage safeguarding and mitigate threats has seen huge 
improvements, and we are in a good position to manage demand in this area with our 
current staffing and resources, utilising our partnerships with other agencies. Although we 
see a continuous increase in the volume of work, we are managing this effectively and 
processes are continually reviewed to ensure we remain in a position to manage our 
demand. Our forecasting of demand shows an increase, and we are continually reviewing 
staffing to ensure that it meets the needs of our partnership working arrangements.  

Page 99



 

 
 

 88 

There is a continual increase in the demand of the city and county Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hubs (MASH). We assess all Public Protection Notices (PPN), which go 
through the MASH, allowing prioritisation of risk. This process allows us to maintain 
stability and manage our workload in a way that prioritises the highest risk PPNs and 
enables efficiency.  

Given the level of social need emerging from the cost-of-living crisis, there is ongoing 
training for frontline staff around PPN necessity and quality, to ensure that we continue to 
drive up quality of PPNs.  

From June 2023, National Referral Mechanism (NRM) contacts have been processed 
within the MASH. The projection for NRM numbers in 2024/25 will create further demand.  

Our staffing levels within the MASH (both city and county) are good, and we are at 
establishment to meet demand. During times of annual leave there is an increase to our 
work, but we have processes in place and staffing levels are sufficient to meet this 
temporary rise in demand.  

There is ongoing training to improve the quality of PPN submissions across the force. All 
PPNs are quality assured before referral and training will assist in minimising the oversight 
demand within the MASH.  

 

Prevention Hub  

The Prevention Hub was launched on 6 November 2023 and brings together prevention 
activities from across the force into one department. The aims of the Prevention Hub align 
with the National Prevention Strategy: fewer victims, fewer offences, and less demand on 
policing, achieved by addressing underlying causes and using partnership-oriented 
problem solving. Ensuring prevention underpins what we do helps to earning the trust and 
confidence of the public through coordinated and meaningful engagement, preventing 
crime, disorder and ASB while ensuring the most suitable outcome is achieved.  

The Prevention Hub is divided into two sides: Prevention and Engagement, and 
Safeguarding and Reducing Reoffending. 

This new approach to prevention focuses on embedding problem-solving across the 
organisation and a preventative thread throughout the force to break offending cycles to 
make positive changes in public and private spaces. It is anticipated this approach will 
have a significant positive impact to community safety, reducing crime and victimisation, 
while increasing trust and confidence in the police and partners through collaborative 
working. 

 

Missing persons  

Through our Vulnerability Hub and Missing Persons Team (MPT), we have a dedicated 
resource who have developed expertise in the locating and safeguarding of missing 
people. 

The MPT, together with the Mental Health Street Triage and Hate teams, form part of the 
Vulnerability Hub and are based within our Contact Management centre. The purpose is to 
provide faster information to real-time incidents and advise dispatchers and officers around 
techniques to help resolve MFH enquiries faster.  

The MPT coordinate and oversee our response to missing persons through the activities of 
our investigation, safeguarding and prevention functions.  

Page 100



 

 
 

 89 

Our response is proportionate to the assessed risk of each case, with those assessed as 
high requiring significant resources to manage the perceived risk posed. 

 

People with mental ill-health  

Policing has found itself increasingly drawn into the management of those in mental health 
crisis. Right Care Right Person (RCRP) is a national approach and provides definition and 
clarity for when the police should be responding to mental health crisis and otherwise 
deemed non-police matters, not only ensuring the most suitable care for the individual but 
allowing appropriate prioritisation. 

We look to build on our Most Appropriate Agency policy in line with RCRP, and our aim is 
to deliver this in 2024/25. RCRP is an approach that looks at ensuring that the right 
agency respond to those in need. RCRP utilises a partnership approach and will empower 
Call Handlers, via a decision-making framework, to determine when it is appropriate for 
police to attend. 

Mental health demand can be subject to significant change based upon regional and 
national landscape, and the financial constraints on mental health services. This increases 
pressure on policing. We hope that this will be mitigated in some part by our Most 
Appropriate Agency policy in line with the RCRP approach. 

 

Social vulnerabilities  

While dealing with the impact of social vulnerability has long been the preserve of policing, 
the management of those in deprivation has become an increasingly central role 
undertaken by the service. The challenge, particularly with the ongoing cost-of-living crisis, 
is significant but we continue to engage with partners to identify long-term solutions to 
safeguard the vulnerable and provide support to those living with deprivation in our 
communities.  

Social vulnerabilities, including alcohol and substance use, deprivation and homelessness 
can have a direct impact on our demand. We recognise we have a significant role to play 
in the identification of social vulnerabilities, and the subsequent safeguarding and 
investigation and prevention of offending as a result.  

As a force we have recognised the requirements of these areas and to reflect the varying 
needs and a more proactive approach to prevent offending as a result, alcohol and 
substance use has now been placed under our Prevention Hub.  

We are working closely with Changing Futures supporting the Home Office evaluated 
pathway, which has been developed by the city to combat begging and homelessness. 
This has been evaluated by Home Office researchers and highlighted several positive 
outcomes, including preventing people from entering the criminal justice system.  

We continue to undertake reviews of all drug-related deaths to establish any learning or 
underlying trends.  

Internally, vulnerability is managed and overseen within the Strategic Vulnerability Board.  

There continues to be a significant increase in the number of recorded rough sleepers 
within Nottingham which is exacerbated by the ongoing cost-of-living crisis.  

The crisis continues to make predicting future demand difficult, given it is having such a 
fundamental effect on deprivation levels within society. The longer the crisis continues, the 
larger the numbers drawn into deprivation will become.  

Page 101



 

 
 

 90 

Following a change programme our establishment in neighbourhood policing teams (NPT) 
provides greater support to local areas and risk.  

Key policing departments including custody, our Control Room and NPTs have specific 
structures in place to identify, risk assess and support people exhibiting signs of social 
vulnerability.  

Whilst there is an ever-increasing requirement for policing support within this area, we 
believe that working within partnerships with other agencies ensures that the demand will 
be met moving forward. We will continue to review this regularly. 

 

Page 102



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Report Title:  
Occupational Therapy in Nottinghamshire Fire and 
Rescue Service Prevention Team 
 

Lead Board Member(s): Damien West – Assistant Chief Fire Officer 
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

Rebecca Sandy – Lead Clinical Specialist 
Occupational Therapist 
Rebecca.sandy@notts-fire.gov.uk 
07385225042 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

 
 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
Occupational Therapy is now embedded within the Prevention service at 
Nottinghamshire Fire and rescue Service (NFRS), offering specialist assessment 
and weekly mental health triage of Safe and Well Visits (SWVs). 
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 

 To note progress of the Occupational Therapy secondment 

 To encourage professional parties to encourage staff to complete our 
referral training:  Select tickets – CHARLIE-P Partner Training Sessions – 
Highfields Fire Station – Next dates: March 12 2025 and May 8 2025. 

 To encourage interested parties to comment on the public consultation on 
the NFRS Community Risk Management Plan before 1 Decemeber 2024, 
available here: Have Your Say – Fire Service Seeks Public Views On Draft 
Plans - NFRS 

 
 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

Aims and Priorities How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

 
Embedding Occupational Therapy within 
the Prevention offer by NFRS allows us 
to proactively improve access to health 
services as part of a holistic approach to 
fire prevention. We aim to be particularly 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6

https://www.tickettailor.com/events/nottsfire/1385435
https://www.tickettailor.com/events/nottsfire/1385435
https://www.notts-fire.gov.uk/news/crmp-consultation-launch/
https://www.notts-fire.gov.uk/news/crmp-consultation-launch/


Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

focussed on those who experience 
mental ill-health. 
 
The role also supports NFRS 
organisational commitment to education 
and support around smoking cessation, 
to also reduce smoking-related injury 
and death. 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
 
The Occupational Therapy role ensures weekly triage of NFRS Prevention 
activities where mental health is felt to impact on fire safety and wellbeing, as well 
as offering specialist mental health assessment for vulnerable occupiers.  
 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

 
Presentation included 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

 

 

Page 104



Occupational Therapy 
in NFRS Prevention

Rebecca Sandy

P
age 105



Occupational Therapy Assessment 
Intervention and Evaluation

01.

P
age 106



• OT home visits offered when specialist intervention 
would reduce fire risks:

- Cooking
- Smoking
- Use of electrical equipment  
- Ability to respond / evacuate / stay in a safe place

• Smoking has emerged as our specialist area

• Provision of specialist equipment on individual basis

P
age 107



Following OT assessment, we record the 
following outcome data to show impact:

✓ East Kent Outcome System (EKOS) to record 
SMART goals achieved with each client
✓Comparison of CHARLIE-P score, pre- and 
post- intervention
✓ No further fire incidents attended post-OT 
intervention (at 3 month)
✓Case studies and client/carer feedback 
through SUCE forms to capture qualitative 
achievements 

We currently meet 92% of our agreed goals 
with clients.

P
age 108



Mental Health Triage

02.

P
age 109



Mental health cases are triaged weekly
 

OT can complete assessment of cognition, features 
of psychosis (delusions, hallucinations), mood, DSH 
and suicidality

From Jan – Sept 2024 we have triaged 413 cases with 
onward action for 40%

This process supports our Safeguarding Procedure 
and appropriateness of MASH referrals

Staff record 
mental health 

concerns
Triaged weekly

by OT

GP

Other health  
professional

Record no action

OT assessment

P
age 110



Case Study – Mrs S

03.

P
age 111



Mon 8 Apr.

Crew called to an incident – 
primary fire reported by the 
occupier

Thu 11 Apr.

PART Crew Manager and OT 
visit - urgent GP letter 
emailed same day

Mon 15 – Wed 17 Apr.

Contact with GP, PCSO and 
Housing Officer.

Referral to CRHT

Thu 18 Apr.

Mrs S is sectioned – 
currently in hospital 
receiving care

September - ongoing

Liaison with Social Care to 
support safe discharge-
planning

P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27 November 2024 

 
Report Title: Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Strategy and 

Workplan 2024-2025 
 

Lead Board Member(s): Lucy Hubber 
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

Hannah Stovin 
Hannah.stovin@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

 
Dana Sumilo dana.sumilo@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
Nancy Cordy nancy.cordy@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
David Johns David.johns@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
Helen Johnston 
helen.johnston@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
Liz Pierce liz.pierce@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

Executive Summary: 
The purpose of this report is: 

1. To present to the Health and Wellbeing Board the proposed JSNA Strategy 
for Nottingham City 

2. To seek the Health and Wellbeing Board’s approval to adopt the JSNA 
Strategy  

3. To present to the Health and Wellbeing Board the revised JSNA Workplan 
2024-2025 

 
 
Background information 
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a local assessment of current 
and future health and social care needs. It provides an overview of population 
health needs, and can be used to monitor trends, identify areas of greatest need, 
target resources and evaluate impact. 
 
Overall responsibility for the development of the JSNA lies with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB), with Local Authorities and Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) 
having the equal and joint duty to prepare the JSNA on behalf of the HWB. 
 
The production of the JSNA is a continuous process, and HWB areas can 
undertake the production of the JSNA in the way that is best suited to local 
circumstances, using the datasets they identify as appropriate. 
 
 
The JSNA Strategy 
The purpose of the JSNA Strategy is to outline the proposal for the future 
production of JSNA products in Nottingham City, detailing the proposed change in 

Page 115

Agenda Item 7

mailto:dana.sumilo@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:nancy.cordy@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:David.johns@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:helen.johnston@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:liz.pierce@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


approach, the reasons for this and the anticipated benefits. The strategy also 
details the governance of the JSNA process, and the prioritisation process to 
ensure the work is completed with regard to identified knowledge gaps, resource 
and timescales, and consideration of system priorities. 
 
In brief, the strategy proposes a shift from a ‘documentary’ based approach to all 
JSNA products, to an approach offering a range of different options, depending on 
the purpose, resource available and priority level of the work. The range of options 
centres around interactive JSNA dashboards (a core product), which allow the 
user to select which data they are most interested in, and tailor the information 
presented to suit their needs or answer their specific questions. The JSNA 
dashboards are intended to be the ‘landing page’ for those seeking information 
around health and wellbeing, with additional products complementing and building 
on the information provided to add layers of consultation, synthesis and in depth 
assessment. Additional ‘core products’ include JSNA Profiles and In-depth 
(Health) Needs Assessments. These will be supplemented by additional products 
such as supplementary topic information, detailed dashboards or area/community 
insight profiles. A visualisation of the different products to show the differences in 
complexity is contained within the ‘JSNA Strategy’ report attached. 
 
Benefits to this new approach include functionality, accessibility of data, a 
sustainable and partnership driven approach which is easier to maintain and keep 
up to date. JSNA dashboards have been identified as best practice and are being 
utilised across several other local authorities. 
 
The strategy outlines that all JSNA products will be sponsored by a Consultant in 
Public Health, and delegated to an owning group or portfolio area for development 
and delivery. 
 
The strategy proposes that the HWB delegates responsibility to the Director of 
Public Health for the creation of an annual 12 month workplan, to be formulated 
with consideration to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and in collaboration 
with system partners. The workplan may be reviewed on a regular basis, and any 
revisions presented to HWB. 
 
The strategy outlines the proposed process for submission of JSNA work 
proposals, to be considered by the Director of Public Health. 
 
 
JSNA Workplan 2024-2025 
The JSNA workplan for 2024-2025 has been recently revised and agreed by the 
Director of Public Health. In in accordance with the proposed strategy, the revised 
document is presented for the HWB to note.   
A summary of the topics covered is as follows: 
Work already in progress: 
JSNA Dashboards (Long Term Conditions) 
Women’s Health 
Homelessness 
Adult Mental Health 
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

Page 116



To be completed 
Dementia 
LGBTQ+ and Transgender health 
Tuberculosis 
Climate Change 
Food Insecurity 
Best Start Strategy (supplementary information) 
Work and Health 
JSNA dashboards (Ageing well, Health Protection, Wider Determinants) 
Future planned work (2025 and beyond) 
Teenager and Young Adults (16-19yrs including universities) 
Teenage Pregnancy 
Domestic and Sexual Violence and Abuse 
 
The workplan outlines the owning portfolio and the type of product, a priority level 
for work to be completed, whether the product is to be completed as a joint JSNA 
product with Nottinghamshire County, and the anticipated delivery date. 
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 

1. To receive and acknowledge the proposed JSNA Strategy for Nottingham 
City 

2. To approve the JSNA Strategy for Nottingham City 
3. To note the revised JSNA Workplan 2024-2025 for Nottingham City 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

Aims and Priorities How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

The JSNA will provide an assessment of 
the health and wellbeing needs of the 
population of Nottingham City, including 
an assessment of the wider 
determinants of health, health 
inequalities and their impact on the 
population. JSNA work will incorporate 
evidence and best practice from 
published literature and research, and 
community insights leading to evidence 
based decision making on the health 
and wellbeing topic in question. 
 
 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Page 117



Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
 
 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

Nottingham City JSNA Workplan 2024-
2025 
 
Nottingham City JSNA Strategy FINAL 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

 

 

Page 118



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e1
 

Nottingham City JSNA Strategy 2024 

A revised approach to Nottingham Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and 

associated Public Health intelligence products 

 

Aim: 

To develop the JSNA for Nottingham City with system partners and communities, providing an 

assessment of population needs in the City across the life course. The JSNA will highlight health related 

inequalities, identify unmet needs, summarise evidence on what works, community and stakeholder 

views, and assets and services we have in place. The JSNA will take an accessible and flexible format 

with JSNA products complementing each other to help identify opportunities for improvement, inform 

decisions and agree commissioning priorities.  

 

Background 

The JSNA is a local assessment of current and future health and social care needs. It provides an 

overview of the population needs, and can be used to monitor trends, identify areas of greatest need, 

target resources and evaluate impact. Although the Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) is ultimately 

responsible for the development of the JSNA, Local Authorities and Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) have 

an equal and joint duty to prepare JSNA on behalf of the HWB (Department of Health and Social Care, 

2022). In Nottingham City this duty falls to Nottingham City Council and Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire Integrated Care Board (NNICB).  

Production of the JSNA is a continuous process and local areas can undertake JSNA in a way best suited 

to their local circumstances. There is no prespecified format that must be used, and no mandatory 

data set to be included (Department of Health and Social Care, 2013). 

Previously, Nottingham’s JSNA was created as lengthy documentary ‘chapters’ which have a number 

of limitations, in particular in relation to the data used. They restrict the user to only data which is 

presented within the document, and are not interactive. The format also means it is inefficient to 

update the documentation when new data becomes available. This strategy describes a new approach 

to Nottingham’s JSNA,  centred around the production of interactive JSNA dashboards complemented 

by a range of other products, that would address the limitations described above. The strategy also 

outlines a refreshed approach to the governance and prioritisation of JSNA work within Nottingham 

City. 

 

A move to JSNA dashboards 

Nottingham City Council, the ICB System Analytics Intelligence Unit (SAIU) and Nottinghamshire 

County Council are working together to develop a number of JSNA dashboards that provide a more 

interactive, up-to-date and accessible JSNA product as the first touchpoint for those looking for 

information about population health needs in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. The dashboards will 

make the best use of data available across the system to understand population health needs and 

system impact (further information on production of the dashboards are included in the JSNA 

dashboard Terms of Reference - available as a supplementary document). The tool will focus on health 

inequalities across Nottingham and Nottinghamshire with indicators covering areas with the greatest 

Page 119



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e2
 

impact on population health where there is a potential to prevent disease, provide more proactive 

care and partnership working is key. 

JSNA dashboards will present data by different geographies and population sub-groups and provide a 

single overarching intelligence point for different partners to utilise and support work on population 

health and reducing inequalities. The advantages of the new JSNA dashboards include: 

- functionality and accessibility 

o data presented by different population sub-groups e.g. gender, deprivation, age, etc 

o includes lower level geographies to allow more granularity and identify inequalities 

by geography 

o easy to access and use by a range of partners/audiences, available via an open-access 

online platform 

- incremental process and sustainability 

o easier to maintain and update - less labour intensive in the longer term 

o easier to train staff to maintain and develop 

o ability to add further data analysis and sections over time 

Interactive JSNA dashboards have been identified as good practice and are also being implemented in 

other local authorities. JSNA dashboards therefore feature as a core JSNA product within the new JSNA 

approach. 

 

JSNA products 

Although the JSNA dashboards will form the core part of the JSNA, it is recognised that some topics 

will require a level of synthesis and strategic focus that is beyond the scope of a dashboard. Therefore, 

this strategy is built around three JSNA products suitable to be used for the majority of projects: 

1. JSNA dashboards - The JSNA dashboards will form the core part of the JSNA providing a high 

level overview of thematic areas using the life course approach as agreed by key system 

partners. For each theme a number of metrics will be agreed on in consultation with 

stakeholders and used to present data for that theme e.g. child health. Users will be able to 

filter data to provide a bespoke answer to a question, for example “What are the differences 

in the percentage of babies born with a low birth weight across Nottingham?”. PDF versions 

of the dashboards for Nottingham will also be made available in time. 

 

2. JSNA profiles - in the instance that a topic or a population group requires a more detailed 

analysis than that provided in a JSNA dashboard, a JSNA profile may be suitable. This product 

may build on information included in the JSNA dashboards incorporating: 

 further information on the importance of the topic; 

 additional data and analysis; 

  summary of key national guidance and evidence; 

 information on local services and assets 

 qualitative insight from communities / service users/ stakeholders 

 summary of opportunities for improvement and further development. 

This will produce a succinct and visually appealing product, taking about 4-6 months to 

complete. Each of the sections of the JSNA profile can be supplemented with more detailed 

Page 120



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e3
 

information included in the appendices forming a JSNA profile pack and leading to an in-depth 

needs assessment.  

3. In-depth (health) needs assessments - an in-depth needs assessment should be considered 

where thorough assessment of needs is required to inform strategy, commissioning of 

services, or in case of a major event (such as a pandemic) with a very significant impact on 

the health needs of a population. In-depth needs assessments will follow methodology for 

Health Needs Assessments, and include a robust community engagement and synthesis of 

relevant data and evidence to reach conclusions. Recommendations based on the evidence 

should be included. The work is anticipated to be longer term to ensure thoroughness (12-18 

months).  

 

Supplementary products: 

Where alternative presentation may be more suitable, or where the focus is different to that described 

within the core products, supplementary public health intelligence products may be considered (see 

Figure 1), e.g.: 

 Infographic - a visual representation of information, usually presented on a single page 

 Supplementary information on specific topics - additional information e.g. an appendix to 

supplement a JSNA profile or a specific look at a topic presented e.g. as a short report, an 

information sheet, summary on a page or a leaflet. E.g. summary report on healthy life 

expectancy and life expectancy 

 Detailed dashboard - a dashboard which presents data on a specific topic area in more detail 

to allow further data breakdown and a more in-depth analysis e.g. deprivation dashboard  

 Area / community insight profiles - products focussed on a geographical area / community 

including identification of community assets. A wide variety of data may be used, and methods 

to gather community insight. 

Other public health intelligence products include research reports, service evaluations and equity 

audits.

Page 121



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e4
 

Figure 1: Visualisation of different JSNA and related health intelligence products, and their key characteristics

 

Ladder of co-production Coercing Educating Informing Consulting Engaging Co-designing Co-producing

Updates Regular Product valid long term

Synthesis Lower level of synthesis High level of synthesis

Evidence base Quantitative only May include a mix of quantitative & qualitative information Wide ranging, encompassing quantitative & qualitative information

Recommendations Unlikely to include recommendations Expected to include evidence based recommendations as part of synthesis

JSNA and 

supplementary products

Public Health Knowledge & Intelligence Team will provide data & analytical support where required. Research & Evaluation support may also be requested

JSNA 
Dashboard

JSNA Profile
In-depth Needs 

Assessment

Infographics

Supplementary information

Detailed 
dashboards

Area / Community 
insight profile

P
age 122



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e5
 

Partnership approach 

It is important that those preparing JSNA work commit to a partnership approach in the development 

and maintenance of JSNA and other supplementary intelligence products. Nottingham City Council 

and NNICB will include and involve colleagues from the wider HWB membership, internal 

organisational contacts, other key stakeholders and communities to ensure information useful for 

commissioning and planning services is identified and utilised.  

Further, we aspire to work with our partners to evolve a whole system approach to the development 

and creation of health intelligence products utilising and integrating data across the system where 

possible. By sharing workplans and collaborating we will ensure that the resources are utilised 

efficiently and the usefulness of the outputs is maximised (see also Governance section). 

By way of example, our partnership approach to JSNA dashboards is underpinned by a shared terms 

of reference and a regular working group. This forum also provides a vehicle to share organisational 

priorities and identify further opportunities for collaboration. 

 

Production of the JSNA and responsibilities 

The responsibility for production of the JSNA is held jointly by Nottingham City Council and NNICB, 

and each JSNA product will be delegated to the owning group or Public Health portfolio identified as 

most suitable to lead on the project. All JSNA products will be sponsored by a Consultant in Public 

Health, with lead author(s) within the relevant portfolio or department having the appropriate 

knowledge and skills to undertake the project. They will be supported by the Public Health Knowledge 

and Intelligence (K&I) team, and ICB Systems Analytics Intelligence Unit (SAIU) as appropriate with 

analytical support and data insight, as well as working with wider partners to secure relevant evidence 

as appropriate to the topic. As the K&I team expands in the future, research and evaluation support 

may also be provided. 

The Public Health K&I team, with support from Nottingham City Council’s GIS team will be responsible 

for ensuring that the final approved products are published via Nottingham Insight, making them 

publicly available. The team will adhere to agreed processes in terms of maintenance and archiving to 

ensure that the most recent data and evidence is easily accessible. They will also work with Public 

Health and wider organisational and partnership colleagues to ensure topics are represented in the 

most appropriate manner, kept up to date and JSNA is continuously improved based on feedback to 

help ensure that it is used effectively. 

The Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is a responsibility of the HWB as set out in the Health & 

Social Care Act 2012. The PNA is required to be updated within three years of the previous publication, 

and supplementary statements provided during the interim period in the event of any changes to the 

availability of pharmaceutical services (Department of Health and Social Care, 2013). The writing of 

the PNA is organised and agreed by the HWB - supplementary statements are currently prepared 

quarterly by the Public Health K&I team. The PNA is published on the Health & Wellbeing section of 

Nottingham Insight alongside other health needs assessments. 

 

Governance 

The statutory responsibility for JSNA lies with the HWB, with the duty to prepare JSNA given to the 

local authority and ICB, both of whom are members of the HWB. This strategy proposes that the HWB 

Page 123



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e6
 

delegates the responsibility to the Director of Public Health for preparing an annual 12 month JSNA 

workplan. 

This will allow for the draft workplan to be formulated with consideration to the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) as well as in collaboration with system partners such as the ICB and 

Nottinghamshire County Council, with whom Public Health work closely. This will allow for joint 

working and effective use of available resources where possible and appropriate. 

A final workplan will be presented annually to the HWB for agreement, sign off and delegation of JSNA 

development to the identified JSNA Owning Groups or portfolios (see Figure 2). The workplan will be 

reviewed quarterly, with any revisions being presented for the HWB to note. 

Any proposals for JSNA work should be submitted to the Public Health Knowledge & Intelligence 

team using the JSNA Topic Submission Form, providing as much information as possible in line with 

the below points. This will allow the Director of Public Health to make informed decisions on 

prioritisation of JSNA projects. 

The proposer should consider the ‘menu’ of core and supplementary options to identify which product 

would be most suitable, taking into consideration the reasons for developing the product, timescales, 

resources available and audience for the final product, seeking advice from the Public Health 

Knowledge & Intelligence team where necessary. 

Public Health Programme Board will be responsible for approving, modifying, or rejecting proposals 

for work in line with: 

 Size & severity of potential impact in Nottingham and effect on inequalities 

 Time since work last completed on the topic 

 Organisational / departmental strategies, policies and priorities 

 Major changes/new policy/ legislation/ guidance/ evidence 

 Budgets and resourcing 

 Type of JSNA product required 

For each JSNA product to be developed, an Owning Group or Public Health portfolio will be 

approved by the HWB. This group will provide subject expertise and approve the JSNA product on 

behalf of the Public Health Programme Board. The Owning Group or portfolio will be an existing 

group that has responsibility for strategic oversight of the topic agenda. For products where no 

existing Owning Group or portfolio can be identified, a Task & Finish group will be established. 

Following the completion of any JSNA profiles and in-depth needs assessments in line with the 

workplan, they will be presented at the HWB for feedback and sign off prior to publication. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



 

Date: 30/10/2024 
Authors: Dana Sumilo & Hannah Stovin 

P
ag

e7
 

Figure 2: Flowchart of JSNA approval process 

 

 

Publication and dissemination 

Core JSNA products will be made publicly available via the Nottingham Insight webpage. Products 

should be submitted to the Public Health K&I Team for publication as soon as possible after approval.  

The Owning Group or portfolio will advise on the most appropriate communication channels and 

support promotion of the completed JSNA product utilising a range of communications methods e.g. 

blogs, newsletters, training, press releases, social media, etc. 

The JSNA products will be grouped on the Nottingham Insight website based on the broad topic areas 

covered in the JSNA dashboards. JSNA products that have not been recently updated and where there 

have been significant changes in the scale of the issue, guidance and evidence will be moved to archive 

sections.   

 

References 

JSNAs and JHWS statutory guidance – GOV.UK (2013, last updated 2022) 

(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/jsnas-and-jhws-statutory-guidance) 

Pharmaceutical needs assessments: information pack - GOV.UK (2013, last updated 2021) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-

pack 

JSNA Topic Submiss ion Form completed by 

submitting officer

Knowledge & Intel l igence Team to col late 

submiss ions  and create draft workplan

Publ ic Health Programme Board to agree 

and priori tise draft workplan.

Health & Wel lbeing Board to agree 

workplan and delegate work to 'Owning 

Group' or Publ ic Health Portfol io

Owning Group to present fina l  JSNA product 

to Health & Wel lbeing Board for s ign off

Publ ication via  Nottingham Ins ight a long 

with supplementary materia l

System engagement with key 

partners  (SAISOG . 

Nottinghamshire County 

Counci l )

Page 125

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/jsnas-and-jhws-statutory-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


This page is intentionally left blank



Nottingham City JSNA workplan 
2024/2025

P
age 127



Owning portfolio or 
Board

Topic Product
Last publication 

date
Status

Joint JSNA product with 
Nottinghamshire County?

Notes

Knowledge and 
Intelligence

JSNA dashboards JSNA dashboards N/A In production
Joint with Nottinghamshire 
County and ICB

Ongoing development and delivery. Health and 
Wellbeing and Children and Young People 
dashboards published. Long Term Conditions in 
development, anticipated delivery early 2025.

Health Improvement Women's Health HNA N/A In production No Anticipated delivery Autumn 2024

Inclusion Health Homelessness Needs Assessment 2017 In production No Anticipated delivery Autumn 2024

Inclusion Health Adult Mental Health JSNA Profile 2016 In production Yes Anticipated delivery Autumn 2024

Health & Wellbeing Board
Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment

Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment

2022 In production

Jointly commissioned, 
separate reports to be 
prepared for each Health & 
Wellbeing Board area

Due September 2025

Health Improvement Best Start Strategy
Supplementary 
information

2016 (Early 
Years)

In production
Will need understanding and analysis -
Supplementary JSNA information

Health Improvement Dementia JSNA Profile 2018 High Refresh of statistics

Public Health
LGBTQ+ / and Transgender 
Health

HNA N/A High
To commence on completion of WHNA
Likely to commence early 2025

Health Protection Tuberculosis JSNA Profile N/A Medium Yes? Registrar resource to be used to support

Health Protection Climate Change JSNA Profile N/A Medium

Health Improvement Food Insecurity JSNA Profile
2016 (Diet and 
Nutrition)

Low
Work not to commence until output from 
university work is clearer

Inclusion Health Work and Health
Unknown at this 
time

N/A
Discussion required with wider PH team to decide 
on appropriate product

P
age 128



Future Topics

Owning portfolio or 
Board

Topic Product
Last publication 

date
Status

Joint JSNA product with 
Nottinghamshire County?

Notes

Health Improvement
Teenager & Young Adults (16-19yrs 
including universities)

HNA
2016 (Students)

See Notes

Topic needs more scope before 
progression

Health Improvement Teenage Pregnancy JSNA Profile 2017

See Notes

Topic needs more scope before 
progression

Inclusion Health
DSVA (Domestic & Sexual Violence 
and Abuse)

JSNA Profile N/A
Workplan 
2025/2026

Abbreviations / definitions:
JSNA - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
HNA - Health Needs Assessment (Assessment of unmet health and healthcare needs of the population)
Needs Assessment - A needs assessment which does not seek to assess healthcare needs of a population, but for which the topic area overlaps with public health.
Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment - An assessment of pharmaceutical services, for which there is a statutory duty.

P
age 129



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27/11/2024 

 
Report Title:  

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment Profile: Special Educational 
Needs and Disability (SEND) 

Lead Board Member(s):  
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

Nicholas Lee, Director of Education Services, 
Nottingham City Council 
David Johns, Deputy Director of Public Health, 
Nottingham City Council 
 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

 
Mark Joshi, Assistant Director of Education 
Email: mark.joshi@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
Other Colleagues Who Have Provided Input: 
Jennifer Burton, Public Health Manager; 
 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
This chapter of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) provides an analysis 
of the needs of children and young people aged 0 to 25 with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in Nottingham City. It outlines the current 
landscape, highlights unmet needs, and identifies priorities for service 
enhancement. The SEND Code of Practice emphasises the importance of JSNAs 
in guiding local authorities and Integrated Care Boards (ICBs) in commissioning for 
SEND, aligning with Nottingham’s goals to provide accessible, quality services to 
SEND children and young people. 
 
Key Findings and Gaps in Nottingham and Nationally 
Children and young people with SEND in Nottingham face a range of challenges, 
influenced by socioeconomic conditions, health disparities, and service limitations. 
This population reflects both unique local issues and broader trends across 
England: 
 

1. Demographic and Socioeconomic Disparities 
 
Ethnic disproportionality exists in SEND identification both nationally and 
locally. In Nottingham, children with SEND are overrepresented in areas 
with higher poverty levels, similar to national patterns. For example, 36.7% 
of children with SEND in Nottingham receive free school meals, higher than 
the national average of 23.8%, with an even higher proportion (51.4%) 
among those with an Education, Health, and Care Plan (EHCP) Data from 
the January 2023 School Census shows that 16% of Nottingham’s school-
aged children have SEND, close to the national figure of 17.3%, but with 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8



lower EHCP rates in Nottingham (2.2%) compared to the national rate of 
4.3% Whilst this rate is lower, it reflects local policy as Nottingham enable 
mainstream schools to access High Needs funding without the need for a 
statutory EHCP, meaning that more children with SEND needs are able to  
access suitable provision in mainstream schools without EHCP 
assessment.  
 

          2.Service Capacity 
Nottingham’s 0-24 population is projected to grow by 6.2% by 2028, which   
could place additional strain on SEND services. Currently, Nottingham has 
gaps in specialised services, such as speech and language therapy, 
neurodevelopmental pathways, and specialist school placements, 
compounded by long waiting times that impact timely access to care. 
 
3.Health Inequalities 
National research highlights poorer health outcomes for people with 
learning disabilities, a trend reflected locally and an identified gap in 
meeting the full spectrum of health needs for this population. In Nottingham 
and Nottinghamshire we have achieved 80% against our target 
denominator set by NHSE for 2023/24, being 76% of people to receive an 
annual health check by the end of March 2024 with 5470 health checks 
completed. 
 
4.Educational Outcomes and Preparation for Adulthood 
While educational outcomes for SEND pupils in Nottingham align with or 
slightly exceed those in the East Midlands in key areas, the city lags behind 
national levels at Key Stage 4, where only 19.7% of SEND pupils achieve 
grades 5+ in both English and maths, compared to 27.3% nationally. 
Additionally, 88% of 16-17-year-olds with EHCPs are engaged in education 
or training in Nottingham, slightly below the national rate of 91.4%. 
 
5.Data Collection and Monitoring Needs 
Nottingham faces challenges in data capture and reporting across health, 
education, and social care services. To address this, Nottingham is 
enhancing its multi-agency data dashboard to monitor SEND outcomes, 
support needs, and disparities, better informing future strategic decisions. 
Additionally, there is a plan to collaborate with the Integrated Care Board 
(ICB) to explore participation in the ICB’s dashboard, which would grant 
access to shared data and further improve co-production across services. 
 
 
To address these identified needs, the report presents several actionable 
Strategic Recommendations: 
 

1. Enhance Data Collection and Sharing: Strengthen multi-agency data capture 
and sharing to provide a holistic view of the SEND landscape, ensuring that 
outcomes can be effectively monitored, gaps identified, and service effectiveness 
measured. 
 

Page 132



2. Improve Service Capacity: Improve the effective delivery of resources to 
address the rising demand for specialist SEND services in Nottingham, with a 
particular focus on speech and language therapy, autism pathways, and additional 
placements within specialist schools. 
 
3. Improve Health Access: Improve accessibility to health services by  reducing  
barriers, especially in routine health checks, and expanding respite care options to 
better support families with SEND children. 

 
4. Support Transition Planning: Enhance transition pathways to adulthood, 
prioritising employment readiness and independent living skills to ensure that 
SEND young people are prepared for a successful transition to adult life. 

 
By adopting these recommendations, all partners can foster an inclusive 
environment that improves access, service quality, and outcomes for all children 
and young people with SEND, enabling them to reach their full potential. 
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
1) To endorse the JSNA chapter on Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) 
2) To support the work of all partners to ensure implementation of identified 
recommendations. 

 
 
 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
Aims and Priorities: 
  
 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions: 

 The recommendations focus 
on improving health outcomes 
for children with SEND, 
addressing specific health 
barriers they face. 

 
 
 

How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
The recommendations outlined in 
this report will enhance the 
accessibility and quality of SEND 
services, which directly address 
health inequalities and improve 
overall health outcomes for children 
and families affected by SEND. By 
focusing on specific priorities, such 
as training for professionals and 
improving local offers, the 
recommendations align with the 
Board's strategic objectives and will 
help foster an inclusive and 
supportive environment for all 
children. 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
The proposed actions aim to target 
resources and support to the most 

Page 133



vulnerable children with SEND in 
Nottingham. 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
The SEND JSNA profile promotes an integrated approach to service delivery that 
values both mental and physical health. The recommendations include initiatives 
to improve access to mental health services and timely interventions for children 
with SEND, supporting their overall wellbeing and development. 
 
Activity includes; 

  ‘You Know Your Mind’ project for Children in Care is being mobilised 

across the city. This will enable young people who are in care who have 

emotional health needs and are in care, to have accesses to a personalised 

budget, to support their emotional health and wellbeing. 

 A joint commissioning service model, to meet the health needs of the youth 

justice cohort has been developed and will be mobilised. 

 Mental Health Support Teams are working in 3 special schools and 

developing their SEND offer within mainstream education settings. SEND 

support is also an area the WSA lead is looking to develop should the post 

be extended. 

 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

  JSNA document 
  National guidelines on SEND 

provision. 
  

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

  SEND Code of Practice. 
  Nottingham City SEND Sufficiency 

Strategy. 
  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

documents. 

 

Page 134



SLIDE 1: ENHANCE DATA COLLECTION AND SHARING: STRENGTHEN MULTI-AGENCY DATA CAPTURE 
AND SHARING TO PROVIDE A HOLISTIC VIEW OF THE SEND LANDSCAPE, ENSURING THAT OUTCOMES 
CAN BE EFFECTIVELY MONITORED, GAPS IDENTIFIED, AND SERVICE EFFECTIVENESS MEASURED

• Nottinghamshire County local area partnership in conjunction with ICB System Analytics and 
Intelligence Unit launched a comprehensive shared SEND data dashboard.

• Nottingham City actively integrates multi-agency inputs for unified data tracking.

• Current focus: Resolving challenges in data sharing from City to ICB to facilitate adding City 
data into the dashboard.

• Outcome: Robust data exchange system for effective monitoring, gap identification, and 
service evaluation.

P
age 135



SLIDE 2: IMPROVE SERVICE CAPACITY: IMPROVE THE EFFECTIVE DELIVERY OF RESOURCES TO 
ADDRESS THE RISING DEMAND FOR SPECIALIST SEND SERVICES IN NOTTINGHAM, FOCUSING ON 
SPEECH, LANGUAGE AND COMMUNICATION NEEDS SERVICES, AUTISM PATHWAYS, AND ADDITIONAL 
PLACEMENTS IN SPECIALIST SCHOOLS

• Collaboration across the entirety of the System to reduce waiting times to access speech, language and 
communication needs services and local autism pathways.

• Recovery plan addressing short-term pressures on statutory performance through resource optimisation 
and targeted recruitment.

• The SEND Sufficiency Strategy will create access to specialised educational provision for 224 pupils, with 
158 of those high need’s placements, commissioned for pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans. 
Capital plans include expansion and redevelopment of 2 outstanding specialist schools, 6 primary phase 
developments and 2 secondary phase developments. 

• Strategic focus: Moving to an early identification and intervention model of care to effectively address 
needs earlier, alongside securing long-term sustainable funding to meet rising demands.

• Joint commissioning strategy prioritises specialist services, taking an evidence led approach, and co-
production - awaiting Cabinet approval in November 2024.

P
age 136



SLIDE 3: IMPROVE HEALTH ACCESS: IMPROVE ACCESSIBILITY TO HEALTH SERVICES BY REDUCING 
BARRIERS, ESPECIALLY IN ROUTINE HEALTH CHECKS, AND EXPANDING RESPITE CARE OPTIONS TO 
BETTER SUPPORT FAMILIES WITH SEND CHILDREN

• Work collaboratively with system partners to build capacity within the community to increase 
accessibility to needed services. 

• As of October 2024, 38% of people on the GP Learning Disability registers have received an 
annual health check, against our target of 36% for the month. On track to meet the 82% target by 
the end of March 2025. Of those health checks completed, 92% have a health action plan in 
place. 

• 2,652 health checks conducted by the end of October 2024, ensuring improved accessibility for 
individuals with learning disabilities.

• Plans to expand respite care services, addressing the need for local overnight short breaks for 
children with profound physical disabilities.

• Strategic efforts aim to reduce systemic barriers to routine health services.

P
age 137



SLIDE 4: SUPPORT TRANSITION PLANNING: ENHANCE TRANSITION PATHWAYS TO ADULTHOOD, 
PRIORITISING EMPLOYMENT READINESS AND INDEPENDENT LIVING SKILLS TO ENSURE THAT SEND 
YOUNG PEOPLE ARE PREPARED FOR A SUCCESSFUL TRANSITION TO ADULT LIFE

• Local area transitions network established to improve coordination between children’s and 
adult health services. Transitions Outcomes Framework developed and being shared across 
health services to increase oversight and improve outcomes. 

• Whole Life Approach protocol implemented, ensuring smooth transitions from age 17.5.

• Focus on developing employment readiness and independent living skills for successful adult 
transitions.

P
age 138



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27 November 2024 

 
Report Title: Adult Mental Health JSNA 

 

Lead Board Member(s): Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health 
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

David McDonald, Senior Public Health Manager 
David.Mcdonald@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
Helen Johnston, Consultant in Public Health 
Helen.johnston@nottinghamcity.gov.uk  
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Tammy Coles, Public Health Principal 
Members of the JSNA Steering Group 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to present the newly developed Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) Profile for adult mental health and to set out the proposed 
next steps for drawing on this insight through a shared Better Mental Health 
Commitment for Nottingham City.   
 
Developing the JSNA  
The planning of JSNA work focussed on adult mental health started in late 2023, 
noting the previous JSNA chapter was published in 2016. Relevant content was 
identified in the chapters on children and young people’s mental health, COVID, 
severe multiple disadvantage, substance use, and self harm and suicide 
prevention. Mental health is an important theme in the women’s health needs 
assessment that is underway.  
 
The scope was agreed in collaboration with leads for the Integrated Care Board, 
Nottinghamshire County Council and Nottinghamshire Healthcare Trust. The 
steering group ensured that it would complement the overview data in our new 
JSNA dashboards and the analytical outputs of the System Analytics and 
Intelligence Unit on severe mental illness and mental health pathways, and that it 
would be informative for partner’s strategic workplans such as the commissioning 
of mental wellness provision.  
 
The work has been presented as a JSNA profile, an insight document with 
succinct data and information, and will be published alongside supporting 
information setting out further detail.  
 
Areas of focus 
The JSNA steering group have collated, analysed and synthesised data and 
evidence to enable us to understand the needs in our population related to: 

- common mental health diagnoses for depression and anxiety  
- low mental wellbeing 

Page 139

Agenda Item 9

mailto:David.Mcdonald@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:Helen.johnston@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


There is a primary focus on adults aged 18 or over, data for 16- and 17-year olds 
has been included to strengthen our understanding of supporting young people 
into adulthood.  
 
Key findings 
In recent years, the number of adults in England experiencing depression or 
anxiety has risen steadily. In Nottingham, 6.5% of females and 3.5% of males 
have had a diagnosis of depression or anxiety at the last two years. 
 
Many people in Nottingham access and are effectively supported by a wide range 
of mental health services delivered by NHS services and by voluntary and 
community organisations. However, people from some groups are less likely than 
others to:  

- have a diagnosis of anxiety and depression, including men and people from 

Black and Asian ethnic groups 

- access support, including men, heterosexual people and people in older 

age groups (65 to 89 years) 

- benefit from NHS Talking Therapies when they access it, including people 

aged 18 to 25, people from ethnic minority groups and people who are 

lesbian, gay or bisexual 

People in Nottingham report that:  
- they do not always know how and where to access mental health support, 

and some cannot find a service to meet their needs or experience a lengthy 

wait for support 

- primary care is a key point of first contact for people seeking help 

- they value local community groups, services and spaces that help people 

stay mentally well, especially when they are inclusive, accessible and 

integrated. However, the availability and impact of these community 

resources is limited by a lack of funding, resources and by financial and 

practical barriers to accessing them. Stigma around mental health continues 

to be a barrier to accessing support for some people 

- financial vulnerability harms people’s health and wellbeing, and can a barrier 
to accessing support and community assets 
 

Recommendations 
Recommendations have been developed for this JSNA across five themes: 

1) Reach and equity of access to support, including  

a. promoting the NottAlone website as the main source of mental health 

information, advice and signposting, and developing alternative 

resources for those who need them 

b. applying, sharing and growing our understanding of how to improve 

access to support for at-risk groups of people experiencing common 

mental health conditions 

 
2) Supporting the building blocks of health, including 

a. improving links between community services/groups and mental 

health services to help people stay well in their communities 

Page 140



b. increase how often health and care teams ask about mental health 

needs when people access other services, and ask about other kinds 

of needs – such as financial needs - when people access mental 

health services 

 
3) Supporting the workforce, including  

a. providing the mental health workforce with training and support on 

topics including equality and diversity, cultural competence, and 

trauma-informed care 

b. supporting access to mental health awareness training for the wider 

workforce 

 
4) Improving our understanding and insight, including 

a. applying and widely sharing what we have learned from current work 

to increase access to support for under-served groups 

b. improving how mental health services record information about 

service users, and about people who are referred to services and do 

not access them, including information about ethnicity, deprivation, 

sexuality, employment status and disability status 

 
5) Improving our shared strategic approach  

a. Health and care organisations adopting a Mental Health In All 

Policies approach in order to preventing mental health problems, 

promote mental health equity and create environments that support 

good mental health 

b. renewing and strengthening our Nottingham approach to promoting 

mental health and preventing mental health problems 

 
Informing our strategic approach  
Mental health has been an ongoing priority in the work of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The Nottingham City Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2019-2023 
set out a clear narrative on our local priorities. An evaluation of this strategy at the 
end of 2023 highlighted the interruptions during the COVID pandemic response 
and some loss of visibility. Nonetheless the time-limited national funding for ‘Better 
Mental Health’ supported a range of local initiatives developed with partners to 
build our approach locally. This included expanding single session therapy for 
children, improving access to Talking Therapies for underserved communities, and 
asset mapping taken forward in the gambling related harm strategy.  
 
The development of a ‘Prevention Concordat’ for Nottingham City (sometimes 
referred to as the ‘Better Mental Health Concordat’) was agreed by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board in July 2019. The Concordat was co-developed with the Better 
Mental Health Collaborative, a multiagency partnership administrated by Public 
Health which has steered our work on mental health over many years. The 
Concordat was initially structured around an action plan for 2022-23, approved by 
the Office of Health Improvement and Disparities. In practice the Concordat has 
been used as a framework to support our work, progressed through the Place-
Based Partnership Mental Health programme group. The term ‘Concordat’ has 

Page 141



never been particularly liked by stakeholders, and the Concordat hasn’t always 
been visible or connected to other strategic ambitions.  
 
Across the Integrated Care System (ICS), there is a landscape of strategy to 
improve mental health. Mental health is a key theme through the overarching ICS 
strategy for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, complemented by the all-age 
integrated mental health and social care strategy 2019-2024. The recently 
approved Integrated Mental Health Pathway Strategic Plan 2024-2027 identifies 
priorities to localise and realign mental health inpatient services into an integrated 
pathway to ensure the right care is being delivered, in the right place, at the right 
time, and in the least restrictive environment; notably this includes a focus on living 
well in the community. Mental health will be included in the upcoming ICS Children 
and Young People’s Health Strategy, with actions aligned in the Local 
Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s Mental Health; it is pertinent 
that mental health is a key theme in the ‘healthy’ badge of our Child Friendly City 
ambition.  
 
Our approach in Nottingham is to implement these strategies and to promote 
public mental health across our communities, working in partnership with our 
citizens and local organisations. It is valuable to have a city focussed plan that is 
evidence-based and action-orientated to make this happen in practice. The 
information in the JSNA Profile is timely for informing our next phase, concurrent 
with the refresh of the Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
Proposal to create a Better Mental Health Commitment 
There are important findings in the JSNA profile to strengthen how we promote 
and improve mental wellbeing and mental health in Nottingham. Our proposal is to 
draw on this insight, along with the strategic drivers through the ICS to refresh a 
City action plan building on what was previously known as the Prevention 
Concordat, and developed and launched with sign up from key partners. We 
suggest that this is called a Better Mental Health Commitment.  
 
The proposed principles for developing this Better Mental Health Commitment are:  

- It should be codeveloped with the Better Mental Health Collaborative, 
tailored to the needs of our young and diverse population in Nottingham 

- It should continue to have an all-age focus as we take a lifecourse approach 
to public mental health 

- It should be a complement to the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
from April 2025, by describing the focus on mental health and mental 
wellbeing outcomes in each of the Strategy themes 

- It should enable a clear narrative on Better Mental Health for Nottingham  
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 
1) To endorse the JSNA Profile for Adult Mental Health 
2) To support the implementation of the identified recommendations 
3) To affirm the proposal to develop a Better Mental Health commitment for 

Nottingham City 
 

 

Page 142



The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

Aims and Priorities How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

The JSNA Profile provides important 
insight on improving mental health and 
mental wellbeing drawing on data, 
evidence, and local community 
perspectives.  
Progressing the identified 
recommendations will enable us to 
promote better mental health and 
address health inequalities locally.  
Agreeing a Better Mental Health 
commitment is a route to bring together 
the JSNA insight, the ICS strategic 
drivers, and directly link with our 
Strategy themes.  
 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
The JSNA profile and proposed next steps demonstrate mental health is at the 
centre of the Board’s approach to health and wellbeing.  
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

Nottingham City Prevention Concordat, 
April 2022; 
Evaluation of the Nottingham 
Prevention and Promotion for Better 
Mental Health programme, November 
2022; 
Evaluation of Nottingham City’s Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-
2023, September 2023 
 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

Nottingham City’s Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2023 
 
 

 

Page 143

https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s92090/Enc.%202%20for%20Nottingham%20Citys%20Mental%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202019-2023.pdf
https://committee.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/documents/s92090/Enc.%202%20for%20Nottingham%20Citys%20Mental%20Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%202019-2023.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 Adult Mental Health  
Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) Profile  

November 2024 

 
Profile Information 

Topic owner  Helen Johnston, Grace Brough 

Profile Author(s)  Lucy Jones, Dave McDonald, Zara Choudhery, David Gilding, Saeed Ahmad 

Topic endorsed by  Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Adult Mental Health JSNA Steering Group 

Topic approved by   

Current version  15.11.2024 

Linked JSNA topics 

Emotional and mental health needs of children and young people aged 0-25 
years (2022); severe multiple disadvantage (2021); substance use (2022) suicide 
prevention (2023) 

 

 

P
age 145



 

2 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Scope and local strategic context  

Scope 

This Mental Health JSNA Profile is focused on people aged 16 and older living in Nottingham or Nottinghamshire experiencing: 

- Common Mental Health Disorders (CMDs) comprising types of depression and anxiety, including generalised anxiety disorder, panic disorder, phobias, 
and obsessive compulsive disorder 1; and/or 

- Low mental wellbeing. Mental wellbeing can be defined as feeling good and functioning well 2. Mental wellbeing helps people to cope with the 
stresses of life, realise their abilities, learn well and work well, and contribute to their community. 
 

This JSNA Profile also explores how to help people to stay mentally well in their communities. This can include promoting mental wellbeing and mental health, 

preventing future mental health problems, and supporting recovery. This is sometimes referred to as a public mental health approach.  

Although the focus of this JSNA Profile is not on secondary mental health care or mental health crisis services, people experiencing CMDs or low mental wellbeing 

may access these types of services. The Profile therefore includes some information about these services, including data on service access. 

Serious Mental Illness (SMI), which includes diagnoses such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder or other psychotic illnesses that cause severe functional 

impairment, is not in scope of this JSNA. You can find out about the terms and definitions used in this JSNA in the Glossary from page 29.  

 

 

Local strategic context 

The ambition for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire residents to have good mental health features across the local strategic context. Prevention is a common theme 

across local strategies, whether in the context of reducing mental or physical ill health. The locally endorsed Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Mental 

Health Pathway: Strategic Plan 2024/25-2026/2027 in particular is a driver for delivering an integrated mental health pathway that supports people to live well in their 

local community. For more details of the local strategic context including links to relevant local strategies and plans, click here. Common local strategic themes include: 

- A focus on and investment in prevention of mental health problems occurring and prevention of existing mental health problems escalating.  
- Ensuring there is parity of esteem between physical health and mental health. This includes reducing inequalities in life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 

experienced by people living with mental health problems. 
- Ensuring people have mental health awareness and know how to, and can, access the right support, in the right place, at the right time. This includes 

providing information and signposting to help people look after their own mental wellbeing and to reduce stigma. 
- Supporting the workforce to be trained in mental health awareness. 
- Ensuring the building blocks of mental health are in place, through community-based support, early intervention, and support for financial wellbeing. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 146



 

3 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Why is this topic important?  

 

 

 

Living well and thriving 

Mental health and mental wellbeing are 

important resources for our health, 

wellbeing, and participation in society.  

Good mental health and mental wellbeing 

support physical health and social 

relationships, enable people to manage 

illness and adversity, make it easier to 

adopt a healthy lifestyle, and support 

people to work, study and contribute to 

their communities2.  

 

 

 

Societal costs  

Mental illness is an important societal 

problem, responsible for the largest burden 

of disease in England (23% of the total 

burden, compared to 16% for cancer and 

16% for heart disease)3. 

An estimated one in four people has a 

mental health problem at any one time. This 

costs the English economy around £105b 

every year4 and presents a large and 

increasingly common barrier to work. Nearly 

5% of people of working age have a work-

limiting mental health problem, with 

disproportionate impact among young 

people, women and people with lower 

education levels5. 

 

Planning for the future 

It is important to better understand this topic 

because mental health need has increased in 

recent years. Nationally, the proportion of 

people who do not have access to the building 

blocks of mental wellbeing and mental health, 

such as financial wellbeing, continues to 

increase6,7. Similarly, the proportion of people 

experiencing mental ill health continues to 

grow - and at a faster rate than increases in 

physical ill health8. For example, prevalence of 

depression increased from 5.8% in 2012 to 

13.2% in 20221. In 2023, 54% of adults in 

Britain identified mental health as the biggest 

health problem facing people today 9. 

 

Health inequalities 

The burden of mental ill health is not shared equally. Some groups of people - including people with low incomes, disabled people, and people from some 

minority ethnic groups - are at higher risk of experiencing mental health problems10. In addition, mental health problems are both a cause and consequence of 

disadvantage. Disadvantage, discrimination, and exclusion increase the risk of experiencing mental health problems and low mental wellbeing. Conversely, 

mental health problems and low mental wellbeing increase the risk of experiencing disadvantage11.  

Alongside this inequality in need, access to support is unequal. People from disadvantaged groups are more likely than others to experience barriers to access 

to mental health support and services, and, when they access services, to have poorer experiences and outcomes12. 

 

Covid-19 exacerbated mental health inequalities 

and led to a worsening of population mental 

health59, 60.  

 

P
age 147



 

4 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Health and wellbeing - overview 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Everyone has mental health. Mental health encompasses a person’s emotional, psychological, and social wellbeing and affects how we think, feel and act. 

The World Health Organisation defines mental health as “…a state of well-being in which an individual realises his or her own abilities, can cope with the 

normal stresses of life, can work productively and is able to make a contribution to his or her community” 13.  

The impacts of poor mental health can be seen on social relationships, educational attainment, physical health, crime, homelessness and employment 

prospects14. Most people who experience mental health problems face stigma and discrimination, which cause further harm and make it harder to talk 

about mental health and to seek and access support15. Mental health is influenced by the social, physical and economic conditions that we are born, grow, 

live, work and age in15 (shown in figure 1 below). These factors can be thought of as the building blocks of health. Risk factors interact and affect how 

resilient we are in coping with challenges. Some important protective and risk factors are shown below. 

 

 

               Figure 1. Influences on mental health61 

 

Risk factors16 

Poverty 

Discrimination 

Socio-economic inequalities 

Child neglect and abuse 

Unemployment 

Poor quality work 

Debt 

Drug and alcohol use 

Homelessness 

Loneliness 

Violence 

Poor physical health15 

Unstable relationships15 

Caring responsibilities15 
 

  

Protective factors16 

Maternal and infant mental 

health 

Early years support 

Family and parenting support 

Connecting with others and 

forming good relationships 

Good education 

Stable secure, good quality 

and affordable housing 

Good quality work 

A healthy standard of living 

Accessible safe and green 

outdoor space 

Arts and cultural activities 

Community cohesion 
 

  

P
age 148



 

5 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Health inequalities (1)  

This section provides an overview of mental health inequalities in relation to common mental health disorders and low mental wellbeing taken from national reports and 

evidence. Additional information, including links to sources, is provided in supplementary documents about health inequalities here and women’s mental health here. 

Inequalities in mental health can include inequalities in the prevalence of mental health problems, inequalities in accessing and outcomes from mental health support, and 

inequalities experienced by people with mental health problems. 

The interplay between the determinants of mental health problems and inequalities is complex and many factors involved can be both a cause for mental health problems 

and be a result of experiencing mental health problems. The experience of inequalities and risk factors can have a cumulative effect.  Inequalities in mental health often 

reflect social disadvantage17, 18: practical problems and wider social factors can impact on mental health19, including social inequality and disadvantage; discrimination and 

social exclusion or isolation; and traumatic experiences20. 

 

 
Inequalities in the prevalence of mental health problems 

Mental health problems are more prevalent in some groups or populations, including: 

Black and Black British people18, 20, and people from other ethnic minority groups21 

Women, who have a higher rate of depression17 

Younger people, who have a higher rate of depression17 

Young women, among whom self-reporting of CMDs has been increasing 

People living in more deprived communities19 

People in lower socio-economic groups or experiencing debt22, 23, 24, 25 

People in Gypsy Roma and Traveller communities26 

People who are living alone17 

People who are unemployed19, 27 

People with poor physical health17 

Disabled people, who have a higher rate of depression17, 18, 24 

People with communication impairments49  

Autistic people18  

People who identify as LGBTQIA+18, 20, 28 

People experiencing severe multiple disadvantage20, including homelessness19, 29, substance use30, and contact with 

the criminal justice system19  

People who are unpaid carers24 

 

Inequalities 

experienced by people 

with mental health 

problems 

People with mental health 

problems are more likely to 

experience19: 

Financial vulnerability 

unemployment and lower 

pay25 

Homelessness 

Social isolation 

Poor physical health24, 31 

Contact with the criminal 

justice system and prison 

 

P
age 149



 

6 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Health inequalities (2)   

Recommendations from national reports to reduce mental health inequalities 

- A workforce that is representative of the community and trained in cultural 

understanding and competency12, 32. 

- Provide targeted mental health awareness and education campaigns that 

also reduce stigma and increase trust26, 37, 38. 

- Use community centred approaches and reduce social isolation and 

loneliness19. 

- Work collaboratively with the community and voluntary sector26, 34, 35. 

- Provide person centred care28, 38, 39. 

- Provide trauma-informed care32, 36. 

- Provide information and resources in appropriate languages and accessible 

formats26, 35, 39. 

- Ensure provision of good quality green space19. 

- Ensure the physical environment is appropriate and visibly inclusive28, 34, 36, 39, 40  

- Provide choice of different ways to engage including community outreach 

and consider digital exclusion26, 28, 34, 35. 

- Provide routine screening for financial difficulties, drug and alcohol use, 

domestic and sexual violence and abuse within mental health services 25, 30, 36. 

- Provide very brief advice for alcohol use and ensure an open-door approach 

for people with co-occurring mental health problems and drug and alcohol 

use30. 

- Screen for mental health problems in physical health services and have 

effective referral pathways and integrated services/care in place41. 

- Adapt Talking Therapies provision for people with learning disabilities, older 

people, autistic people, and women34, 36, 39, 40. 

- Do not refuse registration in primary care to people of no fixed abode or 

people who are nomadic26. 

 

Inequalities in access, experience and outcomes from 

mental health support 

Groups that experience higher prevalence of mental health 

problems often have poorer access to mental health support18 

and worse experiences32, satisfaction17 and outcomes33. For 

example, people from minority ethnic groups in the UK have 

poorer mental health, worse access to mental health support 

and treatment18, and more negative experiences of and 

outcomes from services when compared to people in White 

British groups12, 21, 33. 

Groups underrepresented in Talking Therapies include people 

from minority ethnic groups18, older people17, 18, 34, and disabled 

people17. People with lower recovery rates after Talking 

Therapies include those from minority ethnic groups 12, 21, 33, 

disabled people 17, lesbian, gay or bisexual people 17, people 

experiencing financial difficulty 25 and those living in deprived 

areas 17. 

 

 
Common barriers to accessing mental 

health support 

Language and literacy needs 26, 32 

Perceptions and expectations about the 

support people are likely to receive21, 26, 28 

Previous experiences of discrimination and 

stigma 

- trauma21, 26, 28, 35, 36 
- difficulties associated with 

recognising mental health problems35, 

37 

P
age 150



 

7 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire picture and how we compare: depression 

  

In England, the prevalence of depression 

(based on recorded diagnoses of 

depression1) among adults aged 18+ has 

steadily increased in recent years, rising 

from 8.3% in 2016/17 to 13.2% in 2022/23.  

For Nottingham City, the rate has risen from 

8.6% in 2016/17 to 12.1% in 2022/23. This 

figure was statistically significantly lower 

than the national average and the East 

Midlands regional average throughout this 

period.  

Nottingham consistently showed a higher 

prevalence than the average of its statistical 

neighbours throughout the same period and 

ranks 8th highest for depression prevalence 

among its statistical neighbours. 

For Nottinghamshire, the rate has risen from 

8.9% in 2016/17 to 12.7% in 2022/23. This 

figure remained statistically significantly 

lower than the national average and the East 

Midlands regional average throughout this 

period.  

Among its statistical neighbours, 

Nottinghamshire ranks 4th lowest in 

depression prevalence. Data on depression 

at District and Borough level is not available. 

 

 

P
age 151



 

8 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Nottingham/Nottinghamshire picture and how we compare: mental wellbeing (1) 

   

High anxiety – Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

Overall, this national trend of increasing prevalence of high anxiety is 

seen in the local trends for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire (as shown 

in figures on page 9). 

Between 2016/17 and 2022/23, Nottingham recorded a higher 

percentage of individuals with high anxiety compared to national, 

regional and statistical neighbours’ averages. This difference was 

statistically significantly higher than national and regional averages only 

in 2019/20. Throughout the comparison period, there was no statistically 

significant difference between Nottingham and the combined average of 

its statistical neighbours. In 2022/23, the prevalence of high anxiety was 

24.8% in Nottingham. This was not statistically significantly different to 

the England average of 23.3% or the regional average of 21.5%. Among 

its statistical neighbours, Nottingham’s prevalence ranks 4th highest. 

Between 2016/17 and 2021/22, Nottinghamshire consistently recorded a 

higher percentage of individuals with high anxiety compared to national, 

regional and statistical neighbours’ averages, but the difference was not 

statistically significant. In 2022/23, the prevalence of high anxiety was 

20.2% in Nottinghamshire. This was not statistically significantly different 

to the England average of 23.3% or the regional average of 21.5%. 

Among its statistical neighbours, Nottinghamshire ranks 3rd lowest. 

 

This section examines mental wellbeing based on widely used self-report measures of aspects of wellbeing: anxiety, happiness, satisfaction and feeling the things 

you do are worthwhile50. Each measure has a threshold of low wellbeing in that domain (e.g. low satisfaction). This section includes analysis of data on high anxiety 

and low happiness. Supplementary analysis is available here, covering satisfaction and worthwhile measures of wellbeing, and further analysis of mental wellbeing 

of men and women in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, and mental wellbeing of the population of each Nottinghamshire district and borough. 

 
High anxiety - England 

Between 2016/17 and 2022/23, the percentage of people in England aged 

16+ with high anxiety increased from 19.9% in 2016/17 to 23.3% in 2022/23, 

with a peak of 24.1% in 2020/21 during the COVID-19 pandemic (see page 9).  

In 2022/23, the prevalence of high anxiety in England was statistically 

significantly lower among people who were employed (21.2%) than among 

people who were unemployed (26.3%) or economically inactive (25.6%).  

35.6% of disabled individuals had high anxiety scores in 2022/23, compared 

to 18.2% of those who were not disabled.   

 

Ethnicity - England 

In 2022/23, 

prevalence of high 

anxiety varied 

between ethnic 

groups, with highest 

prevalence among 

mixed/multiple 

ethnic groups 

(27.5%). 

P
age 152



 

9 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Nottingham/Nottinghamshire picture and how we compare: mental wellbeing (2) 

                                                  

P
age 153



 

10 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Nottingham/Nottinghamshire picture and how we compare: mental wellbeing (3) 

  

Low happiness – England 

Between 2016/17 and 2022/23, the percentage of people in England 

aged 16+ with low happiness fluctuated, peaking at 9.2% in 2020/21 and 

slightly declining to 8.9% in 2022/23 (as shown on page 11).   

In 2022/23, the prevalence of low happiness in England 

- was statistically significantly lower among people who were 
employed (7.4%) than among people who were unemployed 
(12.1%) or economically inactive (11.1%).  

- varied between ethnic groups. Prevalence was highest among 
people from Black ethnic groups (10.4%) 

- was higher among disabled people (17.4%) than among people 
who were not disabled (5.5%) 

 

Low happiness – Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

Overall, this national trend of fluctuating prevalence of low happiness is 

seen in the local trends for Nottingham and Nottinghamshire during this 

period (as shown in figures on page 11). 

Between 2016/17 and 2021/22, Nottingham recorded a higher 

percentage of individuals with low happiness compared to national and 

regional averages. Nottingham was significantly different from England in 

several years: 2016/17, 2017/18, 2019/20, and 2021/22. The largest gap 

occurred in 2021/22, with Nottingham (14.3%) notably exceeding the 

averages for England (8.9%) and the East Midlands (9.3%). 

 
In 2022/23, the percentage of individuals with a low happiness score in 

Nottingham (9.3%) and Nottinghamshire (8.8%) was not statistically 

significantly different to the England average (8.9%) or East Midlands 

average (9.3%).  There was no statistically significant difference between 

Nottinghamshire and England throughout the reporting period (2016/17 

– 2022/23) in the percentage of individuals with low happiness. 

 
Among its statistical neighbours, Nottingham ranks 7th highest for 

prevalence of low happiness. 

 
Among its statistical neighbours, Nottinghamshire ranks 7th highest for 

prevalence of low happiness. 

 

P
age 154



 

11 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Nottingham/Nottinghamshire picture and how we compare: mental wellbeing (4) 

       

P
age 155



 

12 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Policy and guidance: common mental health disorders 

Clinical guidelines51, 52, 53, 54 

identify groups who may face 

stigma, discrimination, or 

barriers to accessing mental 

health services, including: 
 

Members of LGBTQ+ communities. 

People from ethnic minority 

communities. 

People of an older age. 

Men. 

People experiencing homelessness. 

Refugees and people seeking asylum. 

People with learning disabilities. 

People with acquired cognitive 

impairments. 

People with physical or sensory 

disabilities. 

People with conditions which impact 

their ability to communicate. 

 

Common mental health disorders: clinical guidance 

National clinical guidelines51, 52, 53, 54 on the treatment and management of common mental health 

disorders (CMDs) highlight key principles of care: 

Take action to reduce barriers to access, stigma, and discrimination. Possible actions include: 

promoting parity of esteem (see the Glossary for a definition) between mental and physical illness, 

demonstrating compassion, and addressing and combating judgmental attitudes. 

Enable access to treatment. This may include providing services in community settings (e.g. homes, 

community centres), or out of working hours. 

Provide person-centred care. For example, by responding to individual’s preferences, ideas and 

hopes for treatment; supporting people to make informed decisions about their care; and providing 

continuity of care (including care with the same healthcare professional when possible). 

Provide stepped care by providing the least intrusive, most effective intervention first. 

Communicate in ways that people understand. Possible measures include working with interpreters 

(for spoken and signed languages); using augmentative/ alternative communication; and including 

family/carers in communication, when appropriate. 

Consider how to support lifestyle factors which contribute to mental wellbeing. These include diet, 

sleep, and physical activity. Services should understand and respond to the structural barriers some 

individuals experience to being able to access these supportive factors (such as lack of access to safe 

outdoor spaces). 

 

P
age 156



 

13 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Policy and guidance: mental wellbeing 

Mental wellbeing 

National guidance3, 5, 10, 11 on promoting good mental health and prevention of mental health problems 

advises a focus on support for assets that create mental wellbeing and support good mental health: the 

building blocks of health, such as housing, employment, and education; and individual and social 

influences, such as diet, physical activity, and social connection. 

While high quality mental health services are an important support for people with mental health 

conditions, they are only one component of the assets, systems and resources which support mental 

health and mental wellbeing of all people, including people with common mental health disorders and 

those with low mental wellbeing. Promotion of mental wellbeing is therefore an important public 

health priority for all people, including those who need mental health services.  

A widely promoted framework56 to promote wellbeing is the Five Ways to Wellbeing. Local systems 

should consider how they create opportunities, motivation and abilities for individuals – including those 

with CMDs or low mental wellbeing – to take the actions identified in the framework to promote their 

mental wellbeing. 

Five Ways to Wellbeing 

1. Connect with other people. 
2. Be physically active. 
3. Take notice of the present 

moment/be mindful. 
4. Keep learning. 
5. Give to others/acts of 

kindness. 

Mental health and wellbeing at 

work 

Working environments contribute to mental 

health and wellbeing. To prevent mental 

health problems and promote good mental 

health and wellbeing, national guidance55 

directs workplaces to: 

Ensure the workplace is a compassionate, 

positive, and inclusive environment. Actions to 

ensure this include active leadership support, 

effective engagement and communication 

with employees, peer support (e.g. a buddy 

system) and increasing mental health literacy 

across the workforce.  

Recognise that mental wellbeing of employees 

at work is impacted by structural factors, 

including discrimination; and individual factors 

outside of work (e.g. home and financial 

circumstances, physical health).  

Provide mental wellbeing training for 

managers. 

Assess workforce mental wellbeing needs and 

risks. 

Provide and signpost to support services. 

 

P
age 157



 

14 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Evidence of what works: public mental health interventions 

Types of public mental health interventions 

Public mental health interventions aim to promote mental wellbeing and resilience, prevent mental health problems, prevent their associated impacts 

and inequalities, or support the delivery of effective interventions for mental health problems. A 2024 evidence review 57 by the UK Health Security 

Agency Knowledge and Library Services identified a range of types of public mental health intervention that can improve adult mental health and / or 

mental wellbeing: 

• Physical activity, such as physical activity programmes for people with, or at risk of, CMDs, including tailored programmes for specific 

population groups. 

• Environment, such as community-wide strategies to promote the use of green spaces and blue spaces (outdoor spaces dominated by water) 

for mental wellbeing, and nature-based social prescribing interventions to complement mental health interventions for people with CMDs. 

• Mindfulness, such as mindfulness-based therapeutic programmes for people with CMDs, and mindfulness-based resilience training for clinical 

and non-clinical groups. 

• Digital interventions, such as apps delivering cognitive-behavioural or mindfulness activities to promote mental wellbeing in the general 

population. 

• Community support / connectedness, such as community engagement strategies to promote mental wellbeing in at-risk groups, and 

community interventions to prevent and reduce social isolation in at-risk groups. 

• Support groups, such as tailored community initiatives or peer spaces to promote mental wellbeing for at-risk or under-served groups. 

• Peer support, such as peer support or peer-led group interventions for people with CMDs. 

• Cognitive behavioural therapy to promote mental wellbeing, resilience, or to reduce the impacts of CMDs. 

• Arts therapy, such as creative arts, music or singing groups for people with CMDs or to promote mental wellbeing in the general population. 

• Meditation, such as meditation interventions for people with CMDs. 

• Workplace interventions to promote mental wellbeing for the entire workforce, reduce stigma and / or improve workplace support and access 

to wider support for people with mental health problems including CMDs. 

• Family interventions, such as parenting programmes for at-risk populations to improve parent / carer mental health and mental wellbeing, and 

to prevent child mental health problem (also therefore mitigating a risk factor for mental health problems in the next generation of adults). 

• Healthy lifestyle interventions, such as smoking cessation or healthy eating interventions, including interventions available to the general 

population, and those targeted for people with low mental wellbeing or people with CMDs. 

 

P
age 158



 

15 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Community and service user views 

The key findings below are taken from a range of recent engagement projects in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48. More 

detailed information on these engagement projects, including links to reports and outputs from them, is available here. 

- Mental health is a high priority for local people. People are concerned about access to mental health services and access can be 
difficult. 

- Primary care is a key point of first contact for people concerned about their own or a loved one’s mental health. Primary care staff 
need knowledge about mental health problems and services and ‘expert’ support should be available in primary care. 

- All professionals need mental health awareness. 
- Lengthy waiting times can be a barrier to accessing support. People want to receive communication on waiting times and advice on 

‘waiting well’. People want rapid access to services.  
- People report being told their needs are too complex for one service and not complex enough for another and are left with no support. 

This includes people finding their needs do not meet criteria for accessing either primary or secondary mental health services. 
- Communities and community support are key to addressing social isolation and providing support. People want more community 

services. 
- Signposting and coordinating access are important to prevent people falling through gaps, including appropriate information sharing 

between services. 
- Holistic and personalised care that ‘treats the person not the diagnosis’ and allows choice about support are important. 
- Stigma is a barrier to accessing support, although some people feel mental health stigma has declined in recent years. Poor past 

experience of support and not knowing where to go for help are other barriers. 
- Accident and Emergency departments could be adapted to better meet the needs of people experiencing a mental health crisis needs, 

such as having a separate physical area within A&E, or supporting access to appropriate safe places as an alternative to A&E. 
- Physical barriers to accessing support include transport, finances and lack of IT infrastructure. 
- People want family, friends and significant others involved in their care where appropriate. 
- The cost of living impacts health and wellbeing negatively and is a barrier to community activities that provide social connection. 

Financial crisis, stigma and stress can exacerbate mental health problems.  
- Gambling harm is felt to be a growing problem. Locally, harms to mental health - both to people with a gambling problem and their 

loved ones - are the most commonly reported harms from gambling problems. 
- Privacy, confidentiality and anonymity are important. People want safe, non-judgemental spaces to have conversations about mental 

health.  
- Peer support models are valued, as is employing people with similar lived experience. 
- People want support after discharge, including advocacy, support in the community and peer support options. 

P
age 159



 

16 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

What we are doing, including assets and services (1) 

NottAlone: information and mental 

health support for people of all ages in 

Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

In October 2024, the NottAlone website 

was relaunched by Nottinghamshire County 

Council, Nottingham City Council and the 

NHS Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

Integrated Care Board. NottAlone is 

intended to be the key source of mental 

health information, advice and signposting 

to support and services for all citizens. Click 

here to visit NottAlone. 

 

Mental health pathway 

As part of the Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire Integrated Mental Health 

Pathway Strategic Plan, available mental 

health services for adults were mapped in 

September 2024. The pathway identifies 

services of different types: Early Intervention 

and Prevention, Primary Care, Enhanced 

Support, Crisis Services, In-patient Services, 

Rehabilitation, and Community Support 

(Post Discharge). Click here to see the 

September 2024 pathway, developed by the 

Integrated Mental Health Pathway 

Programme. 

 

Mental health services accessible by 

self-referral 

Information on local mental health 

services which can be accessed by self-

referral can be found here: Digital guide to 

mental health services in Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire (icb.nhs.uk) 

 

Mental health support available within primary care  

20 x Primary Care Network (PCN) Mental Health Practitioners: Provide assessment, brief intervention, and signposting, and liaise between primary and secondary 

care. 

3 x Mental Health Pharmacists: Provide support with the initiation, optimisation, and management of mental health medication. 

6 x Mental Health, Health Coaches: Provide brief interventions and signposting for patients with mild to moderate mental health conditions. 

6 x Mental Health First Contact Occupational Therapists: Provide assessment, triage, intervention, and onward referral for people presenting in primary care with a 

mental health need. 

11x Health Improvement Workers: Provide annual physical health checks for the patients with severe mental illness, including home visits. 

 

 

P
age 160

https://nottalone.org.uk/
https://notts.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2024/07/Digital-guide-to-mental-health-services-in-Nottingham-and-Nottinghamshire-1.pdf
https://notts.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2024/07/Digital-guide-to-mental-health-services-in-Nottingham-and-Nottinghamshire-1.pdf
https://notts.icb.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2024/07/Digital-guide-to-mental-health-services-in-Nottingham-and-Nottinghamshire-1.pdf


 

17 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

What we are doing, including assets and services (2) 

NHS Talking Therapies 

During 2023/24, Talking Therapies received 37,315 referrals locally. 26,810 of these (71.8%) accessed services. Of people who finished a course of treatment, 

70.1% were recorded as having an improvement, 50.4% as having a recovery, and 47.2% reliable recovery. This is similar to England rates.  

In Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, some groups of people have lower rates of improvement and recovery outcomes from Talking Therapies when compared 

to the overall rates of improvement and recovery: people aged 18-25, people from black and minority ethnic groups, people who are lesbian, gay and bisexual, 

people who have a disability, and people who have a long-term condition. 

Talking Therapies provide a treatment offer and personalised employment support to help people stay in work and resolve work issues, and to help people with 

mental health problems to gain employment. In Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, 1,255 service users who were open to Talking Therapies during July 24, had 

an employment support appointment at some point, and 400 service users had an employment support appointment during the month58.  

 

 Service access for people aged 16 to 25 years  

• Between January and June 2024, 1,516 people 

aged under 25 were referred to Be U Notts (early 

mental health and emotional wellbeing support 

for CYP aged 0-25 in Nottingham and 

Nottinghamshire (excluding Bassetlaw)). 67.4% 

were aged 11 to 17, and 10% 18 to 25 years. 

• Between January and July 2024, 5,208 people 

aged 16 to 25 were referred to, and 3,527 

accessed, the local NHS Talking Therapies service. 

 

 

University of Nottingham counselling service, mental health advisory services, and 

support and wellbeing teams 

• In 2023/24, 6548 students accessing the counselling service, an 18% increase 

compared to the previous year. 

• Demand for the mental health advisory service has increased steadily since 2018/19. 

Demand in 2022/23 increased by 3% compared to 2021/22. Partial data available for 

2023/24 suggests a likely further year-on-year increase in demand by the end of 

2023/24. 1346 students accessed the service between 01/09/23 and 30/6/24.   

• In 2022/23 and 2023/24, the most common presenting needs at the counselling service 

were anxiety and depression/low mood. Around 1 in 3 students who accessed the 

service had one of these presenting needs.  

 

 

Click here for further service information and data about NHS Talking Therapies, University of Nottingham support services, service access for people aged 16 

to 25, Nottingham Counselling Centre, and Nottinghamshire Mind mental health and wellbeing services 

P
age 161



 

18 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

What we are doing, including assets and services (3) 

Nottingham Counselling Centre (from service data for the period 30/9/23 

to 30/9/24) 

• 614 adults from Nottingham accessed counselling services. Another 
250 people (28.9% of those referred) were signposted elsewhere as 
the services available were not suitable for them. 

• The two most common presenting needs were anxiety/stress, 
reported by 40.1% of service users, and depression, reported by 
35.5% (NB service users may report more than one presenting need). 

• 60.1% of people who accessed services were female; 37.6% male; 
2.1% other, and 0.1% not specified. 

• 76.3% were aged 20 to 39 years, meaning people of this age were 

over-represented among service users given the size of this 

population. 

• 75.7% were from White ethnic groups (including 60.7% of White 

British ethnicity); 8.5% from Asian ethnic groups; 8.1% from Black 

ethnic groups; 6.7% from Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups. 

• Females, people aged 20 to 39 years and people from White ethnic 

groups were over-represented and people from Asian ethnic groups 

under-represented among service users, given the size of these 

population groups in Nottingham. 

 

 

 

Nottinghamshire Mind mental health and wellbeing services (from 

service data for the period 1/4/2023 to 27/9/2024) 

• 4282 individuals accessed Nottinghamshire Mind services (equating to 

an estimated 2868 service users per year). 

• A mental health diagnosis was recorded for 42% of service users. 

44.6% of people with a recorded diagnosis had a CMD. 

• The largest group of service users was aged 25 to 34 years old (31.2% 

of service users), followed by 18 to 24 year olds (20.1%). 

• 94.5% of service users with ethnicity recorded were from White 

ethnic groups; 3.1% Mixed ethnic groups; 0.9% Asian; and 0.9% Black. 

• 79.8% of service users who reported their sexuality were 

heterosexual. 

• Adults aged 18 to 34 years were over-represented and heterosexual 

people under-represented among service users, given the size of 

these population groups in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. From 

service data included in this JSNA Profile, it is not possible to assess 

the ethnic representativeness of people who used Mind services as 

the ethnicity of service users is not linked to individual services in city 

and county. 

 

 Local Authorities commission and provide a range of services that support the good mental health of adults. Examples include, Community Friendly 

Nottinghamshire community organising approach, Community Health and Wellbeing Champion networks in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, and the Moving 

Forward Service in Nottinghamshire providing support to people with mental health conditions to help reduce likelihood of admission to hospital and to help 

people live well in their communities. Along with the Integrated Care Board, the Local Authorities also commission mental health awareness training for frontline 

staff and volunteers. For more information on some of the provision from Local Authorities click here.  

P
age 162



 

19 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

What we are doing, including assets and services (4) 

Crisis services (for more information on crisis services and further data, click here) 

Crisis Sanctuaries 

- The numbers of service users and interventions provided by Crisis Sanctuaries shows an upward trend since 2021/22. 
- In 2023/24, 1,008 people accessed Crisis Sanctuaries (514 new users and 494 repeat users). 
- 48.7% were female including trans women; 42.1% male including trans men. The largest age group was 25 to 34 years (23.0% of service users). 
- 30% of people present with a primary reason of negative thoughts / low mood, 26% with a long-term mental health, and 19% due to anxiety. 
- The most common intervention was talking / listening support (43.6% of interventions). 

Crisis Line 

- In 2023/24, 128,809 crisis line calls were received from 71,353 callers. The busiest time for answered calls was between 12pm and 4pm. 

- On average, 5,946 unique callers contacted the service each month. On average, 1,533 people called more than once in each month. 

Text SHOUT (data below relates to self-reported Nottingham/Nottinghamshire users of the national SHOUT service, March 2023 to February 2024. As this data 

relates to people who self-reported being from Nottingham and Nottinghamshire, it likely underestimates service use by local people). 

- 7,596 individuals took part in 13,797 text conversations. 68% of texters were aged between 14 and 34, with 24% aged 14 to 17. 
- The most commonly reported needs were suicidality (reported in 42% of conversations), stress/worry (33%) and low mood/sadness (31%). 
- 74% of users were female, 20% male, 4% non-binary and 2% transgender male. 86% were White, 5% Asian, 5% mixed ethnicity, and 3% Black.  

 
Haven House  

- In 2023/24, 223 stays at Haven House were recorded. Total occupancy in days was 1,430. For this JSNA Profile, no demographic data on service users or 

on the number of people who stayed on more than one occasion during this period was available.  

 

Integrated wellbeing services (Your Health Notts in Nottinghamshire and Thriving Nottingham in Nottingham) provide health behaviour change support such as 

weight management, stop smoking and physical activity programmes. For further information, click here. 

- Nottinghamshire: Between April 2023 and August 2024, 2,866 people who were referred to Your Health Notts reported having a CMD. 56% reported a 

diagnosis of anxiety and depression combined, 23% depression and 17% anxiety. 

- Nottingham: Between April 2024 and September 2024, 276 people (20.9% of service users) who accessed Thriving Nottingham reported a CMD. 

P
age 163



 

20 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Stakeholder views: community assets 

In September 2024, stakeholders were surveyed about their views of local community assets (places, 

groups, people and things) that support good mental wellbeing. 51 people who work or volunteer in the 

local area responded. 12 worked or volunteered in Nottingham, 25 in one or more Nottinghamshire 

districts, and 14 in both city and county. 

Respondents highlighted important community assets for mental wellbeing: 

- Outdoor spaces such as green spaces, parks, community gardens and allotments. 

- Community settings such as community centres, coffee mornings, places of worship, libraries, and 

community hubs. 

- Assets for physical activity, such as gyms, outdoor spaces for exercise, and sports clubs and teams. 

- Adult education, such as adult learning programmes and educational skills-based wellbeing 

programmes. 

- Mental health and wider services that support wellbeing, including Talking Therapies, SHOUT, 
Nottinghamshire Mind services, Nottingham Wellbeing Hub and Citizen’s Advice. 

- Community assets for specific population groups, such as women’s centres, men’s support groups, 

and centres for refugees and people seeking asylum. 

Respondents reported that community assets work well when they are: 

- Accessible: free, easy to travel to, multiple services available in one place, accessible to all. 

- Inclusive and empowering by providing mutual support within communities, creating volunteering 

opportunities, and by tackling social isolation. 

- Integrated with of a range of services and support available together. 

Respondents named many types of community assets and examples that are working well to support 

mental wellbeing, including self-help groups, community groups, Places of Welcome in Inspire libraries, 

food banks, Men in Sheds, Improving Lives, Chestnut Community Centre in Bingham, Newark Food and 

Wellbeing Hub, Framework Training Centre in Bulwell, St Ann's Community Orchard, Nottingham Women’s 

Centre, Vibrant Warsop, the Core Centre in Calverton, and Oasis - Men at the Edge in Bassetlaw. 

Identified challenges and gaps  

Respondents highlighted: 

Lack of funding and resources for 

services and support, resulting in some 

closing or reducing their offer or 

eligibility. 

Lack of services, including evening 

services, one-to-one support, staff to co-

ordinate support for individuals, and 

support for specific population groups 

(such as men who have experienced 

abuse, and people from LGBTQ+ 

communities). 

Lack of clarity, including not knowing 

what is available or the best programme, 

group, or service for an individual. 

Barriers to access, such as problems 

with transport, language barriers, long 

waiting lists, limited opening hours, lack 

of affordable spaces, financial 

vulnerability, and some services being 

accessible only via a GP. 

Stigma is a barrier to accessing mental 

health support for some people. 

 

P
age 164



 

21 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Opportunities and recommendations for improvement and future development 

The following themes and findings have been summarised from this JSNA Profile and recommendations for improvement and future development are 
provided for consideration by the local system: 

Theme Findings Recommendations 
Reach and equity 
of access to 
support 

 
 
 

People do not always know how and where to access mental health 
support, and some people report they cannot find a service to meet 
their needs. 
 
Access to support is inequitable, and some groups have poorer 
experiences of, and outcomes from, mental health services. 
 
People with additional needs as well as mental health needs report 
finding services hard to access. 
 
Some people find they have to wait for the right support, and this 
can be a barrier to engaging with services. 
 
Some groups with greater need for mental health support are at-risk 
of their needs becoming more acute or not being met because they 
experience barriers to accessing early support. 
 
 

All partners should promote the NottAlone website as the main 
source of mental health information, advice, and signposting.  
 
The NottAlone mobilisation group and mental health strategic 
communication group should identify how to remove barriers to 
this information (such as digital exclusion, cultural differences 
and communication and language barriers), and co-produce 
alternative messages and materials for identified demographic 
groups who need them. 
 
Commissioners and providers of mental health services should 
identify how they can use the insight from this JSNA Profile to 
increase access for underrepresented groups. This may include: 

• increase capacity to deliver services in local community-
based venues, and in environments which meet the 
needs of different groups (such as men, older people, 
autistic people, or in women-only spaces).  

 

• remove and reduce practical barriers to accessing 
support, such as those related to travel and transport, 
information technology, and the time and location of 
service delivery. 

 

• increase understanding of the needs, preferences and 
barriers experienced by these groups and identify ways 

P
age 165



 

22 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

to better meet their needs by coproducing solutions 
with people with lived experience, particularly people 
from groups experiencing inequalities and including 
people experiencing SMD. 
 

• explore ways to improve access for those with 
additional needs and ensure pathways do not allow 
people to fall through gaps in eligibility criteria.  

 

• include family and friends, as appropriate, in service 
users’ care, and support family and friends to access 
information and support for their own mental wellbeing. 

 

• identify and share learning from mental health services 
with established ‘waiting well’ initiatives. 

 

• review crisis provision for people with or without CMDs 
experiencing significant emotional distress. 

Building blocks 
of health 

 

Primary care is a key point of first contact for people concerned 
about their own or a loved one’s mental health. 
 
 
 
 
Local people value community assets (such as parks and community 
groups and spaces) to help them stay mentally well, especially when 
assets and services are accessible, inclusive and integrated at the 
same location. 
 
People find that gaps and problems with funding, resources and 
accessibility limit the availability and impact of community assets. 
 
 

The Integrated Care Board should ensure staff across primary 
care have the information and resources they need to inform 
and support people making first contact for mental health 
support, and the resources to help people access community 
resources and practical support for mental wellbeing. 
 
All partner organisations should identify how they can expand 
how they promote ways to stay mentally well, recognising the 
role of communities and community assets. This may include 
mental health services building links or co-locating with 
community groups or organisations, or supporting people to 
access community assets in their communities before, during 
and after contact with services. Public health teams should 
consider how they provide information and support for partners 
to help them do this. 

P
age 166



 

23 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

 
People who lack access to the building blocks of health – such as 
decent housing and financial wellbeing - are at higher risk of 
experiencing common mental health disorders and low mental 
wellbeing. People who experience CMDs and low mental wellbeing 
are more likely need support to access good quality housing, jobs, 
education and safe spaces to exercise and socialise. 
 
 
 
 

 
All health and care organisations should increase routine 
enquiries to identify mental health risks and needs. This includes 
physical health care and money help services enquiring about 
mental health, and mental health care services enquiring about 
risk and protective factors, such as financial vulnerability, drug 
and alcohol use, gambling related harm, and domestic abuse or 
violence. All health and care organisations should ensure that 
the workforce have information about where to signpost and 
refer on to. 
 
There should be strong partnership working between 
professionals in mental health and housing to support 
people with poor mental health or poor mental wellbeing to 
have and maintain stable, affordable and decent housing. 
Identifying this as a strategic priority in key forums such as 
the Nottinghamshire Housing Group will enable a shared 
focus on mental health and housing.  

Supporting the 
workforce 

 
 
 
 

The proportion of people experiencing common mental health 
disorders and low mental wellbeing has increased in recent years. 
 
Many people who need mental health services have additional 
needs that impact on their ability to access and benefit from 
services. 
 
People value services which take account of their individual and 
cultural needs.  
 
Many people experiencing common mental health disorders and 
low mental wellbeing access other types of services and groups in 
the community to seek help for their mental health and wellbeing, 
including many people who are not currently accessing mental 
health support.  

The Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Adult and Children’s 
Mental Health Partnership Board should receive regular 
information about mental health workforce training in equality 
and diversity; cultural competence; trauma-informed care; 
neurodiversity awareness; drug and alcohol use; and person-
centred care. 
 
Partner organisations should identify how to increase access to 
mental health awareness training for the whole health and care 
workforce, including physical health care and primary care staff 
and the community and voluntary sector. 
 
Health and care organisations should review their policies and 
offers for staff mental wellbeing to identify any improvements 
or successes they could share with partners. 

P
age 167



 

24 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

 
 

Understanding 
and insight 

 

Local insight, data and wider evidence show the need to improve 
how the mental health needs of some groups of people are met. 
This includes people from minority ethnic groups, people who are 
lesbian, gay and bisexual, disabled people, and people who have a 
long-term condition. 
 
Among people experiencing common mental health disorders, local 
data shows different patterns of service use for different 
demographic groups, such as men and women and people in 
different age groups. 
 

The Integrated Care Board should support NHS Talking 
Therapies to continue to apply and to share learning from their 
current work to increase access for under-served groups. 
 
Mental health services should improve data recording to 
increase understanding of service user needs, and the needs of 
those who require services and do not access them. This may 
include recording socio-demographic and behaviour data, such 
as ethnicity, deprivation, employment status, disability status, 
sexuality, drug and alcohol use, and homelessness. Services 
should ensure their data contributes to the SAIU mental health 
system dashboard to improve understanding of local need. This 
data should be used to improve access and adapt delivery to 
better meet service user need. 

Strategic 
approach 

 

People seek and benefit from a wider range of community assets 
and services to support their mental health and wellbeing. 
 
Stigma is a barrier to accessing mental health support for some 
people. 
 
Citizens and stakeholders report they would like more and clearer 
information about community assets and mental health services, 
greater integration of and pathways between different kinds of 
services, and more community assets which support mental 
wellbeing and prevent mental health problems. 

Health and care partner organisations should consider how they 
can adopt a Mental Health in All Policies approach to prevent 
mental health problems, promote mental health equity and 
create environments that support good mental health. 
 
Places, districts, and boroughs should identify or strengthen 
their place-based collective approaches to promoting mental 
health and preventing mental health problems. This may be 
achieved through a place-based adoption of the Prevention 
Concordat for Better Mental Health. 
 

 

 

 

P
age 168



 

25 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Acknowledgments 

We very gratefully acknowledge the time, effort and input of members of the steering group for this JSNA Profile, and of colleagues from the University of 

Nottingham, Thriving Nottingham, Your Health Notts, Nottingham Counselling Centre, Nottinghamshire Mind, and the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire 

Integrated Care Board who shared data and information for use in the JSNA Profile. 

References 

1. Department of Health and Social Care, 2024. Common Mental Health Disorders – Fingertips profile. Available at 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders  

2. Faculty of Public Health, 2024. Concepts of Mental and Social Wellbeing. Available at: https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-

groups/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for- all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/  

3. Joint Commissioning Panel for Mental Health, 2016. Guidance for commissioning public mental health services. Available at: campion-fitch-

guidance-for-commissioning-public-mental-health-services-jcpmh-2015.pdf 

4. MHFA England, 2020. Mental Health Statistics, Available at: https://mhfaengland.org/mhfa-centre/research-and-evaluation/mental-health-

statistics/   

5. The Health Foundation, 2024 Towards a healthier workforce. Available at: https://www.health.org.uk/publications/towards-a-healthier-workforce 

6. Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Households living below a Minimum Income Standard: 2008–2022. Available at https://www.jrf.org.uk/households-

living-below-a-minimum-income-standard-2008-2022 

7. Health Foundation, 2024. Local authority dashboard: What builds good health? https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/local-authority-

dashboard 

8. Department of Health and Social Care, 2024. Independent investigation of the NHS in England. Available at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-investigation-of-the-nhs-in-england 

9. Ipsos, Ipsos Health Service Report 2024. Available at https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2024-09/Ipsos-Health-Service-

Report-2024-Global-Charts_0.pdf 

10. Centre for Mental Health, A Mentally Healthier Nation, 2023. Available at: https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/mentally-

healthier-nation/ 

11. Faculty of Public Health and the Mental Health Foundation, Better Mental Health For All, 2021. Available at 

https://www.fph.org.uk/media/1644/better-mental-health-for-all-final-low-res.pdf 

P
age 169

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-groups/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-%20all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-groups/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-%20all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/pmhic/campion-fitch-guidance-for-commissioning-public-mental-health-services-jcpmh-2015.pdf?sfvrsn=50333901_2
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/pmhic/campion-fitch-guidance-for-commissioning-public-mental-health-services-jcpmh-2015.pdf?sfvrsn=50333901_2
https://mhfaengland.org/mhfa-centre/research-and-evaluation/mental-health-statistics/
https://mhfaengland.org/mhfa-centre/research-and-evaluation/mental-health-statistics/
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/towards-a-healthier-workforce
https://www.jrf.org.uk/households-living-below-a-minimum-income-standard-2008-2022
https://www.jrf.org.uk/households-living-below-a-minimum-income-standard-2008-2022
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/local-authority-dashboard
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/local-authority-dashboard
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-investigation-of-the-nhs-in-england
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2024-09/Ipsos-Health-Service-Report-2024-Global-Charts_0.pdf
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2024-09/Ipsos-Health-Service-Report-2024-Global-Charts_0.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/mentally-healthier-nation/
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/mentally-healthier-nation/
https://www.fph.org.uk/media/1644/better-mental-health-for-all-final-low-res.pdf


 

26 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

12. NHS England, 2020. Advancing mental health equalities strategy. Available at https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-

advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf 

13. World Health Organisation (2005) Mental Health Action plan for Europe: Facing the challenges, building solutions. Copenhagen: WHO  

14. Department of Health, 2009. New Horizons: Towards a shared vision for mental health: Consultation. Available at 

https://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/NSF/Documents/NewHorizonsConsultation_ACC.pdf 

15. Faculty of Public Health and Mental Health Foundation, 2016. Better mental health for all: a public health approach to mental health improvement. 

Available at MHF-better-mental-health-for-all.pdf 

16. Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, 2024. Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. Available at Prevention Concordat for Better 

Mental Health - GOV.UK 

17. The Kings Fund, 2024. Mental Health 360: Inequalities. Available at Mental Health 360 | Inequalities | The King's Fund (kingsfund.org.uk) 

18. Centre for Mental Health, 2020. Inequalities in Mental Health: the Facts. Available at CentreforMH_Inequalities_Factsheet.pdf 

(centreformentalhealth.org.uk)   

19. Public Health England, 2018. Health matters: Reducing inequalities in mental illness. Available at Health matters: reducing health inequalities in 

mental illness - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

20. Mind, 2020. Mental Health Facts and Statistics. Available at Mental health facts and statistics - Mind 

21. Bansal et al. Understanding ethnic inequalities in mental health in the UK: A eta-ethnography. 2022. Published by PLOS Medicine. Available at: 

Understanding ethnic inequalities in mental healthcare in the UK: A meta-ethnography | PLOS Medicine 

22. Allen, J. and Sesti, F. Health inequalities and women – addressing unmet needs. British Medical Association, 2018. Available at bma-womens-health-

inequalities-report-aug-2018.pdf 

23. The Health Foundation. What drives health inequalities? Money and resources. Accessible from Money and resources | The Health Foundation 

24. House of Commons Library, 2024. Mental health statistics: prevalence, services and funding in England. Available at SN06988.pdf (parliament.uk) 

25. Money and Mental Health Policy Institute, 2024. The Facts: What you need to know. Accessible at Money and mental health facts and statistics 

26. Roma Support Group, Friends, Families and Travellers, VCSE Health and Wellbeing Alliance, 2024. Tacking mental health inequalities for Gypsy, 

Roma and Traveller people. Available at Tackling Mental Health Inequalities for Gypsy, Roma and Traveller People (romasupportgroup.org.uk) 

27. The Health Foundation. What drives health inequalities? Work. Accessible from Work | The Health Foundation 

28. NHS and LGBT Foundation, 2024. NHS Talking Therapies for anxiety and depression: LGBTQ+ bite-sized positive practice guide. Accessible from Bite-

sized-LGBTQ-Positive-Practice-Guide.pdf 

29. The Health Foundation. What drives health inequalities? Housing. Accessible from Housing | The Health Foundation 

30. National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse and Drug Scope, 2012. Accessible from Positive Practice Guide for working with users of drugs and 

alcohol (uea.ac.uk) 

31. Mental Health Foundation, 2022. Physical health and mental health. Accessible from Physical health and mental health | Mental Health Foundation 

P
age 170

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/00159-advancing-mental-health-equalities-strategy.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/NSF/Documents/NewHorizonsConsultation_ACC.pdf
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-09/MHF-better-mental-health-for-all.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/long-reads/mental-health-360-inequalities
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/CentreforMH_Inequalities_Factsheet.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/CentreforMH_Inequalities_Factsheet.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-reducing-health-inequalities-in-mental-illness/health-matters-reducing-health-inequalities-in-mental-illness
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-reducing-health-inequalities-in-mental-illness/health-matters-reducing-health-inequalities-in-mental-illness
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mental-health-facts-and-statistics/
https://journals.plos.org/plosmedicine/article?id=10.1371/journal.pmed.1004139
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2116/bma-womens-health-inequalities-report-aug-2018.pdf
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2116/bma-womens-health-inequalities-report-aug-2018.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/money-and-resources
https://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN06988/SN06988.pdf
https://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/money-and-mental-health-facts/#:~:text=86%25%20of%20respondents%20to%20a%20Money%20and%20Mental,also%20more%20likely%20to%20be%20in%20problem%20debt
https://www.romasupportgroup.org.uk/uploads/9/3/6/8/93687016/tackling-mental-health-inequalities-for-gypsy-roma-and-traveller-people-final-may-2024.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/work
https://lgbt.foundation/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/Bite-sized-LGBTQ-Positive-Practice-Guide.pdf
https://lgbt.foundation/wp-content/uploads/2024/07/Bite-sized-LGBTQ-Positive-Practice-Guide.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/evidence-hub/housing
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605591/norwich-medical-school-iapt-positive-practice-guide-for-working-with-people-who-use-drugs-and-alcohol.pdf/815d70eb-b793-e4b5-a389-75c9a90c15d2?t=1576683296074
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605591/norwich-medical-school-iapt-positive-practice-guide-for-working-with-people-who-use-drugs-and-alcohol.pdf/815d70eb-b793-e4b5-a389-75c9a90c15d2?t=1576683296074
https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/explore-mental-health/a-z-topics/physical-health-and-mental-health


 

27 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

32. NHS England. Advancing mental health equalities in NHS Talking Therapies for anxiety and depression services. Available at NHS England » 

Advancing mental health equalities in NHS Talking Therapies for anxiety and depression services 

33. Lord Darzi, 2024. Independent Investigation of the National Health Service in England. Available at Independent Investigation of the National Health 

Service in England (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

34. BABCP and Age UK, 2024. NHS Talking Therapies Positive Practice Guide: Older People. Accessible from NHS Talking Therapies Older People Positive 

Practice Guide 2024.pdf (babcp.com) 

35. Muslim Mental Health Matters and Steps to Recovery, 2021. UK Muslim communities and mental health services: understanding barriers and gaps 

in support provision. Accessible from LANTERN_REPORT_+MUSLIM+MENTAL+HEALTH+MATTERS+2021v9.pdf (squarespace.com) 

36. British Medical Association, 2018. Addressing unmet needs in women’s mental health. Available at bma-womens-mental-health-report-aug-

2018.pdf 

37. Lowther-Payne, H.J., Ushakova, A., Beckwith, A. et al. Understanding inequalities in access to adult mental health services in the UK: a systematic 

mapping review. BMC Health Serv Res 23, 1042 (2023). Available at Understanding inequalities in access to adult mental health services in the UK: a 

systematic mapping review | BMC Health Services Research | Full Text (biomedcentral.com) 

38. NHS and BABCP, 2019. Short guide to Improving Access to Psychological Therapies. Black, Asian and minority ethnic positive practice guide. 

Available at IAPT-BAME-PPG-Short-Version-2019.pdf 

39. National Autistic Society and Mind, 2021. Good practice guide for professionals delivering Talking Therapies for autistic adults and children. 

Accessible from NAS-Good-Practice-Guide-A4.pdf (thirdlight.com). 

40. NHS, 2009. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies. Learning Disabilities positive practice guide. Available at 9c16fe2b-07e6-2878-b077-

864d980a5f4a 

41. NHS, 2008. Improving Access to Psychological Therapies Long-Term Conditions positive practice guide. Available at 93de0e4d-9d7c-e5a2-f62a-

9e774ca68e22 

42. Engagement with residents to inform the Nottinghamshire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 2021. 

43. Nottinghamshire County Council Community Plan Consultation, 2021. 

44. Engagement as part of the Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Mental Health Pathway: Strategic Plan 2024/25-2026/2027 

45. Healthwatch Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Specialist Mental Health Service Report, 2024. 

46. Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Suicide Prevention Listening Project, 2024. 

47. Nottingham City Collaborative for Better Mental Health Let’s Talk Event, 2023. 

48. Engagement with residents to inform the Nottingham Gambling Related Harm Strategy, 2023 

49. Royal College of Speech and Language Therapists, 2024. Mental health (adults) – guidance. Available at https://www.rcslt.org/members/clinical-

guidance/mental-health-adults/mental-health-adults-guidance/  

P
age 171

https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/nhs-talking-therapies/advancing-mental-health-equalities/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/mental-health/adults/nhs-talking-therapies/advancing-mental-health-equalities/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/66f42ae630536cb92748271f/Lord-Darzi-Independent-Investigation-of-the-National-Health-Service-in-England-Updated-25-September.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/66f42ae630536cb92748271f/Lord-Darzi-Independent-Investigation-of-the-National-Health-Service-in-England-Updated-25-September.pdf
https://babcp.com/Portals/0/Files/Therapists/NHS%20Talking%20Therapies%20Older%20People%20Positive%20Practice%20Guide%202024.pdf?ver=2024-02-29-165840-357
https://babcp.com/Portals/0/Files/Therapists/NHS%20Talking%20Therapies%20Older%20People%20Positive%20Practice%20Guide%202024.pdf?ver=2024-02-29-165840-357
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5d6801ff19efcd000178e7e5/t/6297280dfa370247a8a2b180/1654073363503/LANTERN_REPORT_+MUSLIM+MENTAL+HEALTH+MATTERS+2021v9.pdf
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2115/bma-womens-mental-health-report-aug-2018.pdf
https://www.bma.org.uk/media/2115/bma-womens-mental-health-report-aug-2018.pdf
https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-023-10030-8
https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12913-023-10030-8
https://babcp.com/Portals/0/Files/About/BAME/IAPT-BAME-PPG-Short-Version-2019.pdf?ver=2020-06-16-004458-587
https://s2.chorus-mk.thirdlight.com/file/24/asDKIN9as.klK7easFDsalAzTC/NAS-Good-Practice-Guide-A4.pdf
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605591/norwich-medical-school-learning-disabilities-positive-practice-guide.pdf/9c16fe2b-07e6-2878-b077-864d980a5f4a?t=1576404144480
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605591/norwich-medical-school-learning-disabilities-positive-practice-guide.pdf/9c16fe2b-07e6-2878-b077-864d980a5f4a?t=1576404144480
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605770/norwich-medical-school-long-term-conditions-positive-practice-guide.pdf/93de0e4d-9d7c-e5a2-f62a-9e774ca68e22?t=1576403336388
https://www.uea.ac.uk/documents/20142/605770/norwich-medical-school-long-term-conditions-positive-practice-guide.pdf/93de0e4d-9d7c-e5a2-f62a-9e774ca68e22?t=1576403336388
https://www.rcslt.org/members/clinical-guidance/mental-health-adults/mental-health-adults-guidance/
https://www.rcslt.org/members/clinical-guidance/mental-health-adults/mental-health-adults-guidance/


 

28 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

50. Office of National Statistics, 2023. Personal well-being in the UK: April 2022 to March 2023. Available at: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/measuringnationalwellbeing/april2022tomarch2023  

51. NICE, 2013. Social anxiety disorder: recognition, assessment and treatment Clinical guideline [CG159]. Available at: 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg159/ 

52. NICE, 2022a. Depression in adults: treatment and management NICE guideline [NG222]. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng222/ 

53. NICE, 2009. Depression in adults with a chronic physical health problem: recognition and management Clinical guideline [CG91]. Available at: 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg91/ 

54. NICE, 2019. Depression in children and young people: identification and management NICE guideline [NG134]. Available at: 

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng134/. 

55. NICE, 2022b. Mental wellbeing at work NICE guideline [NG212]. Available at: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng212/ 

56. NHS, 2024. 5 steps to mental wellbeing. Available at: https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/five-steps-to-mental-

wellbeing/  

57. UK Health Security Agency Knowledge and Library Services literature search (what interventions result in a measurable improvement in outcomes 

for public mental health?), 2024. 

58. NHS Talking Therapies monthly report on the use of NHS Talking Therapies services, July 2024. Available at NHS Talking Therapies Monthly Statistics 

Including Employment Advisors, Performance July 2024 - NHS England Digital 

59. Nottinghamshire COVID-19 Impact Assessment, Mental Health, February 2023. Available at Nottinghamshire Covid-19 Impact Assessment - Mental 

Health.pdf 

60. Impact of COVID-19, Nottingham City Council, 2023. Available at Impact of COVID-19 (2023) - Nottingham Insight 

61. Image taken from No Health without Mental Health, Nottinghamshire’s Mental Health Framework for Action 2014-2017. Available at 

Document.ashx 

  

P
age 172

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/bulletins/measuringnationalwellbeing/april2022tomarch2023
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg159/chapter/Recommendations
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng222/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg91/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng134/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng212/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/five-steps-to-mental-wellbeing/
https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/self-help/guides-tools-and-activities/five-steps-to-mental-wellbeing/
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-talking-therapies-monthly-statistics-including-employment-advisors/performance-july-2024#related-links
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-talking-therapies-monthly-statistics-including-employment-advisors/performance-july-2024#related-links
file:///C:/Users/lj118/Downloads/Nottinghamshire%20Covid-19%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Mental%20Health.pdf
file:///C:/Users/lj118/Downloads/Nottinghamshire%20Covid-19%20Impact%20Assessment%20-%20Mental%20Health.pdf
https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/themes/health-and-wellbeing/joint-strategic-needs-assessment/adults/impact-of-covid-19-2023/
https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/DMS/Document.ashx?czJKcaeAi5tUFL1DTL2UE4zNRBcoShgo=gMD4agr9ruXWqvgj0A2pwisC8EEvOgEJSk7d4nOhDHdxSw1Z7L4T1g%3D%3D&rUzwRPf%2BZ3zd4E7Ikn8Lyw%3D%3D=pwRE6AGJFLDNlh225F5QMaQWCtPHwdhUfCZ%2FLUQzgA2uL5jNRG4jdQ%3D%3D&mCTIbCubSFfXsDGW9IXnlg%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&kCx1AnS9%2FpWZQ40DXFvdEw%3D%3D=hFflUdN3100%3D&uJovDxwdjMPoYv%2BAJvYtyA%3D%3D=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&FgPlIEJYlotS%2BYGoBi5olA%3D%3D=NHdURQburHA%3D&d9Qjj0ag1Pd993jsyOJqFvmyB7X0CSQK=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNR9xqBux0r1Q8Za60lavYmz=ctNJFf55vVA%3D&WGewmoAfeNQ16B2MHuCpMRKZMwaG1PaO=ctNJFf55vVA%3D


 

29 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Glossary 

Anxiety is a feeling of unease, such as worry or fear, that can be mild or severe. Anxiety can be a common reaction to stress and can be a feature of some 
mental health conditions when it interferes with daily activities. Anxiety can be a main symptom of some mental health conditions including panic disorder, 
phobias and post-traumatic stress disorderi.  

The building blocks of health refer to the aspects of our lives that impact our health. They are often referred to as the ‘wider determinants of health’. The 
building blocks of health include our jobs and homes, our access to education, public transport and safe green spaces with clean air, and whether we 
experience poverty or discriminationii. 

Common mental health disorders (CMDs) include conditions such as depression, anxiety disorders, Obsessive Compulsive Disorder, Panic Disorder, phobias 
and stress-related disordersiii. Common mental health disorders can cause emotional distress, and affect mood, thinking and behaviour.   

Community assets are resources within a community that can improve the quality of life for its members. Community assets can be thought about as the 
people, places, groups and things that support community and individual wellbeing. This could include things like parks and community centres, local groups, 
connected communities and individual skills.   

Coproduction is a way of working that includes people who use health and care services, carers and communities in equal partnership; and which does this 

at the earliest (and all) stages of service design, development and evaluation. 

A crisis in mental health is where a person needs urgent help, and they may feel ‘at breaking point’. It might include feelings of extreme anxiety or panic, 
having thoughts of suicide or self-harm, or having an episode of mania or psychosis. A mental health crisis can be triggered by significant or distressing life 
events (such as bereavement, relationship breakdown or financial worries) or experienced as part of managing an ongoing mental health problemiv.  

Depression is a Common Mental Health Disorder (CMD) characterised by low mood, persistent sadness, loss of interest and enjoyment in ordinary activities 
and things, and a range of emotional, physical and behavioural symptomsv.   

Emotional distress is not typically a clearly defined term. It can be thought of as an emotional and/or stressful reaction to external life challenges or events. 
It might include feelings of being overwhelmed or burdened, stressed, anxious or worried about things that are happening in a person’s life. Emotional distress 
exists on a continuum and some people who experience emotional distress may experience crisis (as defined above) and may or may not also have a diagnosed 
mental health condition.  

P
age 173



 

30 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Ethnic minorities refers to all ethnic groups except the White British groupvi. Views differ on the most appropriate language to write or talk about more than 
one ethnic group collectively. Although ethnic minorities is the most commonly preferred collective term for describing groups except the White British group 
or except White groupsvii , other terms are used including racialised minorities; global majority; Black, Asian, and minority ethnic (BAME); and marginalised 
ethnic groups. 

Health equity is about providing services, interventions, or the allocation of resources in a way that addresses health inequalities. It means making sure that 
everyone has access to the resources they need to achieve good health outcomes and recognises that some individuals or groups may require adaptations or 
additional support or resources to have equity of access to services or interventions and to achieve equity of health outcomes. 

Health inequalities are avoidable, unfair and systematic differences in health status between different groups of people. Health inequalities also refer to 

unfair and systematic differences in access to healthcare between population groupsviii. 

Low mental wellbeing means experiencing feelings may include sadness, anxiety, and low self-esteem, which can affect how people function in life. Low 
mental wellbeing can make it difficult to manage emotions, cope with stress, and maintain a positive outlook on lifeix. 

Mental health means being able to cope with the typical stresses of life, work productively and contribute to communities. Mental health is an important 
part of overall health and well-being. Having mental health (or ‘good mental health’) is not just the absence of mental health disordersx.  

Mental health and wellbeing literacy means having the knowledge and skills to understand, manage, and improve your own mental health and wellbeing. 
This can include knowing about mental health conditions and available help and support. It also means having the knowledge and skills to look after and 
protect your mental health and wellbeing.  

Mental Health in All Policies (MHiAP) is an approach that integrates mental health considerations into all public policies to improve population mental health 
and wellbeing. This approach recognises that policies across all sectors can have significant impact on mental health and wellbeing. The goal of Mental Health 
in All Policies is to promote mental health equity, prevent mental health problems, and create environments that support good mental health. An effective 
Mental Health in All Policies approach requires collaborative partnership workxi.  

A mental health problem is a condition that affects a person’s thinking, feeling, behaviour, or mood xii. A mental health problem encompasses all kinds of 
mental health issues and disorders and can include Common Mental Health Disorders (CMDs) and Severe Mental Illness (SMI). Mental health problems can 
be short term or longer lasting and can vary in severity.  

P
age 174



 

31 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

Mental health promotion involves strategies and actions to enhance the mental health and wellbeing of individuals and communities. This can be through 
awareness and communication campaigns, supporting mental resilience, and providing information and support to identify and support mental health 
problems earlyxiii. 

Mental wellbeing includes emotional, psychological and social wellbeing. A person who experiences mental wellbeing lives their life in the way the want to 
and has a sense of purpose and feelings of contentment and happinessix.  

Neurodivergence means processing information and experiencing the world in a way that is different to neurotypical people. Examples of neurodivergent 
conditions including autism, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, dyslexia, Developmental Language Disorder and othersxiv.   

Neurodiversity describes the full range of different ways in which people process information and experience the world. It includes the whole population, 
including neurotypical people and people with neurodivergent conditions, and discourages viewing neurodivergence as a deficitxv. 

Neurotypical means processing information and experiencing the world in a way that is generally considered typical or as the societal “norm”xiii. 

Parity of esteem means valuing mental health equally with physical health and ensuring equal access to care and treatment for both mental and physical 
health issues. This can include providing holistic care and support, where people’s physical and mental health are supported togetherxiii.  

Prevention in mental health involves approaches and activities to reduce the risk of mental health problems before they begin, as well as preventing existing 
mental health problems from becoming worse. It is focused on reducing the incidence, prevalence, and recurrence of mental health problems, and to promote 
mental wellbeing. This can include primary prevention (aimed at promoting protective factors and reducing risk factors in the general population), secondary 
prevention (providing targeted activities or support to people at higher risk of developing mental health problems and identifying and responding early to 
mental health problems), and tertiary prevention (aiming to support those people who are already experiencing mental health problems) xiii.  

The Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health is a framework for local and national action to prevent mental health problems and promote good 
mental healthxvi. 

Proportionate universalism is the principle that actions to reduce health inequalities should be universal (for all) but offering more help, or targeting more 
resources, to those who need it the most. It recognises that some people or groups face greater challenges and need more resources or support to achieve 
the same outcomesxvii. It has a similar meaning to equity.  

A public mental health approach focuses on improving mental health and wellbeing at a population level through prevention, early intervention, and the 
promotion of mental healthxiii. A public mental health approach does not generally include providing individual help, support or treatment.  

P
age 175



 

32 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

The term Severe Mental Illness (SMI) refers to specific types of mental health problems that severely impact people’s ability to function in daily lifexviii. 

Examples of Severe Mental Illness include schizophrenia, schizotypal and delusional disorders, psychosis and bipolar disorder 

Severe multiple disadvantage is a way of describing the lived experience of people whose current circumstances have been strongly shaped by deprivation, 
trauma, and abuse – often leading to experiences of a combination of homelessness, mental ill-health, domestic abuse and sexual violence, harmful use of 
drugs and alcohol, and contact with the criminal justice systemxix. 

Stigma in relation to mental health means the negative attitudes and beliefs that continue to exist around mental health problems. Stigma can lead to feelings 
of shame and mean people are less likely to seek help when they need it. Stigma can occur at an individual, community or population level.  

 
i NHS, 2024. Generalised anxiety disorder (GAD). Available at https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/generalised-anxiety-disorder-gad/  
ii The Health Foundation, 2024. What builds good health? An introduction to the building blocks of health. Available at: 
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2024/What%20builds%20good%20health_quick%20guide_WEB.pdf 
iii Department of Health and Social Care, 2024. Common Mental Health Disorders – Fingertips profile. Available at https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-
mental-disorders  
iv Mind, 2024a. Crisis services and planning. Available at: https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/guides-to-support-and-services/crisis-services/  
v NICE, 2022. Depression in adults: treatment and management NICE guideline [NG222]. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng222/chapter/Recommendations  
vi UK Government, 2024. Writing about ethnicity. https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/style-guide/writing-about-ethnicity/  
vii NHS Race Health Observatory, 2021. Driving Race Equity in Health and Care Strategy 2021-2024. Available at: https://www.nhsrho.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/NHS-RHO-Strategy.pdf 
viii The King’s Fund, 2024. Health inequalities in a nutshell. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell  
ix Faculty of Public Health, 2024. Concepts of Mental and Social Wellbeing. Available at: https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-groups/public-mental-health-special-
interest-group/better-mental-health-for- all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/  
x World Health Organization, 2022. Mental health. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response  
xi EU Health Policy Platform Thematic Network, 2023. Joint Statement: A Mental Health in All Policies approach as key component of any comprehensive initiative on mental health. Available 
at: https://eurohealthnet.eu/publication/joint-statement-a-mental-health-in-all-policies-approach-as-key-component-of-any-comprehensive-initiative-on-mental-health/    
xii Mind, 2024b. Mental health problems – an introduction. Available at: https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mental-health-problems-
introduction/about-mental-health-problems/  
xiii Faculty of Public Health and the Mental Health Foundation, Better Mental Health For All, 2021. Available at https://www.fph.org.uk/media/1644/better-mental-health-for-all-final-low-
res.pdf  
xiv NHS England, 2024. Neurodiversity https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-
work/pharmacy/transforming/initial/foundation/resources/edi/neurodiversity#:~:text=Neurotypical%20describes%20most%20of%20the,neurologically%20from%20said%20%E2%80%9Cnor
m%E2%80%9D.  
xv Harvard Health, 2021. What is neurodiversity? https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/what-is-neurodiversity-202111232645  
xvi Office of Health Improvement and Disparities, 2024.  Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-
better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health  
xvii Institute of Health Equity, 2010. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. Available at: https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-
society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf  

P
age 176

https://www.nhs.uk/mental-health/conditions/generalised-anxiety-disorder-gad/
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2024/What%20builds%20good%20health_quick%20guide_WEB.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/common-mental-disorders
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/guides-to-support-and-services/crisis-services/
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng222/chapter/Recommendations
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/style-guide/writing-about-ethnicity/
https://www.nhsrho.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/05/NHS-RHO-Strategy.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/insight-and-analysis/data-and-charts/health-inequalities-nutshell
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-groups/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-%20all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/
https://www.fph.org.uk/policy-advocacy/special-interest-groups/public-mental-health-special-interest-group/better-mental-health-for-%20all/concepts-of-mental-and-social-wellbeing/
https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response
https://eurohealthnet.eu/publication/joint-statement-a-mental-health-in-all-policies-approach-as-key-component-of-any-comprehensive-initiative-on-mental-health/
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mental-health-problems-introduction/about-mental-health-problems/
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/types-of-mental-health-problems/mental-health-problems-introduction/about-mental-health-problems/
https://www.fph.org.uk/media/1644/better-mental-health-for-all-final-low-res.pdf
https://www.fph.org.uk/media/1644/better-mental-health-for-all-final-low-res.pdf
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/pharmacy/transforming/initial/foundation/resources/edi/neurodiversity#:~:text=Neurotypical%20describes%20most%20of%20the,neurologically%20from%20said%20%E2%80%9Cnorm%E2%80%9D
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/pharmacy/transforming/initial/foundation/resources/edi/neurodiversity#:~:text=Neurotypical%20describes%20most%20of%20the,neurologically%20from%20said%20%E2%80%9Cnorm%E2%80%9D
https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/pharmacy/transforming/initial/foundation/resources/edi/neurodiversity#:~:text=Neurotypical%20describes%20most%20of%20the,neurologically%20from%20said%20%E2%80%9Cnorm%E2%80%9D
https://www.health.harvard.edu/blog/what-is-neurodiversity-202111232645
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-health
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
https://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf


 

33 
 

ADULT MENTAL HEALTH – JSNA PROFILE – NOTTINGHAM AND NOTTINGHAMSHIRE 

 
xviii Office of Health Improvement and Disparities, 2023. Premature Mortality in Adults with Severe Mental Illness (SMI). Available from: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness-smi      
xix Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Integrated Care System, 2024. Severe Multiple Disadvantage (SMD). Available at: https://healthandcarenotts.co.uk/care-in-my-area/nottingham-city-
pbp/severe-multiple-disadvantage-smd/  

P
age 177

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness/premature-mortality-in-adults-with-severe-mental-illness-smi
https://healthandcarenotts.co.uk/care-in-my-area/nottingham-city-pbp/severe-multiple-disadvantage-smd/
https://healthandcarenotts.co.uk/care-in-my-area/nottingham-city-pbp/severe-multiple-disadvantage-smd/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27 November 2024 

 
Report Title: Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025 

 

Lead Board Member(s): Lucy Hubber 
 

Report author and contact 
details: 

Hannah Stovin 
Hannah.stovin@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

 
 
 

Executive Summary: 
The purpose of this report is: 

1. To outline the requirements for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
(PNA) 

2. To formally seek delegated authority for the sign-off of the draft PNA to the 
Director of Public Health. 

3. To notify the Health and Wellbeing Board of the intention to bring the final 
PNA and recommendations back to the Board for ratification in September 
2025. 

 
Background information 

4. Since April 1 2013 every Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) in England 
has had a statutory responsibility to publish and keep up to date a 
statement of the needs for pharmaceutical services for the population in its 
area, referred to as a ‘Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment’ (PNA). The NHS 
(Pharmaceutical Services and Local Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 
2013 set out the legislative basis for developing and updating PNAs.  
 

5. The regulations state that a revised PNA must be published every three 
years, or earlier if the HWB determines that services have changed 
significantly enough to require re-assessment. The current PNA for 
Nottingham City was published in September 2022, therefore the HWB 
must publish a revised PNA by 1 October 2025. 

 
6. The PNA includes information on current pharmaceutical service provision, 

information on health and other needs, and an assessment on whether 
current provision meets current or future needs of the area. To prepare the 
report, data are gathered from pharmacy contractors, pharmacy users and 
other residents, commissioners, planners and other sources. The report 
also includes a range of maps that are produced from data collected as part 
of the PNA process. 
 

7. The HWB has a statutory responsibility to publish the PNA, however, the 
guidance allows for delegated authority to the Steering Group or to the DPH 
to approve the draft and final PNA before publication. This ensures that the 

Page 179

Agenda Item 10

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents
https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/themes/health-and-wellbeing/health-needs-assessments/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/
https://www.nottinghaminsight.org.uk/themes/health-and-wellbeing/health-needs-assessments/pharmaceutical-needs-assessment/


timelines outlined in the project plan are met and also allows for flexibility if 
required, in order to meet the designated publication date. 
 

8. Work on the 2025 PNA for Nottingham City has commenced and is being 
carried out in tandem with Nottinghamshire County Council (two separate 
PNAs will be produced, one for each Local Authority HWB area). The PNA 
steering group had its first meeting on 11 October 2024. At this meeting a 
Terms of Reference (report attached) for the group and a Project Plan 
(report attached) for the PNA were agreed. (Note: The terms of reference 
has been drafted to assume delegated authority – this will be amended 
should the HWB disagree with the recommendations in this report). 
 

9. The steering group are presently collecting information from service 
providers, commissioners and local residents on current pharmaceutical 
service provision. 
 

10. An external expert resource, Soar Beyond Ltd, has been commissioned to 
support the preparation of the draft PNA 2025. Soar Beyond have extensive 
experience in producing PNAs, having produced over 40 PNAs. 
 

11. Data contained within the assessment will be used to plan pharmaceutical 
services in Nottingham City to best meet local health needs. 
 

12. Surveys are currently being undertaken with the public and community 
pharmacy contractors in Nottingham City, to seek opinion on current 
pharmaceutical services provided in the HWB area. These surveys will be 
completed by end December 2024. 
 

13. Upon approval of a draft PNA and recommendations by the Director of 
Public Health (DPH) on the recommendation of the steering group, the 
assessment will be made available for a 60-day consultation that is planned 
to take place between 8 March 2025 to 9 May 2025. 

 
14. The results of consultation will be considered by the Steering Group at its 

meeting planned for w/c 28 July 2025 and a final PNA and 
recommendations produced for sign off by the HWB. 
 

15. The final PNA must be published no later than 1 October 2025 
 

16. It is proposed that the approval to publish the draft PNA is delegated to the 
DPH for Nottingham City on the recommendation of the steering group. It is 
proposed that the final report and recommendations will be presented to the 
HWB for ratification in September 2025. 
 

Other options considered 
 

17. The HWB could retain authority to approve both draft and final PNAs 
 
Reasons for recommendations 

Page 180



18. Delegated authority for the approval of the draft PNA to the DPH for 
Nottingham City on the recommendation of the steering group would allow 
for a more flexible and timely approval process, and reduce the likelihood of 
delays. 

19. The recommended approach would allow the HWB to retain overall 
responsibility and ratification for the final PNA report and recommendations, 
with opportunity for amendments during the formal consultation process.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 

1. To note the requirements for the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA). 
 

2. To formally delegate the sign off of the draft and final PNAs to the Director 
of Public Health on the recommendation of the Steering Group, with 
agreement that the report will be presented to the September 2025 HWB 
meeting for ratification. 

 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

Aims and Priorities How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

The PNA will utilise local demographic 
and health needs information to ensure 
health inequalities and the wider 
determinants of health are considered 
when assessing need. Where gaps in 
services are identified, these will be 
highlighted and recommendations made 
to address these with the aim of 
establishing equity of access in line with 
need.  
 
 
 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

Page 181



How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
 
 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

Nottingham City PNA 2025 Steering 
Group Terms of Reference 
 
Nottingham City PNA 2025 Project Plan 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

 

 

Page 182



 

©Copyright Soar Beyond Limited 2024 

www.soarbeyond.co.uk  info@soarbeyond.co.uk   

Tel: 01442 927 972 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

Terms of reference 
 

 
Objective / Purpose  

To support the production of the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) on behalf 

of the Nottingham Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), to ensure that it satisfies the 

relevant regulations including consultation requirements. 

 

Delegated responsibility 

The Director of Public Health confirmed they have received delegated authority for the 

PNA from the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 

Accountability 

The Steering Group is to report to the Consultant in Public Health.  

 

Responsibilities 

 Provide a clear and concise PNA process 

 Review and validate information and data on population, demographics, 

pharmaceutical provision, and health needs 

 To consult with the bodies stated in Regulation 8 of The NHS Regulations 2013: 

o Any Local Pharmaceutical Committee for its area 

o Any Local Medical Committee for its area 

o Any persons on the Pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing Doctors list 

for its area 

o Any LPS Chemist in its area 

o Any Local Healthwatch organisation for its area 

o Any NHS Trust or NHS Foundation Trust in its area 

o Integrated Care Boards 

o Any neighbouring HWB 

 Ensure that due process is followed 

 Report to Health and Wellbeing Board on both the draft and final PNA 

 Publish the final PNA by 1 October 2025 

Page 183

http://www.soarbeyond.co.uk/


 

©Copyright Soar Beyond Limited 2024 

www.soarbeyond.co.uk  info@soarbeyond.co.uk   

Tel: 01442 927 972 

 

 

Membership 

Core members: 

 Consultant in Public Health / Nominated Public Health Lead  

 Integrated Care Board Contract Manager representative 

 Local Pharmaceutical Committee representative  

 Integrated Care Board Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation representative 

 Local Medical Committee representative  

 Healthwatch representative (lay member)  

Soar Beyond are not to be a core member however will chair the meetings. Each core 

member has one vote. The Public Health representative will have the casting vote, if 

required. Core members may provide a deputy to meetings in their absence. The 

Steering Group shall be quorate with three core members in attendance, one of which 

must be an LPC representative. Non-attending members are unable to cast a vote – 

that vote may otherwise sway the casting decision.  

Additional members (if required): 

 Integrated Care Board Commissioning Managers 

 NHS Trust Chief Pharmacists 

 Dispensing Doctors representative 

In attendance at meetings will be representatives of Soar Beyond Ltd who have been 

commissioned by Nottingham to support the development of the PNA. Other additional 

members may be co-opted if required. 

 

Frequency of meetings 

Meetings will be arranged at key stages of the project plan. The Steering Group will 

meet in summer 2025 to sign off the PNA for submission to the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.  

Page 184

http://www.soarbeyond.co.uk/


12
/0

8/
20

24

19
/0

8/
20

24

26
/0

8/
20

24

02
/0

9/
20

24

09
/0

9/
20

24

16
/0

9/
20

24

23
/0

9/
20

24

30
/0

9/
20

24

07
/1

0/
20

24

14
/1

0/
20

24

21
/1

0/
20

24

28
/1

0/
20

24

04
/1

1/
20

24

11
/1

1/
20

24

18
/1

1/
20

24

25
/1

1/
20

24

02
/1

2/
20

24

09
/1

2/
20

24

16
/1

2/
20

24

23
/1

2/
20

24

30
/1

2/
20

24

06
/0

1/
20

25

13
/0

1/
20

25

20
/0

1/
20

25

27
/0

1/
20

25

03
/0

2/
20

25

10
/0

2/
20

25

17
/0

2/
20

25

24
/0

2/
20

25

03
/0

3/
20

25

10
/0

3/
20

25

17
/0

3/
20

25

24
/0

3/
20

25

31
/0

3/
20

25

07
/0

4/
20

25

14
/0

4/
20

25

21
/0

4/
20

25

28
/0

4/
20

25

05
/0

5/
20

25

12
/0

5/
20

25

19
/0

5/
20

25

26
/0

5/
20

25

02
/0

6/
20

25

09
/0

6/
20

25

16
/0

6/
20

25

23
/0

6/
20

25

30
/0

6/
20

25

07
/0

7/
20

25

14
/0

7/
20

25

21
/0

7/
20

25

28
/0

7/
20

25

04
/0

8/
20

25

11
/0

8/
20

25

18
/0

8/
20

25

25
/0

8/
20

25

01
/0

9/
20

25

Nottinghamshire County Council
Stage One: Project Planning and Governance
Contract award
Kick-off meeting
First Steering Group Meeting - agree data to collect 28

Data and information requests
Receive back all data, information and strategic documents
Health Needs Chapter ready
Comms plans agreed for mobilisation questionnaires
Create and sign off contractor list for map production
Maps ready
Questionnaires live
Questionnaires closed
Analyse questionnaires
Second Steering Group Meeting - Sign off data

Stage Two: PNA Development
Populate PNA template
Complete draft PNA including recommendations
Proof read and format draft PNA
Circulate draft PNA to Steering Group
Third Steering Group - Agree the draft
Finalise draft PNA following Steering Group meeting
Final proof read and format of draft PNA
Complete stakeholder consultation plan

Stage Three: Consultation
Consultation start
Consultation end
Produce consultation report

Stage Four: Final PNA Production
Produce draft final PNA from consultation report
Circulate draft Final PNA to Steering Group
Fourth Steering Group Meeting - Sign off final
Amend final PNA for feedback from Steering Group
Final proof read and format of draft PNA
Submit final PNA to local authority

P
age 185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
27 November 2024 

 
Report Title: 
 

Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership Update 

Lead Board Member(s): 
 

Dr Husein Mawji, Vice Chair, Nottingham City 
Health and Wellbeing Board and Clinical Director, 
Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership  

Tim Guyler, Executive Director of Strategy and 
Integration, Nottingham University Hospitals and 
Lead, Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership 

Lucy Hubber, Director of Public Health, Nottingham 
City Council  

Report author and contact 
details: 
 

Rich Brady, Director of Strategy and Partnerships, 
Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership 
rich.brady@nhs.net  

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 
 

 

Executive Summary: 
 
This paper provides an update on the work of the Nottingham City PBP. Detailed 
within this update is the announcement of the new PBP Lead and work being 
undertaken by the Executive Team to review the PBP Strategic Plan. There is also 
an update on the PBPs work to support prevention and better management of 
long-term conditions and highlights from the PBPs primary and secondary care 
programme. 
 

Recommendation(s): The Board is asked to: 
 
Note the update from the Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership. 
 

 

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
 

Aims and Priorities 
 
 

How the recommendation(s) 
contribute to meeting the Aims and 
Priorities: 
 

Aim 1: To increase healthy life 
expectancy in Nottingham through 
addressing the wider determinants of 
health and enabling people to make 
healthy decisions 
 

The Nottingham City Place-Based 
Partnership (PBP) is discharged 
responsibility for the oversight of the 
delivery of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2022 – 
2025. 

Page 187

Agenda Item 12

mailto:rich.brady@nhs.net


2 
 

Aim 2: To reduce health inequalities by 
having a proportionately greater focus 
where change is most needed 
 

 
 

Priority 1: Smoking and Tobacco 
Control 
 

Priority 2: Eating and Moving for Good 
Health 
 

Priority 3: Severe Multiple 
Disadvantage 
 

Priority 4: Financial Wellbeing 
 

How mental health and wellbeing is being championed in line with the 
Board’s aspiration to give equal value to mental and physical health: 
 
The Place-Based Partnership has a programme focussed on supporting 
Nottingham citizens to better access preventative support to improve mental health 
and wellbeing. This programme is aligned with the programmes being delivered as 
part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022 – 2025. 
 

 

List of background papers relied 
upon in writing this report (not 
including published documents or 
confidential or exempt information) 
 

 
Nottingham City PBP Strategic Plan 
2023 – 2025 

Published documents referred to in 
this report 
 

 
Nottingham and Nottinghamshire NHS 
Joint Forward Plan 2023 – 2027 
 
NHS Priorities and Operational Planning 
Guidance 
 

 

  

Page 188

https://healthandcarenotts.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/J15562-Joint-Forward-Plan_v6-090823.pdf
https://healthandcarenotts.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/J15562-Joint-Forward-Plan_v6-090823.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-2024-25/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/priorities-and-operational-planning-guidance-2024-25/


3 
 

Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership (PBP) Update 

 

Introduction 

 

1. This paper provides an update on the work of the Nottingham City PBP. Detailed 

within this update is the announcement of the new PBP Lead and work being 

undertaken by the Executive Team to review the PBP Strategic Plan. There is 

also an update on the PBPs work to support prevention and better management 

of long-term conditions and highlights from the PBPs primary and secondary care 

programme. 

 

Appointment of new Lead 

 

2. Following the departure of Mel Barrett as Chief Executive of Nottingham City 

Council and Lead of the PBP, Tim Guyler, Executive Director of Strategy and 

Integration at Nottingham University Hospitals (NUH), has been appointed as the 

new Lead for Nottingham City PBP. Tim is one of the longest serving members of 

the PBP Executive Team and brings a wealth of experience from his work at 

NUH, as well as his leadership in the Integrated Care System (ICS). 

 

Place-Based Partnership Strategic Review 

 

3. In April 2023, the PBP Executive Team agreed the Nottingham City PBP 

Strategic Plan. The plan, inclusive of the suit of partnership programmes, set out 

six strategic objectives over the next two years to support the partnership to 

continue its maturity journey as a key delivery partnership in the ICS. 

 

4. Since the publication of the Strategic Plan, the constituent partners of the 

Nottingham City PBP have faced significant pressures both individually and 

collectively. While the circumstances facing partners has, at times, limited the 

ability of partners to engage in partnership activity, good progress has still been 

made with partnership programmes and strategic objectives. 

 

5. The context in which PBP partners have been operating has shifted significantly 

since the publication of the Strategic Plan in 2023. The PBP has also matured 

during this time, taking on additional activity, such as a programme to support the 

prevention and better management of long-term conditions and frailty, as part of 

its responsibilities set out in the NHS Joint Forward Plan.  

 

6. The PBP Executive Team is currently undertaking a review of the PBP Strategic 

Plan and partnership ambitions and will publish a revised Strategic Plan in April 

2025. 

 

Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy development 

Page 189



4 
 

7. As noted at the September Health and Wellbeing Board meeting, work is 

underway to update the current Joint Local Health and Wellbeing Strategy. In 

addition to supporting the development of the updated Strategy, PBP partners 

are refreshing programme delivery plans and reviewing ways of working to 

ensure that partnership resources are maximised to support delivery. 

 

Long-term condition prevention and management: Cardiovascular disease 

8. As part of its approach to supporting the prevention and better management of 

long-term conditions, the PBP has launched an integrated neighbourhood 

working programme focused on cardiovascular disease, led by its constituent 

Primary Care Networks (PCN).  

 

9. Cardiovascular disease is a leading cause of mortality in Nottingham and 

contributes to a high number of avoidable deaths, as well as emergency 

admissions to hospital. By working together in the community, there are 

opportunities for PBP partners to support the prevention and better management 

of cardiovascular disease.  

 

10. The programme was launched on 26 September at a ‘Heart of our Community’ 

event held at the Indian Community Centre Association. The event brought 

together over 70 people from PBP partner organisations, where partners heard 

from experts in public health, primary and community care on how to support 

people with their heart health, as well as learning about the power of community 

voice through the voluntary sector.  

 

11. Partners worked through a series of case studies and discussed innovative ways 

of working in partnership to support people with their heart health. Increasing 

health literacy for patients and their families, earlier referrals to preventative 

services, earlier pharmacist support and taking a whole family approach were 

identified as priorities to be taken forward as part of the programme. 

 

12. A staged approach to the roll out of the programme is being taken across PCNs, 

with work already underway in Bulwell & Top Valley and Nottingham City East 

PCNs, with Aspire and Raleigh PCNs soon to join the programme. 

 

Long-term condition prevention and management: End of life care and 

supporting people with frailty 

13. Work is being undertaken with Nottingham University Hospitals (NUH) and East 

Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) to improve experiences of end-of-life care. 

Roll out of ReSPECT training began in September and is anticipated to have 

been completed with all specialities at NUH by February 2025. Work is underway 

Page 190



5 
 

with EMAS to explore better guidance on the use of ReSPECT forms to reduce 

inappropriate conveyances to hospital. 

 

14. Improving the use of the Clinical Frailty Scale is a shared priority across all place-

based partnerships in the ICS, with work underway to identify how people with 

higher frailty scores, and who have a high risk of readmission to hospital, can be 

better supported in the community. 

 

Primary and Secondary Care Interface 

 

15. The joint Nottingham City and South Nottinghamshire PBP, Primary and 

Secondary Care Interface programme, has now generated over 90 projects and 

is continuing to improve relationships between primary and secondary care 

clinicians, improving pathways, reducing duplication and improving patient 

experiences. 

 

16. Following a recommended focus on the primary and secondary care interface in 

the NHS Priorities and Operational Planning Guidance published in March 2024, 

colleague from the programme have been asked to share their learning at the 

national workshops and conferences including the National Best Practice 

Conference held in Birmingham in October. 

 

Awards 

17. Continuing the theme of best practice, as part of the Primary and Secondary 

Care programme, we are delighted to share that opportunistic flu vaccination 

project undertaken between the City and South Nottinghamshire PBPs and 

Nottingham University Hospitals won the ‘Prevention’ award at the ICS Health 

and Care Awards!  

 

18. The team created a daily data flow of all unvaccinated patients which was 

‘matched’ with NUH outpatient data. Eligible unvaccinated patients attending 

outpatients were texted, prior to their appointment, offering them a vaccination on 

site. The offer was also promoted via posters, leaflets and via consultations. In 

total 1249 people received a flu vaccination at NUH and 83% of those vaccinated 

were in the ‘at risk category’. 

 

19. The PBP has also been shortlisted for a Health Service Journal Award for its 

work on Severe and Multiple Disadvantage with the awards ceremony taking 

place on 21 November. 

 

 

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Statutory Officers Report for Health and Wellbeing Board 

Corporate Director of Children and Education Services (DCS) 
November 2024 

 

Corporate Director of Children and Education Services 

As outlined in the last Statutory Officer update, I have been appointed as the new 
permanent Corporate Director for Children and Education Services (and statutory 
DCS).  
 
Prior to joining Nottingham, I had been the Chief Executive of Together for Children, 

(the operating company that delivers all children’s services for Sunderland City 

Council) since 2018. Throughout my six years with Sunderland, I led the service 

through a sustained improvement journey to make the leap from Ofsted ‘inadequate’ 

to ‘outstanding’ in a complex environment with limited resources.  

 

New Heads of Service 

Will Hose has been appointed as the new Head of Service for Children in Care/Care 

Leavers.  

Mark Joshi has been appointed as the new Head of Special Education Needs.  

 

Ofsted – Monitoring Visits  

During November, we received our sixth Ofsted Monitoring Visit. The focus of the 

two-day visit was on Children in Care Planning and Achieving Permanence.  

The feedback that we get through our monitoring visits is important to help us assess 
our progress in relation to our service improvement and transformation work. 
Understanding ourselves well, knowing what we have achieved, as well as knowing 
what we still need to do are both critical elements of preparing for these visits.   
 

New Secondary School Opening 

The brand-new Bluecoat Trent Academy secondary school opened in September, 
constructed on the former site of Clarendon College, on Mansfield Road (Pelham 
Avenue). 

This new 1,200 place secondary school in the heart of the city, will help to meet the 
growing need for secondary places in Nottingham. It first opened in September 2021, 
initially in a temporary home on the site of the Bluecoat Aspley Academy, while the 
new build was being constructed. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 13



Bluecoat Trent Academy is operated by the Archway Learning Trust, who have a 
strong track record of providing a high standard of education for pupils aged 3 to 19, 
and a broad and inclusive curriculum through their five other high performing 
Nottingham schools. We value the contribution they make to Nottingham’s 
educational offer, working in collaboration with the Council and on closing the gap for 
disadvantaged pupils. 

From the very outset, Nottingham City Council’s Education colleagues in Pupil Place 
Planning, worked in collaboration with the Archway Learning Trust, to support the bid 
to the Department for Education for a new secondary school. This successful 
partnership working has continued throughout. The bid was underpinned by the 
Council investing £3.25m of Basic Need Grant funding from Central Government 
towards the purchase of the site for the new school. 

Securing this fantastic new £30m state of the art school located in the heart of 
Nottingham, is tremendous investment for the city and the communities the school 
serves. The commitment to raising aspirations and improving life chances of our 
young people is fantastic. 

A new year 7 intake of 240 pupils have joined the school, along with all 660 Year 8, 9 
and 10 pupils who have moved over from the temporary Aspley site. 

The new school provides classrooms and specialist facilities for all subjects, 
including 9 science labs, a large sports hall, gym/dance studio, drama studio, DT 
workshops, lecture theatre, kitchen and dining facilities, landscaped grounds and 
outdoor recreation space including 2 multi-use games pitches. 

 

 

Jill Colbert 

November 2024 

Page 194



 
Statutory Officers Report for Health and Wellbeing Board 

Corporate Director of Adult Social Care and Health (DASS) 
November 2024 

 

Corporate Director of Adult Social Care and Health 

As outlined in the last Statutory Officer update, I have been appointed as the new 
permanent Corporate Director of Adult Social Care and Health (and statutory DASS).  

Prior to joining Nottingham, I had been the Service Director of Adult Social Care and 
Deputy DASS at the London Borough of Haringey, managing all social care 
operations, commissioning and integrated health.   

 

Adult Social Care Peer Review 

During October, our Adult Social Care team were involved in a Peer Review led by 
an external independent review team from the Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services (ADASS). 

The review provided invaluable feedback, recognising the dedication and passion of 
our staff in improving lives across the city. It highlighted the commitment of our 
teams. Staff members were described as passionate about their work, and Senior 
Practitioners were praised as "amazing" for their support to teams in what remains a 
challenging environment. 

The review findings were structured into three key areas: what’s working well, what’s 
not, and opportunities for improvement. While the commitment of our staff is a clear 
strength, challenges were identified around the clarity of the service vision and 
priorities, and the effective coordination of change. Pathways for service users were 
noted as overly complex, and there was inconsistent use of performance data 
limiting effective decision-making. 

The reviewers described Council staff as "change-ready," and looking forward to 

building on the good work already being done. Our priority next steps will include 

simplifying pathways, clarifying team roles, and improving the use of data to drive 

strategic decision-making and deliver better outcomes for the people of Nottingham. 

Thank you to everybody who supported the review process and will be taking 

forward the change and improvement. 

 

Council Collaboration with VCS Marks the Start of Future Service Planning 

During October, representatives from Nottingham City Council and the Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) met to discuss the future of commissioning in the city. The 
event brought together organisations focused on delivering services to children and 
adults, with the goal of shaping more effective support systems for vulnerable 
communities. 

Page 195



Adult Social Care and Children’s Integrated Services representatives were among 
the key voices engaging with VCS organisations. Their presence demonstrated the 
council’s commitment to cross-departmental collaboration in shaping future services. 
Attendees were also able to engage directly with council commissioners.  

This event was a significant milestone in our ongoing collaboration with the VCS. 
The diversity and commitment of the organisations in attendance showcased the 
strength of our community and its shared dedication to supporting Nottingham’s most 
vulnerable residents. The insights gathered will play a crucial role in how we plan 
and commission services going forward. 

 

  Vicky Murphy 

November 2024 

Page 196



Nottingham City Health and Wellbeing Board 
Work Plan 2024-25 

 
Recurring Agenda Items 

 
Lead Officer 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – 
New Chapters 
 

Dana Sumilo (NCC) 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy – 
Delivery Update (September, February) 
 

Rich Brady (PBP) 

Nottingham City Place-Based 
Partnership Update (May, November) 
 

Rich Brady (PBP) 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
(May, February) 

Hannah Stovin (NCC) 

Joint Health Protection Board Update 
 

Lucy Hubber (NCC) 

Board Member Updates 
 

All Board Members 

Work Plan 
 

Governance Services  (NCC) 

 

Meeting Date 
 

Agenda Item Lead Officer 

Wednesday 26 February 
2025 

1.30pm 
  

Updating the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 
 
Thriving Nottingham 
 
Refresh of the 
Nottingham and 
Nottinghamshire 
Integrated Care Strategy 
for March 2025 
 
Homelessness JSNA 
Chapter 
 

Lucy Hubber  
 
 
Lucy Hubber 
 
Jeanette Swann 
 
 
 
 
 
Helen Johnston, Rachael 
Harding, Jo Muir (NCC) 
 

 

Potential items to be 
scheduled 

Neurodiversity 
 

 

 

Annual Reports 
 

Month of Reporting 

Public Health – Annual Report 
 

May 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy – 
Annual Performance Review 

May 

Page 197

Agenda Item 14



 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – 
Annual Report 
 

September 

Safeguarding Adults Board – Annual 
Report 
 

November 

 
Items for the Board’s work plan should be forwarded to Governance Services, 
Nottingham City Council, constitutional.services@nottinghamcity.gov.uk. 
 
Authors MUST discuss their proposed reports (and any supporting 
presentation) with Lucy Hubber (Director for Public Health, Nottingham City 
Council, lucy.hubber@nottinghamcity.gov.uk) before submitting the report to a 
Board meeting. Reports and their recommendations must be produced in the 
form of a formal, written document, headed by a standard cover sheet (which 
is available from Governance Services). Presentations to help illustrate reports 
must be no more than 10 minutes in length. 

Page 198

mailto:constitutional.services@nottinghamcity.gov.uk
mailto:lucy.hubber@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Nottingham City Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2023/2024
	NCSAB Annual Report 2023-2024 - Final Version

	6 Occupational Therapy in Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service Prevention Team
	HWB Conference slides draft 27 11 24
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10


	7 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Strategy and Workplan 2024-2025
	Nottingham City JSNA Strategy - FINAL
	Nottingham City JSNA workplan 2024 v.5
	Slide 1: Nottingham City JSNA workplan 2024/2025
	Slide 2
	Slide 3


	8 Nottingham and Nottinghamshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Profile: Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)
	PPT on JSN report  -
	Slide 1: Slide 1: Enhance Data Collection and Sharing: Strengthen multi-agency data capture and sharing to provide a holistic view of the SEND landscape, ensuring that outcomes can be effectively monitored, gaps identified, and service effectiveness measu
	Slide 2: Slide 2: Improve Service Capacity: Improve the effective delivery of resources to address the rising demand for specialist SEND services in Nottingham, focusing on speech, language AND COMMUNICATION NEEDS SERVICES, autism pathways, and additional
	Slide 3: Slide 3: Improve Health Access: Improve accessibility to health services by reducing barriers, especially in routine health checks, and expanding respite care options to better support families with SEND children 
	Slide 4: Slide 4: Support Transition Planning: Enhance transition pathways to adulthood, prioritising employment readiness and independent living skills to ensure that SEND young people are prepared for a successful transition to adult life 


	9 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Profile  - Adult Mental Health
	AMH JSNA Profile 2024 15112024

	10 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 2025
	Nottingham City PNA Terms of Reference
	Nottingham CC PNA project plan v2

	12 Nottingham City Place-Based Partnership Update
	13 Board Member Updates
	HWBB DASS Statutory Officers Report November 2024

	14 Work Plan

